## UNIVERSITÉ DE SHERBROOKE

# AUTOTAXIN PROMOTES CANCER CELL INVASION VIA

### THE LYSOPHOSPHATIDIC ACID RECEPTOR 4

Par

#### Kelly Harper

Département de pédiatrie, Service d'immunologie

Mémoire présenté à la Faculté de médecine et des sciences de la santé en vue de l'obtention du grade de maître ès sciences (M.Sc.) en immunologie

15 mai 2010

EVALUATEURS: Pre. Claire Dubois (programme d'immunologie) Pr. Gilles Dupuis (programme d'immunologie) Pre. Nathalie Rivard (programme de biologie cellulaire)



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-70733-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-70733-3

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant. UNIVERSITÉ DE SHERBROOKE

## AUTOTAXIN PROMOTES CANCER CELL INVASION VIA THE LYSOPHOSPHATIDIC ACID RECEPTOR 4

Par

Kelly Harper

Département de pédiatrie, service d'immunologie

Mémoire présenté à la Faculté de médecine et des sciences de la santé en vue de l'obtention du grade de maître ès sciences (M.Sc.) en immunologie

15 mai 2010

#### **SUMMARY**

Tumor metastasis is a fundamental property of malignant cancer cells and the major cause of death in cancer patients. Recent studies indicate that tumor cell invasion and metastasis may be initiated by the formation of the actin-rich cell protrusions with ECM degradation activity, invadopodia. However, despite extensive research on the biology of invadopodia, very little is known about their specific inducers during tumor progression. Autotaxin (ATX) is a secreted lysophospholipase whose expression levels within tumors correlates strongly with their aggressiveness and invasiveness. ATX produces lyosophosphatidic acid (LPA), a phospholipid with known tumor promoting functions that acts through the G-protein coupled receptors, LPA<sub>1-6</sub>. Recently, overexpression of ATX and LPA receptors (LPA<sub>1-3</sub>) has been linked to increased tumor invasion and metastasis *in*  *vivo*, however, the role of other LPA receptors (LPA<sub>4-6</sub>) as well as the exact mechanisms by which ATX induces tumor metastasis remain poorly characterized.

In order to determine the involvement of ATX and LPA in invadopodia production, we used the fibrosarcoma HT-1080 cells stably transfected with ATX or shRNA targeting ATX in fluorescent matrix degradation assays. Our results demonstrate that ATX is implicated in the production of invadopodia resulting in an increase in both their formation and function. Using LPC or LPA, the substrate and product of ATX, we further show that invadopodia production is dependent on the production of LPA from LPC. Among the LPA receptors, LPA4 has the highest expression in HT1080 cells. Using LPA4 shRNA as well as agonists and inhibitors of the cAMP pathway, we provide evidence that LPA4 signaling through the cAMP-EPAC-Rap1 axis, regulates invadopodia formation downstream of ATX. Furthermore, inhibition of Rac1, a known effector of Rap1 and invadopodia formation, abolished EPAC-induced invadopodia production, suggesting downstream participation of Rac1. Finally, results using LPA4 shRNA support the requirement of this receptor for *in vitro* cell invasion and *in vivo* metastasis formation.

Our results suggest that ATX through LPA<sub>4</sub> is a strong inducer of invadopodia formation that correlates with the ability of the cells to invade and metastasize. This study also revealed an unexpected signaling pathway for cell invasion involving LPA<sub>4</sub>-driven cAMP production and subsequent activation of the EPAC-Rap1-Rac1 axis.

Key words: invadopodia, autotaxin, lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), cAMP, metastasis

## L'AUTOTAXIN INDUIT L'INVASION DES CELLULES CANCÉREUSES VIA LE RÉCEPTEUR DE TYPE 4 DE L'ACIDE LYSOPHOSPHATIDIQUE

#### RÉSUMÉ

La formation des métastases est une propriété fondamentale des cellules cancéreuses malignes ainsi que cause principale de décès chez les patients atteints de cancer. Des etudes recent indique que l'invasion tumorale et la formation des metastases peut etre initié par la formation des protrusions riches en actine et capables de dégrader la matrice extracellulaire, appeles des invadopodes. Cependant, malgré les recherches importantes sur la biologie des invadopodes, les informations concernant les initiateurs spécifiques de ces structures lors de la progression tumorale demeurent limitées. L'autotaxin (ATX) est une lysophospholipase sécrétée dont les niveaux d'expression corrèlent avec l'agressivité et le potentiel invasif des tumeurs. L'ATX produit l'acide lysophosphatidique (LPA), un phospholipide impliqué dans la progression tumorale qui agit par l'intermédiaire de récepteurs couplés aux protéines G, LPA<sub>1-6</sub>. Il a été récemment démontré que la surexpression de l'ATX et des récepteurs LPA<sub>1-3</sub> cause une augmentation de l'invasion tumorale et de la formation de métastases in vivo, cependant, le rôle d'autres récepteurs, soit les LPA<sub>4-6</sub>, ainsi que les mécanismes exacts par lesquels l'ATX induit la formation de métastases demeurent peu connus.

Afin d'étudier l'influence de l'ATX sur la production d'invadopodes, nous avons transfecté des cellules de fibrosarcome, les HT-1080, avec des gène codant soit pour l'ATX ou des ARNm interférant. Ces cellules ont été testées dans des essais de

production d'invadopodes utilisant de la matrice fluorescente et des techniques d'immunofluorescence afin de visualiser de façon simultanée la dégradation de la matrice et les composantes caractéristiques de ces structures. Nos résultats indiquent que l'ATX est impliquée dans la formation et les fonctions des invadopodes. Par l'ajout du LPC ou du LPA, le substrat et le produit de l'ATX, nous avons montré que la production d'invadopodes est dépendante de la production de LPA du LPC. Parmi les récepteurs du LPA, le LPA4 possède l'expression la plus élevée chez les cellules HT-1080. Par le biais de shARNs spécifiques au LPA4 ainsi que d'agonistes et d'inhibiteurs de la voie de l'AMPc, nos résultats indiquent que la voie de signalisation AMPc-EPAC-Rap1, induite par l'activation du LPA4, régule la formation d'invadopodes en aval de l'ATX. De plus, l'inhibition de Rac1, un effecteur connu de Rap1 et de la formation d'invadopodes, abolit la production d'invadopodes induite par l'activation d'EPAC, suggérant la participation de Rac1 en aval de EPAC. Enfin, les résultats d'expériences utilisant des shARNs du LPA4 confirment l'implication de ce récepteur dans l'invasion des cellules *in vitro* et la formation de métastases.

En conclusion, nos résultats suggèrent que l'ATX via le LPA<sub>4</sub> est un initiateur puissant de la formation d'invadopodes par les cellules tumorales, ce qui corrèle avec leur habileté à former des métastases. Cette étude a également révélée l'existence d'une voie inattendue de signalisation cellulaire dans l'invasion, impliquant la production d'AMPc dépendante de LPA<sub>4</sub> et l'activation subséquente de l'axe EPAC-Rap1-Rac1.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED	V
SUMMARY	
RÉSUMÉ	

1- INTRODUCTION
1.1 Autotaxin1
1.1.1 Identification and structural characteristics1
1.1.2 Enzymatic activity5
1.1.3 Expression and role in normal cells and tissues7
1.1.4 Expression and role in pathologies
1.1.5 Regulation of expression9
<b>1.2 Lysophosphatidic acid</b> 11
1.2.1 Identification11
1.2.2 Production and degradation of LPA12
1.2.3 LPA receptors
1.2.4 Signaling pathways
1.2.5 Implication in physiological and pathological processes
<b>1.3 LPA receptor 4</b>
1.3.1 Expression and role in physiological processes

1.3.2 Implications in cancer
1.3.3 Major signaling pathway26
1.3.3.1 Production of cAMP26
1.3.3.2 Spatial regulation of effectors27
1.3.3.3 cAMP effectors and roles in cellular functions
1.3.3.4 EPAC and Rap1
1.4 Invadopodia
1.4.1 Structure
1.4.2 Actin remodeling
1.4.3 ECM degradation
1.4.4 Signaling
1.4.5 Implication of invadopodia in metastatic process
<b>1.5 Objectives and Pertinence</b>
<b>2 - ARTICLE.</b>
<b>2.1 Preface</b>
<b>2.2 Résumé</b>
<b>2.3 Manuscript</b>
3 - DISCUSSION
4 - ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
<b>5 - REFERENCES</b>

## LIST OF FIGURES

### **MEMOIRE**

Figure 1: The major structural domains of ATX	4
Figure 2: Representation of the production of LPA from LPC by ATX	6
Figure 3: Production and degradation pathways for LPA	14
Figure 4: Signaling pathways of the LPA receptors	19
Figure 5: Production and degradation of cAMP	28
Figure 6: Overview of cAMP production and major effectors	
Figure 7: Activators and effectors of Rap1	34
Figure 8: Invadopodium	49

## ARTICLE

Figure 1: Autotaxin induces invadopodia formation in HT1080 cells	65
Figure 2: ATX-induced invadopodia production is dependent on LPA production	
from LPC	68
Figure 3: LPA <sub>4</sub> is implicated in invadopodia production by HT1080 cells	69
Figure 4: LPA <sub>4</sub> signals through G <sub>s</sub> -cAMP-EPAC for invadopodia production	71
Figure 5: Rac1 activation downstream of EPAC is required for invadopodia	
production	74
Figure 6: LPA <sub>4</sub> is implicated in cell invasion in vitro and in vivo	75

Supplementary Figure 1: Involvement of Gs and Gi in ATX-induced invadopodia	
production76	
Supplementary Figure 2: PKA inhibitors have no effect on ATX-induced invadopodia	
production76	
Supplementary Figure 3: Rap1 inhibition suppresses EPAC-induced invadopodia	
production76	

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

AC:	adenylyl cylase
ADAM:	a disintegrin and metalloproteinase
ADF:	actin depolymerizing factor
AGK:	acyl-glycerol kinase
AKAP:	a-kinase anchoring proteins
AMP:	adenosine monophosphate
Arap3:	Arf-GAP with Rho-GAP domain, ANK repeat and PH domain-
	containing protein 3
ARF:	ADP Ribosylation Factors
Arp2/3:	actin-related proteins
ATF1:	activating transcription factor 1
ATP:	adenosine Triphosphate
ATX:	autotaxin
BAD:	bcl-2-associated death promoter
bFGF:	basic fibroblast growth factor
Bmp-2:	bone morphogenic protein 2
CalDAG-GEF1:	calcium- and diacylglycerol-binding guanine nucleotide exchange
	factor 1
cAMP:	cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate
CBP:	CREB binding protein
CDC25-HD:	CDC25-homology domain

CNG:	cyclic-nucleotide gated ion channel
cPA:	cyclic phosphatidic acid
CREB:	cAMP response element-binding
CREM:	cAMP response element modulator
CRIB:	Cdc42/Rac1-interactive binding
CTX:	cholera toxin
DA:	dominant active
DAG:	diacylglycerol
DDW:	aspartic acid-aspartic acid-tryptophan motif
DEP:	dishevelled, Egl-10, pleckstrin
DOCK4:	dedicator of cytokinesis 4
DPP4:	dipeptidyl dipeptidase IV
EBV:	Epstein-Barr virus
ECM:	extracellular matrix
Edg:	endothelial differentiation gene
EGF:	epidermal growth factor
EPAC:	exchange protein activated by cAMP
E.R:	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK1/2:	extracellular signal-regulated kinases
F-actin :	filamentous actin
FAK:	focal adhesion kinase
FGF:	fibroblast growth factor

GAP:	GTPase activating protein
GDI:	guanosine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors
GDP:	guanosine diphosphate
GEF:	guanine exchange factor
GPCR:	G-protein coupled receptor
GPI:	glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-anchored protien
GPR:	G-protein receptor
GSK3alpha:	glycogen synthase kinase 3
GTP:	guanosine triphosphate
GTPase:	guanosine triphosphate hydrolysing enzyme
HKD:	HxKxxxxD/E
HUVECs:	human umbilical vascular endothelial cells
IFN-γ:	interferon gamma
IL-1β:	interleukin 1-beta
IL-4:	interleukin 4
IP3:	inositol triphosphate
INK	
	c-Jun N-terminal kinases
KDELR:	c-Jun N-terminal kinases endoplasmic reticulum protein retention receptor
KDELR: LDL:	c-Jun N-terminal kinases endoplasmic reticulum protein retention receptor low density lipoprotein
KDELR: LDL: LDV:	c-Jun N-terminal kinases endoplasmic reticulum protein retention receptor low density lipoprotein leucine-aspartic acid-valine
KDELR: LDL: LDV: LIMK:	c-Jun N-terminal kinases endoplasmic reticulum protein retention receptor low density lipoprotein leucine-aspartic acid-valine LIM motif-containing protein kinase

LPA4:	lysophosphatidic receptor 4
LPAAT:	lysophosphatidic acid acyl transferases
LPC:	lysophosphatidyl choline
LPS:	lipopolysaccharide
lysoPLD:	lysophospholipase D
MAG:	monoacylglycerol
MAPK:	mitogen activated protein kinase
MEF:	mouse embryonic fibroblasts
MMP-2 (7, 9):	matrix metalloproteinase 2 (7, 9)
MORPHO:	modulator of oligodendrocyte remodeling and focal adhesion
	organization
mRNA:	messenger ribonucleic acid
MT1-MMP:	membrane-type 1 MMP
NFAT:	nuclear factor of activated T-cells
NFkB:	nuclear factor kappa β
N-myc:	neuroblastoma derived V-myc myelocytomatosis viral related
	oncogene
NPP2:	nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 2
NTA:	N-terminal acidic domain
N-WASP:	neuronal Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
PA:	phosphatidic acid
PAI-1:	type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor

PAK:	p21-activated protein kinase
PDE:	phosphodiesterase
PH:	pleckstrin homology
PI3K:	phosphoinositide 3-kinases
PKA:	protein kinase A
PKC:	protein kinase C
PLA1 or 2:	phospholipase A1 or A2
PLC:	phospholipase C
PLD:	phospholipase D
PRD:	proline rich domain
PTX:	Pertussis toxin
RA:	ras-association
RA: Rap1 (2):	ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2)
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3:	ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL:	ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3 regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL: RAS:	ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3 regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes rat sarcoma
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL: RAS: REM:	<pre>ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3 regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes rat sarcoma ras-exchange motif</pre>
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL: RAS: REM: RGD:	<pre>ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3 regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes rat sarcoma ras-exchange motif arginine-glycine-aspartic acid</pre>
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL: RAS: REM: RGD: Riam:	<pre>ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3 regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes rat sarcoma rat sarcoma ras-exchange motif arginine-glycine-aspartic acid rap1-GTP-interacting adapter molecule</pre>
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL: RAS: REM: RGD: Riam: Rims:	ras-associationras-proximate-1 (2)rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytesrat sarcomaras-exchange motifarginine-glycine-aspartic acidrap1-GTP-interacting adapter moleculerab3-interacting molecules
RA: Rap1 (2): RAPGEF3: RAPL: RAS: REM: RGD: Riam: Rims: Rims:	ras-association ras-proximate-1 (2) rap guanine nucleotide exchange factor 3 regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes rat sarcoma rat sarcoma ras-exchange motif arginine-glycine-aspartic acid rap1-GTP-interacting adapter molecule rab3-interacting molecules

ROCK:	rho-associated coiled-coil-forming protein kinase
RT-PCR:	reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
S1P:	sphingosine-1-phosphate
sAC:	soluble AC
SEM:	standard error
SFK:	src family kinase
SH3:	src-homology 3 domain
shRNA:	short hairpin RNA
SRE:	serum response element
Tbx2:	T-box transcription factor 2
TGF-β:	transforming growth factor beta
Tiam1:	T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis-inducing protein 1
tmAC:	transmembrane AC
tyr:	tyrosine
uPA:	urokinase-type plasminogen activator
uPAR:	urokinase receptor
VASP:	vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein
VCA:	verprolin-cofilin-acidic
VEGF:	vascular endothelial growth factor
vzg-1:	ventricular zone gene 1
WASP:	Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
WAVE:	WASP family verprolin-homologous protein

#### **1- INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Autotaxin

#### 1.1.1 Identification and structural characteristics

Autotaxin (ATX), also known as Nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 2 (NPP2), was originally isolated from the culture medium of human melanoma cells (A2058) in 1991 (STRACKE *et al.*, 1992). It was identified as a novel 125-kDa autocrine motility stimulating factor with a basic pI of 7.7 +/- 0.2 (STRACKE *et al.*, 1992). Following its initial discovery, ATX was identified as one of the seven members of the nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase (NPP) enzyme family due to its homology with phosphodiesterases (MURATA *et al.*, 1994). All members of the NPP family have structurally related catalytic domains and nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase activity whereby they hydrolyze pyrophosphate or phosphodiester bonds in nucleotides and other extracellular molecules. However, the NPP family members have very different substrate specificity (JANSEN *et al.*, 2005) and are therefore implicated in diverse pathological processes (STEFAN *et al.*, 2005).

ATX was originally thought to be an integral membrane protein like NPP1 because of their overall structural similarity (MOOLENAAR, 2002;STRACKE *et al.*, 1997). However, researchers have demonstrated that the N-terminal 27-residue hydrophobic domain of ATX is in fact a signal peptide that is removed by a signal peptidase during translation (JANSEN *et al.*, 2005). ATX has also been shown to have a more prominent

cytoplasmic distribution than NPP1, consistent with its N-terminal hydrophobic domain being a signal peptide and not a signal anchor as in NPP1 (JANSEN et al., 2005;KOIKE et al., 2006). Following the removal of this pre-peptide, the ATX pro-protein follows the classical secretory pathway, where proteins are transported outside the cell from the E.R. via the Golgi apparatus. This was verified by the fact that ATX secretion was arrested by brefeldin A, an inhibitor of such transport (JANSEN et al., 2005). These observations were consistent with the finding that the majority of ATX is present in the culture medium of several cell types such as Glioblastoma Multiforme cells (JANSEN et al., 2005;KISHI et al., 2006). ATX is therefore synthesized as a pre-pro-protein and functions as a secreted protein (JANSEN et al., 2005;KOIKE et al., 2006). C-terminal to the peptidase cleavage site is a consensus sequence for furin, or related pro-protein convertases such as PACE4. It is not known whether cleavage by furin occurs before or after secretion, however, this cleavage is not required for ATX secretion (JANSEN et al., 2005;KOIKE et al., 2006). The removal of an N-terminal octapeptide by furin, however, is associated with enhanced motility stimulating activity of ATX in certain reports (JANSEN et al., 2005). ATX cleaved by furin was shown to have a 30% increase in activity over the nonfurin cleaved form in HEK293 cells (KOIKE et al., 2006). Three ATX isoforms have been found in the medium of cells and have been characterized by Giganti et al (2008) as ATX  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ . ATX  $\alpha$ , originally discovered in A2058 cells, lacks exon 21; ATX $\beta$ , a splice variant reported in human teratocarcinoma (LEE et al., 1996) lacks exons 12 and 21; and ATX $\gamma$  (PD-1 $\alpha$ ), isolated from brain lacks exon 12. The mRNA transcripts of these three isoforms were also shown to have different tissue distributions. ATXB mRNA has

high expression in peripheral tissues while  $ATX\gamma$  mRNA has highest expression in the brain. The ATX $\alpha$  mRNA isoform had the lowest expression levels in both the brain and peripheral tissues. The measured activity of ATX $\alpha$  protein was also very low probably due to its cleavage by an unknown factor that results in a protein of 55-66kDa with little or no enzymatic activity (GIGANTI *et al.*, 2008).

Besides its pre and pro protein domains, ATX contains a Modulator of Oligodendrocyte Remodeling and Focal adhesion Organization (MORPHO) domain implicated in oligodendroglial process network formation and focal adhesion organization (DENNIS et al., 2008). It also contains an EF-hand-like motif that contributes to the function of the MORFO domain, an inactive nuclease-like domain that is essential for the catalytic activity of ATX, and two cysteine-rich somatomedin B domains (YUELLING and FUSS, 2008). The somatomedin B domain, which is derived from the amino terminus of vitronectin, forms a presumed binding site for type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1), and urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) (SEIFFERT and LOSKUTOFF, 1991;SEIFFERT et al., 1994). This suggests a relationship of ATX with extracellular matrix proteins. In fact, ATX has recently been shown to contain an integrin binding domain (RGD) within its somatomedin B domains, that may be implicated in lymphocyte trafficking (KANDA et al., 2008). Finally, ATX has a catalytic domain, structurally similar to that of the NPP family, that functions as a lysophospholipase D (UMEZU-GOTO et al., 2002). This will be discussed in more detail in the following section. The structural domains of ATX are illustrated in Figure 1.



**Figure 1**: The major structural domains of ATX. ATX contains an N-terminal signal peptide that is removed during translation. Following this is a consensus sequence for furin cleavage that may result in enhance activity of the protein. ATX also has two somatomedin B domains, an inactive nuclease-like domain that contains an EF hand loop motif, and an ATP binding site. Finally there is a catalytic domain which functions as a lysophospholipase D and a MORPHO domain implicated in oligodendrocyte remodeling.

#### **1.1.2 Enzymatic activity**

ATX was originally thought to hydrolyze pyrophosphate or phosphodiester bonds in nucleotides due to its inclusion in the NPP family (BOLLEN et al., 2000). However, autotaxin, has recently been shown to be molecularly identical to extracellular plasma lysophospholipase D (lysoPLD), whose activity was first discovered in human plasma in 1983 (YAMASHITA et al., 1983). LysoPLD is responsible for catalyzing the production of Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) from Lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) by hydrolysis (UMEZU-GOTO et al., 2002), see figure 2. cPA (cyclic phosphatidic acid), an analog of LPA and intermediate in LPA formation, can also be produced from LPC by ATX (TSUDA et al., 2006). LPC is the main physiological substrate for ATX/lysoPLD. In fact, ATX has a 25-fold lower Km and thus higher affinity for LPC than for nucleoside substrates, which are the natural substrates for other members of the NPP family (XIE and Meier, 2004). ATX/LysoPLD also has a higher affinity for unsaturated acyl-LPCs as compared to saturated or ether-linked species (TOKUMURA et al., 1999). ATX. interestingly, does not contain the HKD motifs critical for the catalytic activity of the phospholipase D (PLD) superfamily (XIE and MEIER, 2004). The hydrolysis of lysophospholipids by ATX is instead a metal-assisted reaction that occurs via a nucleotidylated threonine at the same catalytic site used for the hydrolysis of nucleotides (GIJSBERS et al., 2003). ATX requires a metal ion, such as Co<sup>2+</sup>, for optimal lysoPLD activity. It can also be enhanced by  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$ , which may act by stabilizing the structure of ATX, by protecting it from thermal denaturation and proteolysis, or by regulating the catalytic activity of ATX (TOKUMURA et al., 1998). Plasma ATX is



Nature Reviews | Cancer

**Figure 2**: Representation of the production of LPA from LPC by ATX. The lysoPLD activity of ATX is responsible for hydrolyzing the bond between choline and the phosphate group of LPC. This results in release of choline and LPA. (Modified figure from: MILLS and MOOLENAAR, 2003).

constitutively active (YUELLING and FUSS, 2008), however, its catalytic activity depends on an essential disulfide bridge between the catalytic and nuclease-like domains (JANSEN *et al.*, 2009) as well as glycosylation of Asn-524 (JANSEN *et al.*, 2007). Human ATX activity can be inhibited by EDTA, phenanthroline and ATP as well as by its products LPA, cPA and S1P (BAKER *et al.*, 2006;VAN MEETEREN *et al.*, 2005). LPA, generated from LPC, is considered to be responsible for the majority of ATX biological effects and will be discussed in the LPA section.

#### 1.1.3 Expression and role in normal cells and tissues

ATX is ubiquitously expressed and is, therefore, synthesized by a variety of normal cells and tissues. Particularly high expression of ATX has been found in the brain (MILLS and MOOLENAAR, 2003), kidneys and lymph nodes (KANDA *et al.*, 2008). ATX is implicated in many processes during normal development such as adipogenesis (SIMON *et al.*, 2005), and central nervous system development that includes neurite morphology (DENNIS *et al.*, 2005). It is also implicated in intestinal cell motility through activation of PLC-gamma and phosphorylation/recruitment of villin (KHURANA *et al.*, 2008). ATX has been shown to regulate myelination by controlling cytoskeletal organization and FAK phosphorylation in oligodendrocytes (FOX *et al.*, 2004). More recently, ATX has been shown to be implicated in immune functions due to the findings that mast cells in submucosal connective tissue secrete ATX (MORI *et al.*, 2007) and that ATX was shown to promote the entry of lymphocytes into secondary lymphoid organs (KANDA *et al.*, *et al.*, 2007) and that ATX was shown 2008). Besides these advancements, the most well known role of ATX is in vascular development (KHURANA et al., 2008;SATO et al., 2005).

ATX has been shown to be essential for blood vessel formation during development. ATX deficiency using knockout technology in mice leads to embryonic lethality due to impaired vessel formation in the yolk sac and embryo (VAN MEETEREN *et al.*, 2006). The vascular defects in ATX deficient mice also resemble those in mice lacking genes involved in cell migration and adhesion such as the fibronectin and focal adhesion kinase genes. Results of this study indicated that the loss of LPA production and downstream GPCR signaling is responsible for the phenotype observed in ATX knockout mice (VAN MEETEREN *et al.*, 2006).

#### **1.1.4 Expression and role in pathologies**

ATX has been implicated in numerous pathologies including Alzheimer's disease, chronic hepatitis C, multiple sclerosis, neuropathic pain, obesity and rheumatoid arthritis, but its most investigated and presumably most important role is in tumorigenesis (FERRY *et al.*, 2003;HAMMACK *et al.*, 2004;INOUE *et al.*, 2008a;INOUE *et al.*, 2008b;UMEMURA *et al.*, 2006;WATANABE *et al.*, 2007;ZHAO *et al.*, 2008). ATX has been shown to be upregulated in malignancies including breast, lung, colon, ovarian, stomach, thyroid and brain cancer, correlating with the invasiveness of these cancer cells (KEHLEN *et al.*, 2004;KISHI *et al.*, 2006;YANG *et al.*, 2002;YANG *et al.*, 1999). ATX has been shown to augment cellular characteristics associated with tumor aggressiveness, including cell

proliferation, cell survival, cell motility, invasion and angiogenesis. ATX acts extracellularly and stimulates the metastatic cascade at multiple levels by acting as a tumor cell motility factor as well as a strong inductor of the angiogenic response (NAM et al., 2000:NAM et al., 2001). Specifically, ATX-transfected Ras-transformed NIH3T3 cells were shown to be more invasive, tumorigenic, angiogenic and metastatic than mocktransfected controls (NAM et al., 2000;NAM et al., 2001). ATX, especially in the presence of LPC, has been shown to increase chemotaxis and proliferation in multiple cell lines. It has also been demonstrated that several cancer cell lines release significant amounts of LPC into the culture medium (UMEZU-GOTO et al., 2002). ATX promotes proliferation of A2058, MDA-MB231, CHO-K1 and Edg2-RH7777 cancer cells, but not RH7777 cells that lack LPA receptors. Research, therefore, suggests that autocrine or paracrine production of LPA via ATX contributes to tumor cell motility, survival and proliferation (BRINDLEY, 2004;UMEZU-GOTO et al., 2002). Recently over-expression of ATX (or LPA<sub>1-3</sub>) has been shown to increase tumor invasion and metastasis of breast cancer cells (LIU et al., 2009) while pharmacological inhibition of ATX and LPA receptors was shown to decrease cell migration in vitro and cause tumor regression in mice (ZHANG et al., 2009) further supporting the role of ATX in cancer progression.

#### 1.1.5 Regulation of expression

Although ATX has important roles in tumor progression, mostly due to its aberrant expression in various malignant cells (described above), little is known about the factors

that regulate its expression in cells. This section will detail the few stimulators and inhibitors currently known.

ATX expression can be induced by retinoic acid in a neuroblastoma cell line with N-myc amplification that is responsive to the differentiation inducing effects of retinoic acid (DUFNER-BEATTIE et al., 2001). ATX is also one of many genes up-regulated during Bmp-2 mediated mesenchymal development (BACHNER et al., 1998) indicating that cell differentiation might trigger ATX expression in certain cell lines. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induces ATX expression in the monocytic THP-1 cells via JNK and p38MAPK, resulting in enhanced immune cell migration (LI and ZHANG, 2009). Fibroblast-like synoviocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis have increased expression of ATX that can be down regulated by anti-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  (SANTOS *et al.*, 1996). In thyroid carcinoma cell lines, the growth factors EGF and bFGF have been shown to stimulate ATX activity while the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-1 $\beta$  and TGF- $\beta$  reduced its expression (KEHLEN *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, pro-inflammatory stimuli seem to increase ATX expression while antiinflammatory cytokines have the opposite effect. Expression of  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  integrin, which correlates with an invasive and migratory phenotype in advanced breast carcinomas, leads to increased expression of ATX mediated by up-regulation and activation of NFAT1 that binds to the ATX promotor (CHEN and O'CONNOR, 2005). ATX expression is increased by more than 100-fold in cells transformed by the viral oncoprotein v-Jun (BLACK et al., 2004) and Epstein-Barr virus, an oncogenic herpesvirus. Infection of Hodgkin lymphoma

cells with EBV also results in induction of ATX (BAUMFORTH *et al.*, 2005). In contrast, a candidate tumor suppressor gene for breast cancer, CST6, when expressed in breast cancer cells down-regulated the expression of ATX (SONG *et al.*, 2006). Therefore it seems that molecular cues associated with cancer progression can induce ATX expression while tumor suppressors seem to reduce its expression. Each of the above mentioned stimuli have been investigated in very few cell types. Therefore, the precise signaling pathways and transcription factors responsible for ATX regulation remain mostly unknown so many more studies are needed to define exactly how ATX expression is regulated.

#### 1.2 Lysophosphatidic acid

#### **1.2.1 Identification**

Lysophospholipids have been known for decades as components in the biosynthesis of cells membranes with short half lives that range from seconds to minutes (CHOI *et al.*, 2010;SHIMIZU, 2009). They were originally thought to act as intracellular messengers (GERRARD and ROBINSON, 1984) or to mediate effects due to intrinsic chemical properties, such as calcium binding activity (SIMON *et al.*, 1984). However, they were later found to have cell signaling roles (VOGT, 1963) and it is now known that most bioactive lipids act on cell surface GPCRs to mediate intracellular signaling (SHIMIZU, 2009). Many lysophospholipids, including LPA, have similar effects on cellular functions as polypeptide growth factors (HILL and TREISMAN, 1995). LPA (1 or 2-acyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphate), a glycerolysophospholipid, was the first LP to be recognized as a major lipid mediator in serum exerting growth factor like activities at submicromolar

concentrations (TOKUMURA *et al.*, 1978), including mitogenic and morphological effects on many cell types (ISHII *et al.*, 2009).

LPA has a glycerol backbone, single carbon chain, and a polar headgroup (see figure 2) (MEYER ZU HERINGDORF and JAKOBS, 2007). There are multiple molecular species of LPA, consisting of acyl- or ether-linked chains with various numbers of carbons and degrees of unsaturations. The acyl chain can be esterified at either the sn-1 or sn-2 position of the glycerol backbone(1-acyl-LPA or 2-acyl-LPA) while ether-linked LPAs carry an alkyl or alkenyl linkage at the sn-1 position (1-alkyl-LPA or 1-alkenyl-LPA). The biological activities of LPA depend on the carbon chain length and degree of unsaturation as well as the position and linkage type of the carbon chain attached to the glycerol backbone (MEYER ZU HERINGDORF and JAKOBS, 2007).

#### **1.2.2 Production and degradation of LPA**

LPA is detected in serum, plasma and many other biological fluids and tissues such as saliva (SUGIURA *et al.*, 2002), follicular fluid (TOKUMURA *et al.*, 1999), seminal fluid (HAMA *et al.*, 2002), and malignant effusions (WESTERMANN *et al.*, 1998). Major cellular sources of LPA include platelets and adipocytes (EICHHOLTZ *et al.*, 1993;VALET *et al.*, 1998), while postmitotic neurons, lymphoid cells, endometrial cells, erythrocytes and cancer cells are also able to produce LPA (AOKI *et al.*, 2008;SMYTH *et al.*, 2008;YE, 2008). Therefore, LPA may act as a circulating as well as a locally produced paracrine mediator (TAKUWA *et al.*, 2002). LPA is found at a concentration of approximately 154pmol in cells,  $0.1-6.3 \mu$ M in blood and 80-100nM in plasma

(HOSOGAYA *et al.*, 2008;KISHIMOTO *et al.*, 2003). As mentioned previously, the lysophospholipase D activity of autotaxin is responsible for the majority of LPA produced in vivo from the substrate LPC (UMEZU-GOTO *et al.*, 2002). However, other enzymes and pathways remain responsible for some LPA production. These other routes of LPA synthesis include de novo LPA biosynthesis in cells through intermediate lipid metabolism, resulting in intracellular LPA, or liberation and subsequent enzymatic conversions of precursor glycerophospholipids, resulting in extracellular LPA (GOETZL and An, 1998). Extracellular LPA can be produced by the action of many different enzymes including phospholipase A1 or A2 (PLA1 or 2), monoacylglycerol kinase or glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (PEBAY *et al.*, 2007). PLA1/2 for example produce LPA by deacylating phosphatidic acid (PA) that is first generated intracellularly from phospholipids or diacylglycerol (AOKI *et al.*, 2008). Figure 3 summarizes the pathways of LPA production and degradation.

LPA has short half-life attributed to its rapid degradation by lipid phosphate phosphatases, integral membrane proteins that dephosphorylate LPA to monoacylglycerol (MAG) (BRINDLEY *et al.*, 2002), or by acylation of LPA to PA by the action of acyl transferases (LPAAT) (YAMASHITA *et al.*, 2001). To counteract these effects, extracellular LPA is normally bound to proteins such as albumin, fatty acid binding protein, or gelsolin which act to increase the stability and facilitate transport of LPA (AOKI, 2004;GAITS *et al.*, 1997;MILLS and MOOLENAAR, 2003;PAGES *et al.*, 2001).



**Figure 3**: Production and degradation pathways for LPA. The major producer of LPA in vivo is ATX which converts LPC to LPA. Other enzymes that can also produce LPA include acylglycerol kinase (AGK) which produces LPA from MAG and PLA1/2 which can produce LPA from PA. The two major degradation pathways for LPA are acylation by LPAAT resulting in PA and phosphorylation by LPPs resulting in MAG. (Modified figure from: MEYER ZU HERINGDORF and JAKOBS, 2007).

#### 1.2.3 LPA receptors

The first evidence of the possible existence of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) specific for LPA was the observation, by van Corven et al. in 1989, that the proliferative effects of LPA on fibroblasts were pertussis toxin sensitive and therefore mediated by Gproteins (VAN CORVEN et al., 1989). GPCRs are 7 transmembrane receptors that couple to various trimers of G-proteins to mediate intracellular signaling. Further studies also supported the existence of LPA-specific receptors (THOMSON et al., 1994;VAN DER BEND et al., 1992). Thomson et al. (1994) found LPA-specific high affinity binding sites on cell membranes and suggested that GPCRs could be responsible for mediating the LPA binding to membranes and induce a transient increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels. Van der Bend et al. (1992) found that a <sup>32</sup>P-labeled LPA analog binds to a membrane protein of 38-40 kDa in various cells types that was proposed to be a specific cell-surface LPA receptor (VAN DER BEND et al., 1992). However, it was not until 1996 (HECHT et al., 1996) that the first LPA receptor gene was identified in mice during the course of studies designed to identify novel GPCR genes associated with the production of neurons in mice (CHUN et al., 1999;CHUN, 1999;MASANA et al., 1995).

LPA<sub>1</sub>, originally named ventricular zone gene 1(vzg-1) due to its increased localization in this area of the brain, was also known as endothelial differentiation gene 2 (Edg-2) due to its sequence similarity to an orphan receptor called Edg-1 (endothelial differentiation gene 1) cloned from endothelial cells (HLA and Maciag, 1990). Edg-2/LPA<sub>1</sub> was subsequently cloned and identified as an LPA receptor in humans in 1997 (AN *et al.*, 1997). LPA<sub>1</sub> is a 41 kDA (364 a.a) protein with seven transmembrane domains, in concordance with the structure for GPCRs (CHUN *et al.*, 1999;CONTOS and CHUN, 1998). In human tissues LPA<sub>1</sub> is widely expressed in almost all tissues with high expression in brain, heart, placenta and digestive tract and lowest expression in liver and peripheral blood leucocytes (AN *et al.*, 1998a). Interestingly, LPA<sub>1</sub> is also expressed in several cancers (FURUI *et al.*, 1999) such as HeLa carcinoma, SW480 colorectal adenocarcinoma, A549 lung carcinoma, and G361 melanoma, but undetectable in many leukemia lines and Burkitt's lymphoma (AN *et al.*, 1998a).

A second LPA receptor, LPA<sub>2</sub>, originally known as Edg-4, was subsequently identified due to sequence similarity with Edg-2/LPA<sub>1</sub> (CHUN, 1999;CONTOS and CHUN, 1998). In humans, LPA<sub>2</sub> is detected in testis, pancreas, prostate, thymus, spleen, and peripheral blood leukocytes and is almost undetectable in brain, heart, placenta, and digestive tract contrary to LPA<sub>1</sub> (AN et al., 1998a). Therefore, LPA<sub>2</sub> is less widely distributed than LPA<sub>1</sub>. LPA<sub>2</sub> has also been found to be expressed in various cancer cell types (AN *et al.*, 1998a). A third related gene, Edg-7 now known as LPA<sub>3</sub> has 60% amino acid similarity to mouse LPA<sub>1</sub> and 2. LPA<sub>3</sub> has a more restricted expression pattern than LPA<sub>1</sub> and 2, having abundant expression only in human testis, prostate, heart and frontal regions of the cerebral cortex (IM et al., 2000) as well as pancreas, lung and ovary (BANDOH et al., 1999;IM et al., 2000). The Edg family has some common structural features such as lack of a cysteine residue in the first extracellular loop found in most GPCRs and they share 50-57% amino acid identity in humans (AN et al., 1998a;ISHII et al., 2009). However, signaling induced by these receptors was unable to account for all the cellular effects of The existence of additional receptors was later implied by several reports LPA.

(CONTOS *et al.*, 2002;HOOKS *et al.*, 2001) due to the fact that cell lines not expressing the Edg receptors were shown to have mitogenic responses to LPA.

Recently, a distinct group of LPA receptors unrelated to the Edg family receptors have been identified. In 2003 a fourth LPA receptor (LPA<sub>4</sub>/p2y9/GPR23) was identified that was structurally distant from the Edg receptors (NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003) (LPA<sub>4</sub> will be discussed in detail in the LPA<sub>4</sub> section). This stimulated the identification of two additional LPA receptors, LPA<sub>5</sub> and LPA<sub>6</sub>. These three receptors are more closely related to the purinergic receptors (purino-receptor cluster), indicating that they arose from different ancestor genes than the Edg family receptors (ISHII *et al.*, 2009).

LPA<sub>5</sub> (GPR92-93) (KOTARSKY *et al.*, 2006;LEE *et al.*, 2006) was an orphan GPCR that was identified as an LPA receptor due to its close relation to LPA<sub>4</sub> (LEE *et al.*, 2006). Low levels of LPA<sub>5</sub> mRNA are expressed in embryonic brain, heart, placenta (KOTARSKY *et al.*, 2006) and platelets (AMISTEN *et al.*, 2008), while high levels were found in small intestine (specifically in the lymphocyte compartment) and moderate levels in skin, spleen, stomach, thymus, lung, liver, dorsal root ganglion cells (OH *et al.*, 2008) and embryonic stem cells (LEE *et al.*, 2006).

LPA<sub>6</sub> (p2y5), was originally reported in 1996 as an orphan GPCR encoded in an intron of the retinoblastoma gene (HERZOG *et al.*, 1996). LPA<sub>6</sub> has ubiquitous expression including in hair follicle cells, epidermis (PASTERNACK *et al.*, 2008), intestine (LEE *et* 

*al.*, 2009) and a leukemia cell line (YOON *et al.*, 2006) with high expression in human umbilical vascular endothelial cells (HUVECs) (YANAGIDA *et al.*, 2009).

#### 1.2.4 Signaling pathways

The major cellular effects mediated by LPA are either growth related or cytoskeletaldependent effects (GOETZL and An, 1998). Upon receptor activation, G-alpha subunits are separated from G-beta-gamma subunits, which remain together, now in their active state bound to GTP (WATTS and NEVE, 2005). The Edg family LPA GPCRs mediates effects by coupling to  $G_i$ ,  $G_q$  or  $G_{12/13}$  depending on cell type, receptor expression levels, or amounts of available G-proteins (AN *et al.*, 1998b;BANDOH *et al.*, 1999;IM *et al.*, 2000). LPA<sub>1</sub> and LPA<sub>2</sub> can signal through all three of these G-proteins while LPA<sub>3</sub> only couples to  $G_q$  and  $G_i$  (FUKUSHIMA *et al.*, 1998;ISHII *et al.*, 2000)(see figure 4 for an overview of the signaling pathways). Signaling by LPA<sub>4</sub> will be discussed in further detail later and signaling of the newest LPA receptors, LPA<sub>5</sub> and LPA<sub>6</sub>, is less well characterized and will not be discussed here.

 $G_i$ , which is pertussis toxin sensitive, mediates inhibition of cAMP production as well as stimulation of protein kinases that recruit the ras-raf cascade and activate MAP kinases, resulting in proliferation and differentiation.  $G_i$  induces FAK (focal adhesion kinase) activation leading to focal adhesion formation. PI3K is also activated downstream of  $G_i$  leading to Akt activation and cell survival or Rac activation and cell migration. Finally, tyrosine kinase-dependent induction of tyrosine phosphatases can also be promoted by  $G_i$  signaling (CHUPRUN *et al.*, 1997;GAITS *et al.*, 1996).



**Figure 4:** Signaling pathways of the LPA receptors. The major LPA signaling pathways are illustrated here and include signaling through four different G-protein families,  $G_{12/13}$ ,  $G_i$ ,  $G_q$ , an  $G_s$ . Signaling through these G-proteins can activate diverse proteins including RhoA, PI3K, Ras, PLC and AC. The major downstream effects of LPA signaling include cytoskeletal remodeling, cell migration, stress fiber formation, focal adhesion formation and integrin activation.

 $G_q$  mediates phospholipase C (PLC) activation, liberating inositol triphosphate (IP3) that causes mobilization of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> that can result in actin depolymerization. PLC activation downstream of  $G_q$  can also stimulate MAP kinases directly or through induction of diacylglycerol (DAG), which activates some PKC isozymes, which in turn can activate MAP kinases by activating Raf-1, (GHOSH *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, PKC- $\delta$  can activate src kinase activity indirectly through protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (BRANDT *et al.*, 2003). Finally, G<sub>12/13</sub> stimulates RhoGTPase pathways that contribute to SRE-mediated transcription as well as mediating cytoskeletal dependent functions such as stress fiber formation and actin polymerization. G<sub>12/13</sub> also promotes activation of PLD, PI3K, RhoA and Cdc42 (FROMM *et al.*, 1997). G<sub>βγ</sub> dimers may also participate in signaling by recruitment of PLC (BARR *et al.*, 2000;SANKARAN *et al.*, 1998) and association with PI3K (KUROSU *et al.*, 1997;MAIER *et al.*, 1999;STOYANOV *et al.*, 1995).

#### 1.2.5 Implication in physiological and pathological processes

LPA signaling is implicated in diverse biological processes that include tissue remodeling, wound healing (WATTERSON *et al.*, 2007), angiogenesis, platelet aggregation, cardiovascular function, (SMYTH *et al.*, 2008) neurogenesis, myelination, olfaction, neuropathic pain, reproduction, adipogenesis, (YE, 2008), and immunomodulation (MOOLENAAR *et al.*, 2004;NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2009). For instance, LPA has been identified as a main platelet-activating lipid of mildly oxidized LDL and human atherosclerotic lesions (SIESS *et al.*, 1999). In platelets, LPA induces human platelet shape change and platelet aggregation. LPA signaling is also implicated in neuropathic
pain responses and induces neuropathic pain and demyelination of the dorsal root similar to what is observed after nerve injury (FUJITA *et al.*, 2007).

LPA is highly implicated in embryonic development of the nervous system. It is an important mediator of physiological and pathological processes in the central nervous system and influences all neuronal cell types. Both apoptotic and survival effects of LPA have been reported and these opposing effects may be due to concentration differences or differential expression of LPA receptors as well as cell maturation and cell density (TAKUWA et al., 2002). For example, LPA has been demonstrated to mediate proliferative effects and morphological changes in Ventricular Zone neuroblasts (CONTOS et al., 2000a;FUKUSHIMA et al., 2000), and to influence neuronal differentiation (DOTTORI et al., 2008; SPOHR et al., 2008), including neurite formation by differentiating neurons (FUKUSHIMA et al., 2000). LPA was also shown to protect Schwann cells from apoptosis (WEINER and CHUN, 1999) and to promote cell survival of early postmitotic cortical neurons (KINGSBURY et al., 2003). However, LPA also induces growth cone collapse and neurite retraction as well as apoptosis in hippocampal neurons (FUKUSHIMA, 2004). Apoptotic effects of LPA are observed in neurons cultured for over one week while survival effects are seen in neurons cultured for 1-2 days (FUJIWARA et al., 2003).

Another important role of LPA is in reproduction. LPA is found in normal follicular fluid suggesting its involvement in normal physiology of ovaries (TOKUMURA *et al.*, 1999). LPA may also be involved in male and female reproductive physiology and pathology

(TOKUMURA *et al.*, 1999). LPA receptor mediated signaling has been implicated in many processes involved in reproduction such as ovarian functions (CHEN *et al.*, 2008;TOKUMURA *et al.*, 1999), with LPA<sub>4</sub> being highly expressed in human and mouse ovary (NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003), spermatogenesis, with degradation of LPA being associated with reduced spermatogenesis and LPA<sub>1-4</sub> expression in human testis (CHOI *et al.*, 2010;NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003;YE, 2008), fertilization (GARBI *et al.*, 2000), early embryo spacing (HAMA *et al.*, 2007;YE *et al.*, 2005), decidualization (SHIOKAWA *et al.*, 2000) and pregnancy maintenance (ZIECIK *et al.*, 2008). LPA signaling has also been implicated in pathologies of the reproductive system including ovarian, prostate and endometrial cancers (LPA<sub>2</sub> and MMP-7 implicated) (GUO *et al.*, 2006;HOPE *et al.*, 2009;SUTPHEN *et al.*, 2004) and endometriosis (WEI *et al.*, 2009;WOCLAWEK-POTOCKA *et al.*, 2009).

These physiological effects of LPA are mediated by signaling through various LPA receptors whose effects can be elucidated by use of receptor knockout mice. Knockout studies have shown that LPA<sub>1</sub> is implicated in the initiation of neuropathic pain and is important for proliferation of astrocytes. LPA<sub>1</sub>-null mice display 50% lethality, and survivors have abnormal phenotypes such as reduced body size, craniofacial dysmorphism and reduced brain mass as well as a suckling defect (CONTOS *et al.*, 2000a). LPA<sub>1</sub>, therefore, seems to play an important role in the central nervous system. LPA<sub>2</sub>-null mice show no obvious phenotypic abnormalities and, therefore, might have redundant functions with LPA<sub>1</sub> as they both couple to the same G-proteins (CHOI *et al.*, 2008). Female LPA<sub>3</sub>-null mice display delayed embryo implantation, altered embryo

spacing, and reduced litter size (YE *et al.*, 2005), suggesting that this receptor is implicated in reproductive functioning.

Finally, the most important role of LPA for this study is in tumor progression. LPA is known to be a potent tumor promoting molecule and influences many cellular processes implicated in tumorigenesis. LPA has an effect on the cellular motility of cancer cells by mediating cytoskeletal rearrangements via the Rho GTPases Rho and Rac (IMAMURA et al., 1993; STAM et al., 1998). This leads to stimulation or inhibition of cell migration or invasion depending on the cell type. LPA can induce proliferation and mitogenic signaling of prostate cancer cells (BUDNIK and MUKHOPADHYAY, 2002). LPA also stimulates migration and proliferation of human carcinoma cells (DLD1) as well as their adhesion to collagen type I and secretion of endothelial growth factor and IL-8, all of which can lead to an increased metastasizing potential of DLD1 carcinoma cells (SHIDA et al., 2003). LPA is also present in the ascites from ovarian cancer patients (WESTERMANN et al., 1998;XU et al., 1998), and a significant increase in blood LPA has been found in patients with ovarian carcinoma at the first stage of this disease, suggesting an important contribution of LPA to this pathology (FANG et al., 2000). Malignant progression has also been shown to correlate with differential expression of various LPA receptor subtypes (CONTOS et al., 2000b). LPA1 over-expression in breast carcinoma cells leads to metastatic spread to bone (BOUCHARABA et al., 2004), while LPA<sub>1</sub> signaling has been shown to mediate stimulation of motility of human pancreatic cancer cells (YAMADA et al., 2004) and induction of metastasis by human colon carcinoma cells (SHIDA et al., 2003). LPA2 is over-expressed in invasive ductal

23

carcinoma (KITAYAMA *et al.*, 2004) as well as ovarian cancer (ERICKSON *et al.*, 2001) and promotes mitogenic signaling in human colon cancer cells (YUN *et al.*, 2005). Finally, LPA<sub>3</sub> expression increases the aggressiveness of ovarian carcinoma (YU *et al.*, 2008). Also, as mentioned in the previous ATX section, over-expression of LPA<sub>1-3</sub> receptors or their pharmacological inhibition results in promotion or inhibition of cancer cell invasion, tumor progression, and metastasis (LIU *et al.*, 2009;ZHANG *et al.*, 2009).

# 1.3 LPA receptor 4

# 1.3.1 Expression and role in physiological processes

LPA4/p2y9/GPR23 is widely expressed in embryonic tissues including brain and stem cells (LEE *et al.*, 2007). In adults, it is abundant in ovary and is weakly expressed in many tissues including pancreas, prostate, spleen, small intestine, colon, skeletal muscle, brain, placenta, lung, liver, skin, heart, thymus and bone marrow (NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003). Increased mRNA expression has also been documented at implantation sites in the uterus (ISHII *et al.*, 2009). The roles of LPA4 in physiology and disease have only started to be uncovered. To date, LPA4 has been shown to induce Rho-mediated neurite retraction and stress fiber formation as well as cell aggregation and rounding (LEE *et al.*, 2007;YANAGIDA *et al.*, 2007), AC stimulation leading to increased cAMP levels (LEE *et al.*, 2007;NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003;YANAGIDA *et al.*, 2007). LPA4 may play a role in neuronal development including neurogenesis and neuronal migration as it increases cAMP and the transcription factor CREB, which is essential to neuronal differentiation (RHEE *et al.*, 2006;YANAGIDA *et al.*, 2007). In a recent study, LPA4, coupled to cAMP,

has been found to inhibit osteogenic differentiation reducing bone volume and trabecular thickness (LIU *et al.*,) signifying a role in bone homeostasis.

## **1.3.2 Implications in cancer**

There is little information to date on the implications of LPA4 in cancer. One study has found that LPA4 expression inhibits motility and invasion of B103 neuroblastoma cells, which do not endogenously express LPA4. In this study, knockdown of LPA4 in MEFs increased cell migration, and LPA4 expression decreased PI3K reducing Akt and Rac activation levels while increasing Rho activation. It is important to note that in the cell type studied, LPA4 couples only to  $G_q$  and  $G_{12/13}$  (LEE et al., 2008). However, another recent study has found that expression of the LPA4 receptor can induce transformation and anchorage independent growth in Myc/tbx2 -transformed cells. Myc and tbx2 are cooperating partners in cell transformation. The authors found that expression of LPA4 (or LPA<sub>1</sub> or LPA<sub>2</sub>) in Myc/tbx2-MEFs induced a transformed phenotype observed by the increased ability of the cells to grow in soft agar (anchorage-independent growth) as well as inducing tumor formation in vivo when these cells were subcutaneously injected in mice. These effects were found to necessitate G<sub>i</sub> signaling and activation of PI3K and ERK1/2 pathways, particularly with prolonged activation of ERK (TAGHAVI et al., 2008). Therefore the role of LPA<sub>4</sub> in tumorigenesis is currently unclear and probably depends on cell type and G-protein coupling.

## 1.3.3 Major signaling pathway

LPA4 has been shown to be capable of signaling through  $G_i$ , activating PI3K and ERK1/2 (TAGHAVI *et al.*, 2008),  $G_{12/13}$  resulting in Rho activation (LEE *et al.*, 2007) and  $G_q$ inducing increases in calcium (TAGHAVI *et al.*, 2008). However, the major signaling pathway of LPA4, different from those previously discussed for the other receptors, is signaling through  $G_s$  resulting in the production of cAMP (NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003).

## 1.3.3.1 Production of cAMP

cAMP (cyclic adenosine 3'.5'-monophosphate) was first identified as a second messenger nucleotide found to have a fundamental role in the cellular response to extracellular stimuli and, therefore, control a diverse range of cellular processes (ROBISON et al., 1968). GPCRs appear to be the main receptors responsible for causing an accumulation of intracellular cAMP in response to ligand binding. The heterotrimeric G proteins coupled to GPCRs regulate ACs (adenylyl cyclases) in response to various cellular stimuli. The  $G_s$  G-protein activates adenylyl cylclases (as does  $G_q$  in some instances) while the G<sub>i</sub> family of G-proteins inactivates ACs (WATTS and NEVE, 2005). These Gproteins, upon receptor activation, separate from  $G\beta\gamma$  and are converted to their GTPbound state in which they can exert their distinctive regulatory functions on ACs (WATTS and NEVE, 2005). AC are 12 transmembrane domain proteins which are generally bound to the inside of cell membranes. Class III ACs are responsible for cAMP production (WATTS and NEVE, 2005). In humans there are 9 transmembrane AC enzymes (tmAC) and one soluble AC (sAC). However, the soluble form occurs primarily in mature spermatozoa and will not be further discussed here (JAISWAL and CONTI, 2003;WATTS

and NEVE, 2005).  $G_s\alpha$  activates ACs by inducing a conformational change in the catalytic site upon interaction (SKIBA and HAMM, 1998). Activated AC converts ATP (adenosine triphosphate) to cAMP by creation of a cyclic phosphodiester bond with the alpha-phosphate group of ATP resulting in increased intracellular cAMP concentrations. cAMP can then be converted to AMP by cAMP-specific phosphodiesterases (PDE), see figure 5. Growth factors and PI3K can also down-regulate cAMP signaling by activating Akt and subsequently PDEs, facilitating the conversion of cAMP to AMP (ROBISON *et al.*, 1968; DEGERMAN *et al.*, 1997).

# 1.3.3.2 Spatial regulation of effectors

GPCRs are confined to specific domains of the cell membrane in association with intracellular organelles or the cytoskeleton. The ACs that they activate are found anchored nearby (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007) resulting in targeted cAMP production depending on the extracellular ligand and receptor activated. cAMP is further regulated through its degradation by cAMP-specific phosphodiesterases (PDEs), the only known mechanism of cAMP inactivation (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007). The cellular localization of PDEs is controlled by anchoring to specific subcellular compartments and recruitment into multi-protein signaling complexes, therefore, targeting them to specific subcellular locations. This allows increased cAMP concentrations in certain areas of the cell and not in others, where it will be degraded instead (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007). The level of intracellular cAMP is, therefore, spatially and temporally regulated by the balance between the activities of ACs and cyclic nucleotide PDEs (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007).



**Figure 5**: Production and degradation of cAMP. Activated AC converts ATP (adenosine triphosphate) to cAMP by creation of a cyclic phosphodiester bond with the alpha-phosphate group of ATP. cAMP can then be degraded to AMP by the action of cAMP-specific PDEs. From: DUMAN and NESTLER, 1999)

cAMP effectors are also spatially regulated. PKA (Protein kinase A/cAMP-dependent protein kinase), a major effector of cAMP (to be elaborated in the cAMP effector section) is tethered to specific intracellular locations by AKAPs (A-kinase anchoring proteins), which anchor the regulatory subunits (see figure 6A). AKAPs are scaffolding proteins that form multi-protein complexes to integrate cAMP signaling (SCOTT and MCCARTNEY, 1994). There are over 50 members of the AKAP family (WONG and SCOTT, 2004) which all have similar functions while being structurally diverse (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007). These proteins all contain a PKA binding domain and a unique targeting domain, with several containing additional interaction sites for formation of multivalent signaling complexes (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007). Some AKAPs are known to interact with both PDEs and PKA for example. Targeting of PKA isozymes is important for many physiological processes such as cAMP regulation of ion channels in the nervous system, regulation of the cell cycle involving microtubule dynamics, steroidogenesis, reproductive function, immune response and numerous intracellular transport mechanisms (TASKEN and AANDAHL, 2004).

EPAC (exchange protein activated by cAMP/cAMP-regulated guanine exchange factor) proteins, other effectors of cAMP (see cAMP effector section), are also spatially regulated. First these proteins have been shown to also interact with AKAP signaling complexes which may be responsible in part for their localization, that requires specific anchoring, to various cell compartments such as the cytosol, nucleus, nuclear envelope, and plasma membrane, resulting in different cellular functions (PONSIOEN *et al.*, 2009). EPAC localization has also recently been found to be directly regulated by cAMP. In a

2009 study by Ponsioen *et al.* the authors found that cAMP binding to EPAC induced translocation of EPAC to the plasma membrane due to a conformational change that also reveals its catalytic site for Rap activation. The translocation of EPAC was found to be due to passive diffusion and depended on its DEP domain and is a dynamic and reversible event (PONSIOEN *et al.*, 2009).

Therefore, cAMP is produced at a specific location, due to receptor and AC localization, and its diffusion in the cell is controlled by PDE. This results in targeting of increased cAMP to specific effectors, for example, PKA or EPAC, and their associated substrates. PKA and EPAC are also anchored close to specific effectors resulting in a controlled and specific response to cAMP increases, depending on the receptor activated, that will mediate a distinct biological effect.

## 1.3.3.3 cAMP effectors and roles in cellular functions

cAMP has been found to be implicated in virtually all cellular responses such as proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, gene transcription, metabolism, secretion, cell division and neurotransmission (CHENG *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, it is also implicated in many pathologies including diabetes, heart failure and cancer to name a few (CHENG *et al.*, 2008). The response to cAMP is cell type and cell context specific, and in different situations can mediate opposing effects. For example, cAMP has been shown to either inhibit or stimulate cell proliferation depending on the cell type studied or the stimuli used (BEAVO and BRUNTON, 2002;STORK and SCHMITT, 2002). The cAMP effector EPAC was shown to induce Akt phosphorylation in WRT cells and macrophages increasing gene expression and proliferation (CASS *et al.*, 1999), while in adipocytes

EPAC was shown to inhibit Akt phosphorylation thereby reducing proliferation (ZMUDA-TRZEBIATOWSKA *et al.*, 2007). cAMP has also been shown to inhibit keratinocyte migration (MCCAWLEY *et al.*, 2000) or to enhance it (IWASAKI *et al.*, 1994), depending on the concentration of cAMP used. The role of cAMP in cancer is vague, while it has been shown to inhibit tumorigenesis (O'CONNOR *et al.*, 1998), these effects are likely to be cell type and context dependent and it is likely that cAMP can mediate opposing effects on tumorigenesis as it does on other cellular processes. For example one study has shown that cAMP suppresses MMP-2 activation (LEE *et al.*, 2006), while another study showed that elevation of cAMP increased the expression and activity of MMP-2 (TSURUDA *et al.*, 2004), a molecule known to be implicated in tumor cell invasion. The responses to cAMP are mediated by its three main effectors, CNGs (cyclic-nucleotide gated ion channel) whose activation by cAMP allows calcium influx, as well as PKA and EPAC two intracellular cAMP receptors whose diverse cellular functions will be discussed in the following paragraphs.

PKA is the best known cAMP effector and before the discovery of EPAC it was thought to mediate nearly all of the effects of cAMP. PKA is a heterotetramer composed of two regulatory subunits that when bound to cAMP dissociate from two catalytic subunits releasing the inhibition of PKA activity (KIM *et al.*, 2007). PKA is a broad specificity serine/threonine kinase that phosphorylates many different substrates including cytoplasmic or nuclear substrates, enzymes and transcription factors (KIM *et al.*, 2007). Some of the processes that PKA regulates include metabolism, learning and memory (ABEL and Nguyen, 2008), exocytosis (SZASZAK *et al.*, 2008), transcription, cell cycle



**Figure 6**: Overview of cAMP production and major effectors. A) cAMP is produced from ATP by AC that is activated by the G<sub>s</sub> G-protein of a GPCR. Degradation of cAMP is performed by PDE anchored to specific subcellular compartments by AKAPs. The three major effectors of cAMP, CNG-ion channels, PKA and EPAC are illustrated here. PKA is anchored close to the AC producing cAMP due to the action of AKAPs. B) The structural domains of EPAC1 and EPAC2 are shown. C) The cAMP analog 8-pCPT can activate EPACs GEF activity. (Figure from: ROSCIONI *et al.*, 2008) progression and apoptosis (LORENOWICZ et al., 2008). For example, PKA inhibits the interaction of 14-3-3 proteins with BAD and NFAT to promote cell survival (SASTRY et al., 2007). It activates KDELR (endoplasmic reticulum protein retention receptor), which promotes retrieval of proteins from Golgi to ER therefore maintaining the steady state of the cell (CABRERA et al., 2003). Increased cAMP levels promote survival of neuronal cells by inactivating GSK3alpha and beta via PKA-dependent mechanisms and thus prevents oncogenesis and neurodegeneration (TANJI et al., 2002). PKA also mediates ERK activation controlling cell proliferation, and enhances release of stored energy, (lipolysis) (CALIPEL et al., 2006). Finally, PKA phosphorylates many transcription factors such as CREB, CREM and ATF1, allowing them to interact with transcriptional co-activators CBP and p300 to activate transcription (DANIEL et al., 1998).

EPAC is the newest member of cAMP regulated proteins. EPAC proteins were originally identified in 1998 (DE ROOIJ *et al.*, 1998) as having cAMP binding and GEF (guanine exchange factor) domains. To date there exist 2 isoforms of the protein, EPAC-1 and EPAC-2 also known as RAPGEF3 and RAPGEF4. EPAC1 protein is widely expressed in tissues such as blood vessels, kidney, adipose tissue, central nervous system, ovary and uterus but not peripheral leukocytes, while EPAC2 has limited expression mainly in the central nervous system (DE ROOIJ *et al.*, 1998;KAWASAKI *et al.*, 1998;KILPINEN *et al.*, 2008). Like PKA, EPAC has cAMP regulatory binding sites that, when bound to cAMP, allow the protein to be active and therefore mediate its GEF activity. EPAC1 contains a DEP (dishevelled, Egl-10, pleckstrin) domain responsible for membrane anchoring, a cAMP binding domain, and a Ras-association domain (RA). For catalytic



**Figure 7**: Activators and effectors of Rap1. Rap1 can be activated by E-cadherin, receptor tyrosine kinase and GPCR signaling that induce various RapGEFs such as RapGRP (CalDAG-GEF) and EPAC. Various RapGAPs, including Spa, are able to inhibit Rap1 activation. The many effectors of Rap1 are implicated mainly in actin dynamics or integrin activation. (Figure from: BOS, 2005)

activity, EPAC1 contains a CDC25-homology domain (CDC25-HD) for GEF activity with a high specificity for Rap1 and 2 (Ras-proximate-1 and 2), and a Ras-exchange motif (REM) required for catalytic function. EPAC2 differs by containing an additional cAMPbinding domain (DE ROOIJ *et al.*, 2000) see figure 6B. Since its discovery over 10 years ago, EPAC has been found to mediate many of the effects previously attributed to PKA. EPAC has been shown to play an important role in cAMP-mediated insulin secretion, cell adhesion, exocytosis/secretion, cell differentiation, proliferation, gene expression, apoptosis, neurotransmitter release, heart functions and circadian rhythm (CHENG *et al.*, 2008;PONSIOEN *et al.*, 2009). Briefly, some of the other EPAC effectors besides Rap (which will be discussed in following section), include R-Ras which is implicated in cell proliferation, survival and gene expression (JESUS *et al.*, 2006), Rims, which is implicated in exocytosis (WANG *et al.*, 1997) and Rit, which is implicated in neuronal signaling (ROSCIONI *et al.*, 2008;SHI *et al.*, 2006).

# 1.3.3.4 EPAC and Rap1

The main effectors of EPAC are Rap1 and Rap2, members of the Ras-like small GTPases, which are activated by EPACs guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) activity and have themselves GEF activity for many other proteins. Rap2 has been less well studied than Rap1 and will not be further discussed here. Rap1 can be activated by a variety of stimuli that include activated receptor tyrosine kinases, GPCRs and cytokine receptors. They can also be activated by other specific GEFs, besides EPAC, that include calcium-and diacylglycerol-binding guanine nucleotide exchange factor 1 (CalDAG-GEF) (BOS *et al.*, 2001). Rap1 is best known for its inside out activation of integrins resulting in

integrin-mediated cell adhesion. Over-expression of Rap1 results in activation of integrins and increased adhesion to fibronectin while expression of Spa1, a specific GTPase activating protein (GAP) for Rap1 that results in inactivation of Rap1, causes inhibition of cell adhesion (BOS *et al.*, 2003;TSUKAMOTO *et al.*, 1999). Rap1 appears to regulate integrins by increasing both their affinity (conformational activation) and avidity (redistribution of integrins into clusters) (BOS *et al.*, 2003) and appears to be capable of regulating all integrins associated with the actin cytoskeleton (ENSERINK *et al.*, 2004). The main Rap1 effector directly linked to integrin activation is RAPL (regulator of adhesion and polarization enriched in lymphocytes), which is found mainly in lymphocytes and regulates homing and adherence of these cells (BOS, 2005).

The other major effect of Rap1 is the regulation of actin dynamics. Some of the Rap1 effectors implicated in actin dynamics include afadin, a multidomain adaptor protein (BOETTNER *et al.*, 2000); Riam (Rap1–GTP-interacting adapter molecule), which is implicated in cell spreading and integrin-mediated adhesion as well as binding to profilin; VASP (Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein) which is involved in actin regulation; Arap3, which has ArfGAP and RhoGAP domains resulting in inactivation of Arf6 and RhoA; and finally the Rac specific GEFs Vav2 and Tiam1 (BOS, 2005). The interaction of Rap1 with Vav2 and Tiam1 resulting in Rac1 activation is the most direct link between Rap1 and actin dynamics. Rac1, to be discussed in the following section on invadopodia, is a small GTPase of the RhoGTPase family responsible for actin polymerization through activation of WAVEs and the Arp2/3 complex (EDEN *et al.*, 2002). Rap1 binds to the PH domain of Vav2 and Tiam1 resulting in translocation of these GEFs to the plasma

membrane at sites of cell protrusion in contact with the extracellular matrix (ARTHUR *et al.*, 2004). Arthur et al. (2004) have found that Rac1 is both required and sufficient to mediate Rap1 induced cell spreading and is therefore an important mediator of Rap1. See figure 7 for an overview of Rap activators and effectors.

Contrary to the other cAMP mediators, Rap1 is known to be involved in malignant progression. However, like cAMP, this role is not straightforward and Rap1 has also been shown in certain instances to inhibit cancer progression. When Rap1 was originally discovered in 1989, it was identified as a gene product that restored a malignant phenotype of K-Ras-transformed fibroblasts (KITAYAMA et al., 1989). Since then, other studies have supported the role of Rap1 in promoting malignancy. For example mice deficient for SPA-1, which would lead to uncontrolled Rap1 activation, develop myeloid disorders that resemble human chronic myelogenous leukemia ((KOMETANI et al., 2004). Activation of Rap1 has also been shown to promote prostate cancer metastasis (BAILEY et al., 2009) while Rap1GAP acts as a tumor suppressor gene for pancreatic cancer (ZHANG et al., 2006a). Rap1 also regulates migration of melanoma cells (GAO et al., 2006). However, loss of function mutations of DOCK4, a specific Rap1 activator, were found in human and mouse tumor cells and transfection of Wild-type DOCK4 into these tumor cells reduced their growth and invasion in vivo (YAJNIK et al., 2003) suggesting a role of Rap1 in inhibition of tumorigenesis. Therefore, it seems that either defective or excess Rap1 can lead to malignant phenotypes via different biological effects on different cell lines.

## 1.4 Invadopodia

#### **1.4.1 Structure**

In order for cancer cells to metastasize they first need to degrade surrounding ECM and cross the basement membrane to enter blood vessels and travel to distance sites in the body (WOODHOUSE et al., 1997). Cancer cells have been shown to generate protrusions called invadopodia to facilitate their migration and invasion through tumor stroma and the basement membrane of blood vessels during the process of metastasis (CHEN, 1989; KELLY et al., 1998; WOLF and Friedl, 2009). Invadopodia can be defined as actin rich, ventral cell membrane protrusions with proteolytic activity (MUELLER and Chen, 1991). Invadopodia contain cortactin and phosphotyrosines, are not confined to cell periphery but rather are in proximity to the Golgi, and are directly associated with sites of substrate degradation. Invadopodia structures are stable with a long half-life of two hours or more. Some of the important molecules found at invadopodial protrusions, which will be discussed in more detail later, are integrins, tyrosine kinase signaling machinery, proteases, actin and actin-associated proteins (BOWDEN et al., 1999; MUELLER et al., 1992; MUELLER et al., 1999; NAKAHARA, 1998). However, there is no known single specific marker of invadopodia to distinctively distinguish them from other structures such as podosomes.

Invadopodia structures have been shown, by electron microscopy, to originate from profound invaginations of approximately 8  $\mu$ m in width and 2  $\mu$ m in depth (BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2003;CHEN, 1989). From these invaginations extend many surface protrusions that penetrate into the matrix (invadopodia), with diameters ranging

from 100's of nanometers to a few micrometers and a length of approximately 500 nm (BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2003). The connections between these protrusions and the cell body have been shown to be very narrow (BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2006). Another important feature in cells producing invadopodia is a polarization and proximity of the Golgi toward invadopodial protrusions, suggesting a possible relationship between membrane/protein transport and proteolytic activity (BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2003).

While the molecular and physiochemical cues that trigger invadopodia biogenesis are not well known, one possible mechanism of invadopodia initiation is the activation of integrins by their extracellular substrates ((NAKAHARA *et al.*, 1996;NAKAHARA, 1998). For example, alpha6beta1 activation promotes Src-dependent tyr phosphorylation of p190RhoGAP affecting the actin cytoskeleton. This activates membrane-protrusive and proteolytic activity leading to invadopodia formation and cell invasion (MUELLER *et al.*, 1999). The following sections will detail the various components necessary for full functioning of an invadopodium.

# 1.4.2 Actin remodeling

Invadopodia are formed as small clusters consisting of a few large actin-rich dots that extend into the matrix substratum. Actin remodeling is therefore essential for the formation and stability of invadopodial protrusions and involves coordinated action of many proteins such as Arp2/3, N-WASP, cortactin, and cofilin to spatially and temporally regulate actin polymerization (POLLARD and BORISY, 2003). These proteins which have all been either localized to invadopodia or shown to be essential for invadopodia formation (ARTYM *et al.*, 2006;BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2006;YAMAGUCHI *et al.*, 2005) will be discussed in greater detail in the following paragraphs.

The Arp2/3 complex consists of 7 proteins, two related proteins Arp2 and Arp3 along with five unique polypeptides ARPC1-5 (GOLEY and WELCH, 2006). When activated, this protein complex initiates the nucleation of a new actin filament from an existing filament at a 70 degree angle, known as branched actin polymerization (MULLINS et al., 1998; WELCH et al., 1998). Arp2/3 is, therefore, responsible for actin rearrangement implicated in the formation of lamellipodia, filopodia, invadopodia and cell motility in general (GOLEY et al., 2004). N-WASP is part of a family including WASP and WAVEs that have a common C-terminal catalytic verprolin-cofilin-acidic (VCA) domain essential for functional activation of the Arp2/3 complex (MULLINS et al., 1998;WELCH et al., 1998). WASP family proteins integrate multiple upstream signals to induce actin polymerization through the Arp2/3 complex (MILLARD et al., 2004). Their major upstream regulators are Cdc42 and Rac1 (EDEN et al., 2002) however N-WASP is also regulated by phosphorylation by Src family kinases. N-WASP is ubiquitously expressed and abundant in the brain (MIKI et al., 1998). Besides affecting actin polymerization through Arp2/3, N-WASP is also implicated in endocytic and phagocytic processes and may promote internalization of degraded matrix components or recycling of invadopodia components (INNOCENTI et al., 2005; LORENZI et al., 2000). It is important to note as well that dysfunctions of Arp2/3 are associated with cancer metastasis and Arp2/3 and WASP family proteins are found to be up-regulated in some tumors and invasive cells (OTSUBO et al., 2004;SEMBA et al., 2006;YAMAGUCHI and CONDEELIS, 2007).

For example, WAVE2, regulated by Rac1, is a primary regulator of melanoma cell invasion and metastasis (KURISU *et al.*, 2005).

Cortactin is another essential element of invadopodia and is often used as a marker because cortactin clusters located at the basement membrane near the center of the cell and not in the cell periphery are used to identify invadopodia structures (GIMONA and BUCCIONE, 2006). Cortactin is an actin-binding and scaffolding protein that coordinates cell migration, cytoskeletal remodeling, and intracellular protein transport (AMMER and WEED, 2008). The N-terminal acidic domain (NTA) of cortactin contains a DDW motif (aspartic acid-aspartic acid-tryptophan motif) that binds and weakly activates the Arp2/3 complex directly through the N-terminal region of Arp2/3, or indirectly by binding N-WASP via the SH3 domain of WASP and activating it (LUA and LOW, 2005; WEAVER et al., 2001). Cortactin also acts by stabilizing branched actin filaments and, therefore, regulates actin assembly mediated by Arp2/3 (URUNO et al., 2001). Cortactin can also bind to dynamin2, via an SH3 domain, Src, via a proline rich region and filamentous actin (F-actin) with the fourth of its cortactin repeats (DALY, 2004). Cortactin was originally identified as a major substrate of Src (WU et al., 1991) and is tyrosine phosphorylated in response to stimuli that induce actin cytoskeleton remodeling, such as FGF, EGF, or integrins. Phosphorylation of some of its tyrosines, Y421/466/482 in the proline rich domain (PRD) has been shown to be required for motility and metastatic dissemination of breast cancer cells (LI et al., 2001). Phosphorylation of cortactin by Src might influence the interactions of actin nucleators and actin turnover. As well Src phosphorylation of cortactin is important for invadopodia

function (ARTYM *et al.*, 2006). Along with its cytoskeletal remodeling functions cortactin might also regulate MMP secretion at sites of degradation, another critical component of invadopodia to be discussed in the next section (CLARK *et al.*, 2007). Cortactin is ubiquitously expressed, however, as with the other proteins discussed thus far, cortactin is frequently up-regulated in many cancers including breast, head and neck carcinoma, and bladder cancer (SCHUURING, 1995).

Cofilin is a member of the actin depolymerizing factor (ADF)/cofilin family and is a small ubiquitous protein (19kDa). Cofilin is able to bind monomeric and filamentous actin (PAAVILAINEN *et al.*, 2004). It is an essential regulator of actin dynamics at the plasma membrane through its ability to sever actin filaments resulting in disassembly of F-actin from the rear of migrating cells and recycling of actin monomers to the leading edge for further polymerization (PAAVILAINEN *et al.*, 2004). Depletion of cofilin results in small, short-lived and, therefore, poorly degrading invadopodia. Cofilin, therefore, seems to have a role in stabilization and/or the maturation process of invadopodia (YAMAGUCHI *et al.*, 2005). Cofilin is also implicated tumor cell invasion and metastasis (WANG *et al.*, 2007).

Finally invadopodia are also enriched with integrins, which form bridges between the cytoskeleton and ECM potentially linking the two aspects necessary for fully functional invadopodia, formation and matrix degrading activity (CHEN, 1990).

#### 1.4.3 ECM degradation

Degradation of the extracellular matrix (ECM) constitutes the function of invadopodia. This process requires many proteases to physically degrade ECM proteins. It also needs membrane trafficking to sustain prolonged degradation by transporting protease-delivering carriers from the Golgi to the ECM as well as an appropriate substrate (ECM) that can affect the activity of invadopodia depending on its rigidity, matrix density and cross-linking (ALEXANDER *et al.*, 2008;CALDIERI *et al.*, 2009a).

The majority of proteolysis at invadopodial structures is due to the metalloproteinase family, which includes matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and ADAMs (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase). There are over 25 members of the MMP family that are broadly divided into membrane and soluble types that together can degrade virtually all ECM components (EGEBLAD and WERB, 2002). MMPs are synthesized as inactive proenzymes that become activated through proteolytic removal of their pro-domain (VAN HINSBERGH et al., 2006). Membrane-type1 MMP (MT1-MMP), which degrades collagen, fibronectin and laminins is one of the most important enzymes for invadopodia functions (NAKAHARA et al., 1997). It has been shown to be a master regulator of protease-mediated cell invasion through activation of a cascade of proteases including the gelatinase MMP-2 (HOLMBECK et al., 2004). MT1-MMP over-expression or knockdown results in an increase or decrease of invadopodia formation and function (ARTYM et al., 2006;NAKAHARA et al., 1997). Therefore, recruitment of MT1-MMP to invadopodia might establish the focused zone of MMP activation around this structure. Two gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 have also been localized to invadopodia and are

known to degrade type IV collagen, a major component of basement membrane (REDONDO-MUNOZ *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly MMPs might also play a role in invadopodia formation as broad-spectrum MMP inhibitors abolish formation and not just functioning of invadopodia (AYALA *et al.*, 2008;BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2006). The other members of the metalloprotease family are ADAMs. They function as sheddases (enzymes that cleave proteins at the cell surface leading to the release of ectodomains) and cleave growth factors and cytokine precursors into their active forms while their disintegrin domain interacts with integrins especially the beta1 component (HUOVILA *et al.*, 2005).

Serine proteinases are also implicated in invadopodia-mediated degradation. Seprase and DPP4 (dipeptidyl dipeptidase IV) are transmembrane serine peptidases implicated in ECM degradation and shown to colocalize with invadopodia (GHERSI *et al.*, 2006). These two serine proteases are activated by oligomerization and are also able to bind beta1 integrins in a collagen dependent manner and degrade collagen, fibronectin, and laminins (MONSKY *et al.*, 1994). Seprase and DPP4 are also up-regulated in melanoma and breast carcinoma cells (CHEN, 2003). The urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) proteolytic system has also been implicated in invadopodia (ARTYM *et al.*, 2002;KINDZELSKII *et al.*, 2004). uPAR (urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor) is found in a complex with seprase at sites of invadopodia formation and activates plasminogen which can subsequently activate various MMPs (LIJNEN, 2001). Matrix degrading proteases also activate and release growth factors such as VEGF (Vascular

endothelial growth factor) locally from the matrix, which might enable continued induction of invadopodia through receptor signaling (EBRAHEM *et al.*, 2010).

# **1.4.4 Signaling**

Signaling plays a major role in coordinating the formation and functioning of invadopodia. Activation of integrins and receptor tyrosine kinases induces intracellular cascades involving PKC, Src, Rho GTPases and tyrosine kinases for invadopodia generation. Some of the most important signaling pathways involve tyrosine kinases, such as Src and Src-family kinases whose role in invadopodia has been well established. In fact, tyrosine phosphorylation is a marker of invadopodia and SFK activity is absolutely required for invadopodia formation and degradation (MUELLER *et al.*, 1992). Serine/threonine kinases such as ERK1/2 and PAK have also been implicated in invadopodia biogenesis possibly playing a role in cortactin phosphorylation (AYALA *et al.*, 2008;TAGUE *et al.*, 2004). The ARF-family of GTPases are also involved as they control actin rearrangement (AL-AWAR *et al.*, 2000) and have been localized to invadopodia (TAGUE *et al.*, 2004).

Finally, the most important signaling molecules for this study are the Rho family GTPases. These are small G-proteins that when activated exchange GDP for GTP resulting in a conformational change that allows them to interact with downstream effectors. This active state is later terminated by hydrolysis of bound GTP to GDP (BISHOP and HALL, 2000). Among their various effector targets are protein kinases and actin nucleators allowing them to influence cell shape, morphology, polarization, motility

and metastasis formation (HALL, 2005). Most Rho GTPases act on various cellular membranes and affect the morphology of these membranes through alterations of the associated cytoskeleton. Many also affect specific steps of vesicle trafficking between different intracellular compartments (MATOZAKI *et al.*, 2000). They are also usually activated on membranes by GEFs (ROSSMAN *et al.*, 2005). Post-translational modifications are also critical for RhoGTPase interaction with membranes (ex prenylation, palmitoylation) and can enhance their interaction with various cellular membranes and define their localization to specific membrane compartments (CUSHMAN and CASEY, 2009). Phosphorylation also regulates activity and localization of some Rho GTPases such as RhoA (ROSSMAN *et al.*, 2005).

Rac1 and Cdc42 can both activate Arp2/3 through their effectors Sra-1 and N-WASP respectively. Cdc42 binds WASP specifically through WASPs CRIB domain and Cdc42 binding results in unfolding of the protein making the VCA domain accessible to Arp2/3 (CALDIERI *et al.*, 2009a). Cdc42 in particular has been shown to act upstream of invadopodia formation with DA mutants inducing dot-like degradation (NAKAHARA *et al.*, 2003). RhoA has also been suggested to play a role due to the fact that p190Rho-GAP activates membrane protrusive activity (NAKAHARA *et al.*, 1998). All of these GTPases require GEFs (stimulate release of GDP allowing GTP to bind), GAPs (catalyze GTP hydrolysis converting to GDP) and GDIs to function efficiently and many GEF have been identified as oncogenes (ROSSMAN *et al.*, 2005). While Rac1 has not been directly related to invadopodia formation, it can induce actin polymerization through activation of Arp2/3 and could be implicated in recruitment of cortactin, both essential to invadopodia

formation (BAUMER *et al.*, 2008). ROCK as well as Rac1 and Cdc42 also activate PAKs, which phosphorylate and activate LIMKs which then phosphorylate cofilin to permit its role in actin dynamics at invadopodia (AYALA *et al.*, 2008;CALDIERI *et al.*, 2009a).

Finally, there are also numerous adaptor molecules and effectors downstream of these signaling cascades that are localized to and regulate invadopodia such as cortactin, (GIMONA and BUCCIONE, 2006); dynamin2, a large GTPase which regulates actin organization via cortactin (KRUCHTEN and MCNIVEN, 2006), and also has a specialized function in tubulation and constriction of cell membranes and, therefore, affects membrane trafficking (BALDASSARRE *et al.*, 2003); Tks5, a scaffolding protein and Src substrate that binds and modulates N-WASP (OIKAWA *et al.*, 2008); IQGAP1, which regulates Cdc42 and Rac1 modulating cytoskeletal architecture (NABESHIMA *et al.*, 2002); and Paxillin, a scaffolding protein that coordinates the actions of Rho GTPases and forms a complex with cortactin at invadopodia (BOWDEN *et al.*, 1999), to name a few. Figure 8 provides an overview of the structure of an invadopodium and many of the proteins implicated.

# 1.4.5 Implication of invadopodia in metastatic process

Invadopodia are considered to be an in vitro model for cell invasion due to the fact that focal delivery of proteases is crucial for physiological ECM remodeling events and tumor cell invasion (BASBAUM and WERB, 1996). Focal ECM degradation requires tight coordination between polarized trafficking, signaling events and cytoskeletal/membrane remodeling and invadopodia are likely the place where this integration occurs (GIMONA and BUCCIONE, 2006). Furthermore, invadopodia biogenesis correlates highly with well-established assays for invasive capability such as invasion through matrigel-coated transwell chambers and xenograft metastasis models (BOWDEN et al., 1999;COOPMAN et al., 1998; THOMPSON et al., 1992). Invadopodia-like structures formed by migrating cancer cells undergoing intravasion have been imaged by multiphoton microscopy while whole animal imaging has allowed real-time visualization of invadopodia-like protrusions in tumor cells invading through tissues (CONDEELIS and SEGALL, 2003; YAMAGUCHI et al., 2005). Enrichment of invadopodia markers such as cortactin and Tks5 have also been found at the invading front of human tumors in tissue samples, consistent with invadopodia-mediated invasion (SEALS et al., 2005; ZHANG et al., 2006b). In summary, invadopodia are organelles where many functions associated with cancer aggressiveness converge such as tyrosine kinase signaling, protease secretion and targeting, and cytoskeletal rearrangement and may, therefore, reveal to be good therapeutic targets. Also, these structures are not important for cell viability and their disruption may, therefore, have less side effects than some of the current treatments (WEAVER, 2006).



**Figure 8:** Invadopodium. A plasma membrane protrusion is formed due to excessive actin polymerization induced by RhoGTPases signaling. Various molecules are implicated in this actin polymerization including N-WASP, Arp2/3 and cortactin. Cortactin can be further activated by Src which may be found in focal adhesion complexes containing FAK and integrins, in close proximity to invadopodia. Metalloproteinases including MMP-2 and MMP-9 are secreted at invadopodia and can be activated by MT1-MMP which is enriched at invadopodia membrane protrusions. (ARSENAULT, D. Unpublished)

#### 1.5 Objectives and pertinence

Autotaxin has been implicated in the invasiveness and metastatic potential of numerous cancer cell lines (KEHLEN et al., 2004;KISHI et al., 2006;YANG et al., 2002;YANG et al., 1999). It is responsible for producing the majority of LPA in vivo, which in turn signals by activating GPCRs (BRINDLEY, 2004; UMEZU-GOTO et al., 2002). Overexpression of ATX or LPA receptors has recently been linked to increased tumor invasion and metastasis of breast cancer cells (LIU et al., 2009). Similarly, knockdown of ATX and LPA receptors has been shown to inhibit tumor cell migration and cause tumor regression in mice (ZHANG et al., 2009). These results suggest an important role for ATX and LPA receptors in cancer progression and tumor metastasis, however the precise signaling pathways and cellular effects involved remain largely unknown. In order for cancer cells to metastasize, they first need to degrade surrounding tissues. Invadopodia are invasive subcellular structures formed by cancer cells that are increasingly being recognized as important mediators of matrix degradation necessary for cell invasion and metastasis (CONDEELIS and SEGALL, 2003; YAMAGUCHI et al., 2005). The formation of these structures requires specific signaling events and recruitment of effectors, which are slowly being unraveled (YAMAGUCHI et al., 2006). The hypothesis of this research was that ATX, through LPA production and LPAR signaling, induces the formation of the invasive structures, invadopodia, leading to metastasis of cancer cells. The objectives of this research were to evaluate the implication of ATX and LPA on invadopodia production and to determine the receptor and signaling pathways used to promote invadopodia and metastasis formation.

The first objective of the research presented in this memoire was to determine the involvement of ATX and LPA in invadopodia production. For this, we transfected cells with ATX or shRNA against ATX. We then investigated the response of these cells in invadopodia assays. We also studied the effects of LPC and LPA on various cancer cell types in invadopodia assays. The second objective of this memoire was to establish whether LPA receptors were implicated in invadopodia production and to define the receptor(s) implicated. For this, we used a broad-spectrum inhibitor of LPA receptors and observed the effects on invadopodia production. We also measured the mRNA expression levels of the various LPA receptors in the HT1080 cell line. In addition, we used LPA4 shRNA to study the requirement of this receptor for invadopodia production. The effect of LPA4 knockdown on in vitro cell invasion and in vivo metastasis formation was also studied, using a 3D invasion assay and a lung metastasis assay, respectively. The third objective of this research was to ascertain the downstream signaling pathways involved in ATX-induced invadopodia. As LPA<sub>4</sub> primarily couples to  $G_s$ , resulting in increased intracellular cAMP concentrations, we investigated signaling by the cAMP pathway. For this, we evaluated the effect of various activators and inhibitors of cAMP and its downstream effectors in the invadopodia assay.

# 2 - ARTICLE

# **2.1 Preface**

The manuscript presented in this memoire entitled "Autotaxin Promotes Cancer Invasion via the Lysophosphatidic Acid Receptor 4: Participation of the cAMP/EPAC/Rac1 Signaling Pathway in Invadopodia Formation" presents the results of research performed in the context of my master's program. This article has been accepted for publication in the peer reviewed journal, Cancer Research and will appear in the June issue. The authors of this article are Kelly Harper, Dominique Arsenault, Stephanie Boulay-Jean, Annie Lauzier, Fabrice Lucien and Claire M. Dubois. The form for authorization of integration of an article into a memoire with signatures from all authors is attached. I personally performed the bibliographic research, experimental planning and the majority of the experiments. I also wrote and participated in the correction of the manuscript. Dominique Arsenault, a Ph.D. student, performed the experiments represented in Figure 6A and 6B as well as helping capture images for figure 1. Stephanie Boulay-Jean, a stagiaire, performed the experiment presented in figure 2D. Annie Lauzier, a postdoctoral student, performed the western blot presented in figure 4D. Fabrice Lucien, a master's student, participated in the WB presented in figure 2C. Dr. Claire Dubois is my research director. It was with her guidance that I planned the experiments and developed this project.

#### **2.2 RESUME**

L'habileté des cellules cancéreuses à envahir les tissus et former des métastases est la cause principale de décès chez les patients atteints de cancer. L'autotaxin (ATX) est une lysophospholipase sécrétée dont les niveaux d'expression corrèlent avec l'agressivité et le potentiel invasif des tumeurs. L'ATX est l'enzyme majeure impliquée dans la production de l'acide lysophospatidique (LPA), un phospholipide qui est connu pour agir principalement par l'intermédiare de récepteurs LPA<sub>1-3</sub>. L'invasion des cellules tumorales et la formation des métastases sont dépendantes de la capacité des cellules cancéreuses à dégrader la membrane basale. Ce processus peut être initié par la formation de protrusions riches en actine, appelées invadopodes. Dans cette étude, nous démontrons que l'ATX est impliquée dans la formation des invadopodes chez divers types cellulaires cancéreux. Cet effet est dépendant de la production de LPA. De plus, nous montrons que la signalisation via le LPA4 chez les cellules de fibrosarcome régule la formation des invadopodes en aval de l'ATX, c'est à dire à travers l'activation de EPAC par l'AMPc et l'activation ultérieure de Rac-1. Les résultats utilisant l'ARN interférent du LPA4 renforce l'idée que le récepteur LPA<sub>4</sub> est nécessaire à l'invasion cellulaire et la formation de métastases in vivo. Ce travail suggère que le blocage du récepteur au LPA, LPA4, dans les cellules de fibrosarcome pourrait être une avenue intéressante afin d'améliorer l'efficacité du traitement des métastases chez les patients atteints de cancer. Du fait que les récepteurs au LPA et l'ATX sont actuellement des cibles thérapeutiques pour des essais précliniques, ces découvertes devraient stimuler des études ultérieures visant à évaluer le profil

53

d'expression et l'issue clinique du LPA4, en conjoncture avec les autres récepteurs au

LPA, dans plusieurs types de cancers.

Autotaxin Promotes Cancer Invasion via the Lysophosphatidic Acid Receptor 4: Participation of the cAMP/EPAC/Rac1 Signaling Pathway in Invadopodia Formation

# Kelly Harper<sup>1</sup>, Dominique Arsenault<sup>1</sup>, Stephanie Boulay-Jean<sup>1</sup>, Annie Lauzier<sup>1</sup>, Fabrice Lucien<sup>1</sup> and Claire M. Dubois<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>From the Immunology Division, Faculty of Medicine, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke,

Quebec, Canada, J1H 5N4.

Running Title: Autotaxin Promotes Cancer Invasion via LPA4

Key Words: Autotaxin, Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), invadopodia, EPAC, Rac1

Footnotes:

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research Grant MOP-89810 (to C. M. D.). C.M. D is a member of the FRSQ-funded Centre de Recherche de Recherche Clinique Étienne-Le Bel. K. H. and D. A. are recipients of a scholarship from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research.

We thank Dr. Jana Stankova for providing various reagents for GPCR experiments. We thank Dr. Gilles Dupuis for critical reading of this manuscript, Dr. Leonid Volkov for assistance with confocal microscopy and Martine Charbonneau for technical assistance.

# **Abstract**

The ability of cancer cells to invade and metastasize is the major cause of death in cancer patients. Autotaxin (ATX) is a secreted lysophospholipase whose level of expression within tumors correlates strongly with their aggressiveness and invasiveness. ATX is the major enzyme involved in the production of LPA, a phospholipid that is known to act mostly through its three first characterized receptors, LPA<sub>1-3</sub>. Tumor cell invasion across tissue boundaries and metastasis are dependent on the capacity of invasive cancer cells to breach the basement membrane. This process can be initiated by the formation of the actin-rich cell protrusions, invadopodia. In this study, we demonstrate that ATX is implicated in the formation of invadopodia in various cancer cells types and this effect is dependent on the production of LPA. We further provide evidence that LPA<sub>4</sub> signaling in fibrosarcoma cells regulates invadopodia formation downstream of ATX, a process mediated through the activation of EPAC by cAMP and subsequent Rac-1 activation. Results using LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA support the requirement of the LPA<sub>4</sub> receptor for cell invasion and in vivo metastasis formation. This work presents evidence that blocking the LPA receptor, LPA4, in fibrosarcoma cells could provide an additional tool to improve the efficacy of treatment of metastasis in patients. Because LPA receptors and ATX are currently being targeted in preclinical trials, the current findings should stimulate future studies to evaluate the expression pattern and clinical outcome of LPA<sub>4</sub>, together with other LPA receptors, in various cancer patients.
# **Introduction**

Cancer remains a leading cause of death worldwide despite relentless efforts in basic research and clinical management of the disease. Autotaxin (ATX), a secreted motility stimulating factor that was originally isolated from the culture supernatant of human melanoma cells (A2058) (1), has been linked with progression of many types of cancer. Up-regulation of ATX in malignancies including breast, lung, colon, ovarian, stomach and brain cancer was correlated with invasiveness and metastatic potential (2-4). ATX has been found in many biological fluids including blisters, cerebrospinal, peritoneal and, synovial, as well as plasma (5-8). Through its extracellular actions, ATX augments cellular functions closely associated with tumor aggressiveness and metastasis that include proliferation, survival, motility, invasion and angiogenesis (9, 10). ATX has recently been shown to be molecularly identical to lysophospholipase D, which catalyzes the production of the majority of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) from lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) in vivo (11). Consequently, LPA is thought to be responsible for the majority of ATXs effects (12). LPA is a bioactive lipid and a major constituent of serum whose effects are similar to those of ATX (11, 13). LPA is also implicated in many pathophysiological conditions such as atherosclerosis, hypertension, ischemia reperfusion injury, and, pertinent to this study, cancer (14). LPA mediates cell type-specific responses by engaging high affinity G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (15).

There are currently six known LPA receptors. LPA<sub>1</sub> - LPA<sub>3</sub> are members of the endothelial differentiation gene (edg) receptor family whereas the more recently deorphaned LPA<sub>4</sub> -LPA<sub>6</sub> belong to the purigenic cluster of GPCRs (16-18). Most research

57

has focused on the first identified LPA receptors while the signaling and physiological roles of LPA<sub>4</sub>-LPA<sub>6</sub> have received less attention. LPA signals via at least four distinct Gprotein families,  $G_i$ ,  $G_q$ ,  $G_{12/13}$ , and  $G_s$  and their downstream effectors. The major signaling pathways that become activated include the PI3K and Ras pathways which depend on  $G_i$ , PLC which depends on  $G_q$ , Rho GTPases which are associated with  $G_{12/13}$ signaling and cAMP production downstream of  $G_s$  (13, 19). Many of these signaling routes have been shown to be involved in tumor survival and invasion. (19). Overexpression of ATX and LPA receptors (LPA<sub>1-3</sub>) has been recently linked to increased tumor invasion and metastasis of breast cancer cells (20). Moreover, pharmacological inhibition of both ATX and LPA receptors (mostly LPA<sub>1-3</sub>) has been shown to decrease cell migration in vitro and cause tumor regression in mice (21). These studies uncovered an important role for ATX and LPA<sub>1-3</sub> receptors in tumor metastasis, a fundamental property of malignant cancer cells and the major cause of death in patients.

Metastatic tumor cells must first degrade the surrounding tissues and reach the blood stream to travel to distant sites and form new tumors. Cancer cells have been shown to generate protrusions called invadopodia to facilitate their migration and invasion through tumor stroma and the lining of the blood vessels during the process of metastasis (22, 23). Invadopodia are formed by highly invasive cancer cells. They are actin-rich ventral membrane protrusions which possess ECM degrading activity (24). The formation of these structures necessitates the convergence of many different signaling pathways and molecules, which are slowly being unraveled. Besides actin, invadopodia contain actin regulatory proteins, adhesion molecules, membrane remodeling and signaling proteins and extracellular matrix-degrading enzymes (25). The Rho GTPases,

58

including Rac1 and Cdc42, have repeatedly been shown to promote invadopodia production through their actions on the cytoskeleton (26). Formation of invadopodia is enhanced by extracellular matrix rigidity (27), some growth factors such as EGF (22) or expression of wild-type or activated forms of the src tyrosine kinase (28). Therefore, despite much research on invadopodia biology, very little is known about specific inducers and receptors during tumor progression.

Because of the implications of ATX and LPA signaling in metastasis and their activation of pathways, which could be implicated in invadopodia formation, we have investigated the involvement of ATX and LPA receptors in invadopodia production. Using the invasive fibrosarcoma cell line, HT1080, we observed that ATX through the LPA<sub>4</sub> receptor is a strong inducer of invadopodia formation that correlates with the ability of the cells to invade and metastasize. This study also revealed an unexpected signaling pathway for cell invasion involving LPA<sub>4</sub>-driven cAMP production and subsequent activation of the EPAC-Rap1-Rac1 axis.

#### Materials & Methods

**Reagents.** 1-oleoyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphate sodium salt 18:1 (LPA), L- $\alpha$ -

lysophosphatidyl choline from egg yolk (LPC-egg), 1-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3phosphocholine 18:1 (LPC-18:1), 2'-O-dibutyryladenosine 3', 5'-cyclic monophosphate sodium (dibutyryl cAMP), 8-(4-chlorophenylthio)-2'-O-methyladenosine 3'-5'-cyclic monophosphate monosodium hydrate (8-pCPT), 8-bromoadenosine 3'-5'-cyclic monophosphate sodium (8-bromo cAMP), H-89 dihydrochloride hydrate, LPA receptor antagonist (Ki16425), forskolin, cholera toxin (CTX), and pertussis toxin (PTX) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The Rac1 inhibitor NSC23766 and Rap1 inhibitor GGTI-298 were from Calbiochem (EMD Chemical Inc, La Jolla, CA) and myristoylated PKI (14-22) amide (PKI) was from Biomol International LP (Plymouth Meeting, PA). ATX cDNA construct and ATX antibody (84A) were a kind gift from Dr. Tim Clair (Center for Cancer Research, NCI, NIH). shRNA against ATX, LPA4, or EPAC was from SABiosciences (Frederick, MD). The anti-tubulin antibody was from Sigma-Aldrich, the anti-cortactin antibody was from Millipore (Temecula, CA), the anti-EPAC antibody was from Cell signaling (Boston, MA) and Texas Red phalloidin and all secondary antibodies were from Invitrogen (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR).

*Cell culture and transfections*. HT1080 human fibrosarcoma, MDA-MB231 and MCF-7 human breast cancer, A549 human lung cancer and U87 human glioblastoma were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Rockville, MD). All cell lines were cultured in minimal essential medium (MEM) (Wisent, St-Bruno, QC, Canada) supplemented with 10% FBS (Gibco BRL, Burlington, ON, Canada) and 40µg/ml of

gentamycine (Shering Canada Inc., Pointe-Claire, QC, Canada) in a humidified 95% air/ 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. Stable transfections with ATX cDNA or shRNA against ATX, LPA<sub>4</sub> or EPAC shRNA, or scramble shRNA (negative control) were performed with the Fugene reagent from Roche Diagnostics (Mannheim, Germany), according to the manufacturer's protocol.

*Real time RT-PCR*. Total RNA was isolated using the TRI-Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) protocol as previously described (29) and quantitative Real-Time PCR was performed on a Rotor-Gene 3000 (Corbett Research, Kirkland, QC, Canada). The following primer pairs were selected for LPA<sub>4</sub>: (forward) 5'-AAAGATCATGTACCCAA TCACCTT-3', (reverse) 5'-CTTAACAGGGACTCCATTCTGAT-3' and for human acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein PO (RPLPO): (forward) 5'-GATTACACCTTCCCACTTGC-3', (reverse) 5'-CCAAATCCCATATCCTCGTCCG-3'. The cycling program was: initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 min, 40 amplification cycles with denaturing T° of 95°C for 30 s and final extension at 72°C for 30 s.

*Western blotting*. Cells were lysed on ice in RIPA buffer. Supernatant samples were recovered by centrifugation (13000rpm for 30min at 4°C) and protein concentration was determined using the BCA reagent (Biolynx Inc, Brockville, ON). Immunoblotting was performed as previously described (30).

*Invadopodia assays*. Coverslips were prepared as previously described (31), using Oregon-green gelatin (Invitrogen, ON, Canada). Thirty thousand cells were seeded on

each coverslip, allowed to adhere and incubated in MEM with 0.5% FBS. Following various incubation times as described within the figure legends, cells were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde for 30 min at 4°C and stained with DAPI (Invitrogen) for 5 min at room temperature. Cells were visualized by fluorescence microscopy and cells forming invadopodia were counted. Invadopodia were identified by areas of matrix degradation characterized by loss of green fluorescence. Three X 100 cells were counted per coverslip.

*Fluorescence Microscopy*. Cells were grown on gelatin coated coverslips and fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 30 min at 4°C, permeabilized with 0.05% saponine (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS for 20 min and blocked with 2% BSA in PBS for 30 min. For calculation of the number of invadopodia per cell, cells were then incubated with anti-cortactin antibody for 2 h, secondary antibody 488-conjugated anti-mouse for 1 h at 4°C followed by Texas Red phalloidin for 45 min and DAPI for 5 min. Colocalization of actin and cortactin was visualized using an Axioskop 2 phase-contrast/epifluorescence microscope and 20 cells were counted per condition (Carl Zeiss, Inc., Thornwood, NY). Images were taken with a FV1000 scanning confocal microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) coupled to an inverted microscope using a 63x oil immersion objective. To quantify the areas of degradation, pictures of fluorescent gelatin were acquired and captured into ImagePro imaging software (MediaCybernetics) and degradation areas were calculated in pixels for a total of at least 20 cells per coverslip.

62

3D invasion assays. The 3D invasion assay was modified from a previously described technique (32). Collagen type I matrix was prepared as follows: Aliquots (50  $\mu$ L) of Agarose containing 10% FBS were deposited in a 96 well culture plate. Aliquots (50  $\mu$ L) of fibrillar collagen type I (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) were then prepared following manufacturer's instructions and layered on top of the Agarose. Cells (2x10<sup>4</sup>/100 $\mu$ l of serum-free MEM) were deposited on top of the collagen gel and incubated for 36 h. The cells were then labeled with CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> calcein green AM (Invitrogen) 1h prior the end of incubation. Cells were then washed with PBS and fixed with 3% glutaraldehyde for 30 minutes followed by confocal microscopy analysis using a FV1000 Olympus confocal microscope. Collagen matrix pellets were scanned along the Z axis. Cells that had invaded the collagen were imaged and quantitated at each 5  $\mu$ m layers within the gel.

*In vivo metastasis assay*. Mice were housed and manipulated under pathogen free conditions, in accordance with the guidelines of the local institutional animal care facility. Experimental metastatic potential of HT1080 transfected cells was measured by the lung colonization assay. Briefly, 2 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells in 0.1 ml of PBS were injected into the tail vein of 5- to 7-week-old female CD1 nude mice. Twenty-nine days later the mice were sacrificed and the lungs were fixed with Bouin's solution (Sigma-Aldrich). Metastatic colonies on the lung surface were counted macroscopically.

# **Results**

# Autotaxin induces the formation of matrix degrading invadopodia through the production of LPA from LPC.

Since ATX is upregulated in many cancer cell lines and its expression correlates with cell invasion (2-4), we investigated whether ATX is implicated in invadopodia production. As shown in Fig. 1A, ATX over-expression in HT1080 human fibrosarcoma cells induced a significant 5-6 fold increase in the percentage of invadopodia producing cells as compared to parental HT1080 cells. Furthermore, the over-expression of ATX resulted in a significant increase of the gelatin degradation area (Fig. 1B), as well as the number of invadopodia formed per cell identified by colocalization of actin and cortactin, two known markers of invadopodia (28) (Fig. 1C). Confocal microscopy analysis of ATX degradation areas showed that they were associated with cell membrane protrusions, which were characterized by punctate actin cores that extended from the basal membrane of the cell into the underlying matrix (Fig. 1D). These observations suggested that ATX is involved in both invadopodia formation and function.

To determine whether the impact of ATX was due to the ability of the enzyme to produce LPA from LPC, HT1080 cells were incubated in the presence or absence of LPC or LPA during the invadopodia assay. Results showed concentration-dependent increases in the percentage of invadopodia-producing cells after 10h of incubation (Figs. 2A and B), showing that both the substrate and the product of ATX enzymatic activity have the ability to induce the production of invadopodia. Next, depletion of ATX by shRNA abolished LPC- but not LPA-induced invadopodia formation(Fig. 2C), confirming that LPC-derived LPA was a key metabolite in invadopodia production. We further



### Figure 1. Autotaxin induces invadopodia formation in HT1080 cells

Parental and ATX-overexpressing HT1080 cells were cultured on fluorescent gelatin for 10 h (A and B), or on non-fluorescent gelatin for 4 h (C). A, The percentage of invadopodia-producing cells are shown; n=3-9. Representative images of parental and ATX-transfected cells with associated matrix degradation are shown (10X magnification). B, Quantification of ECM degradation area/cell; n=3, with representative images of degradation by parental and ATX transfected cells (40X magnification). C, Number of F-actin (green) and cortactin (red) positive invadopodia per cell; n=2, with representative confocal images showing colocalization of actin and cortactin spots (magnification 60X). D, A representative confocal image of ATX-transfected cells showing actin-rich invadopodia that extend into the matrix substratum (F-actin, red; gelatin, green). Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*\*\*, p < 0.0001.

investigated whether the findings observed in the HT1080 cell line applied to other malignant cell lines. LPC induces invadopodia production in MDA- MB231 (breast cancer), A549 (lung cancer), CaCo2 (colon cancer) and U87 (glioblastoma) cell lines. In contrast, MCF-7(breast cancer), that has an intrinsic defect in cell invasion, failed to respond to LPC (Fig. 2D). These results indicate a role for ATX in the formation of invadopodia by a wide range of neoplastic cells.

# LPA receptor 4 is implicated in the formation of invadopodia through the activation of the G<sub>s</sub>-cAMP-EPAC pathway.

Since the cellular effects of LPA are due to its binding and activation of various LPA-specific GPCRs (15) and some of these receptors have been linked to tumor invasion (20, 21), we further investigated the role of these receptors and their downstream signaling pathways in mediating the effects of ATX and LPA on invadopodia production. Treatment of ATX over-expressing cells with a broad spectrum LPA receptor antagonist (Ki16425) resulted in a significant decrease in invadopodia production (Fig. 3A), suggesting an important role for these receptors in transducing the ATX/LPA-dependent invasive function. We next assessed the relative expression levels of the most characterized LPA receptors (LPA<sub>1-4</sub>) in HT1080 cells to identify which of the receptors were more likely to mediate the effects of ATX/LPA on invadopodia production. In agreement with previously published results (2), HT1080 cells expressed high levels of LPA<sub>4</sub> with only a minimal expression of LPA<sub>1-3</sub> (Fig. 3B). Next, to further assess the role of LPA<sub>4</sub> in invadopodia production, HT1080 cells were transfected with LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA. Results showed that LPA<sub>4</sub> inhibition abolished invadopodia production induced by LPA or



Figure 2. ATX-induced invadopodia production is dependent on LPA production from LPC

A and **B**, HT1080 cells were cultured for 10h with various concentrations of LPC-18:1 (A), or LPA (**B**) and the percentage of invadopodia-producing cells was calculated; n=3-4. **C**, parental HT1080 or cells transfected with ATX shRNA or ctr shRNA were cultured on fluorescent gelatin in the presence or absence (ctr) of LPA(10 $\mu$ M) or LPC egg (10 $\mu$ M) and the percent of invadopodia-producing cells was determined; n=3. Western blot analysis of supernatants (S) and cell lysates (L) with antibodies directed against ATX was performed. Ratios of ATX to tubulin are shown. One representative blot of 2 is shown. **D**, Cell lines were cultured in invadopodia assays in the presence or absence (ctr) of LPC-egg (10 $\mu$ M) for 10 h (HT1080, A549, MDA-MB231) or 24 h (U-87, MCF-7). The percent of invadopodia-producing cells is shown; n=2-4. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01 ; \*\*, p<0.001 ; \*\*\*, p<0.0001.



Figure 3. LPA<sub>4</sub> is implicated in invadopodia production by HT1080 cells.

A, ATX-overexpressing cells were treated with Ki16425 ( $25\mu$ M) for 10h in an invadopodia assay; n=3. **B**, LPA receptors were measured by RT-PCR; n=3. **C**, Effect of LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA on invadopodia production by unstimulated (ctr) or LPA (10µM) or LPC-18:1 (10µM) stimulated cells; n=3-4. **D**, LPA<sub>4</sub> mRNA was measured by RT-PCR; n=2. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01; \*\*, p<0.001; \*\*\*, p<0.0001. LPC (Fig. 3C), indicating the important contribution of this receptor in ATX-induced invadopodia production.

LPA<sub>4</sub> has been shown to couple to the G<sub>s</sub> family of G-proteins that triggers the activation of adenylyl cyclase resulting in an increase in cAMP accumulation (33). To verify the involvement of this pathway in invadopodia formation, ATX over-expressing cells were incubated overnight with cholera toxin (CTX) that interferes with G<sub>s</sub> function. While short-term incubation with CTX is known to activate  $G_s$ , prolonged exposure ultimately results in its depletion (34). Depletion of  $G_s$  resulted in a drastic reduction of the percent of cells producing invadopodia (Fig. S1). Consistent with this result, we next investigated whether increasing intracellular levels of cAMP would result in increases in invadopodia formation. Exposing parental HT1080 cells to forskolin (an activator of adenylyl cyclase) or to dibutyryl cAMP (a stable analog of cAMP) resulted in 1.5-to 3fold increases in cells producing invadopodia (Fig. 4A). cAMP exerts its effects by activating the cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) and the recently discovered exchange protein directly activated by cAMP (EPAC) (35). To determine which of these cAMP effectors was responsible for invadopodia production we took advantage of cAMP analogs known to specifically activate PKA (8-bromo-cAMP) or EPAC (8-pCPT). Results indicated that EPAC activation induced a 2.5-fold increase in invadopodiapositive cells whereas PKA activation had no significant effect (Fig. 4B and C). In addition the PKA inhibitors H-89 and PKI did not affect ATX-induced invadopodia formation (Fig. S2), confirming the lack of involvement of PKA. To further assess the role of EPAC in invadopodia formation we transfected HT1080 cells with shRNA against



Figure 4. LPA<sub>4</sub> signals through G<sub>s</sub>-cAMP-EPAC for invadopodia production

HT1080 cells were incubated with or without (ctr), forskolin or dibutyryl cAMP (A), 8pCPT (B), or 8-bromo cAMP (C) for 10 h in invadopodia assays; n=3-5. **D**, parental HT1080 or cells transfected with EPAC shRNA or ctr shRNA were cultured in the presence or absence (ctr) of LPA (10 $\mu$ M) or LPC-18:1 (10 $\mu$ M) and the percent of invadopodia-producing cells was determined; n=3. Immunoprecipitation of EPAC from equal amounts of protein per sample is also shown. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01; \*\*, p<0.001; \*\*\*, p<0.0001. EPAC and observed that EPAC inhibition reduced LPA- and LPC- induced matrix degradation (Fig. 4D). Taken together, the results suggested that invadopodia production by ATX is promoted by a G<sub>s</sub>-cAMP-EPAC signaling pathway.

# Rac1 activation downstream of EPAC is required for invadopodia production.

EPAC is a nucleotide exchange factor that activates the small G-protein Rap1. Selective inhibition of Rap1 using GGTI-298 abolished EPAC-induced invadopodia production (Fig. S3), suggesting its involvement downstream of EPAC. Rap1 has many effectors, including the small G-protein Rac1 (36), which can induce actin polymerization by the Arp2/3 complex, an event essential to invadopodia formation (37). We therefore used the Rac1 inhibitor, NSC23766, to investigate whether Rac1 could be a downstream target of EPAC for invadopodia production. Rac1 inhibition abolished 8-pCPT induced invadopodia production, whereas the effects induced by LPC and LPA were decreased by approximately 50% (Fig. 5A-C). These results suggested that although Rac1 appears to be the essential downstream mediator of EPAC and Rap1 in invadopodia production, LPC and LPA might activate additional pathways that are independent of the EPAC-Rac1 interaction.

# LPA<sub>4</sub> is implicated in 3D invasion and metastasis.

After determining the implication of LPA<sub>4</sub> in invadopodia formation we further investigated the contribution of this receptor in cell invasion through a 3D matrix and metastasis formation in vivo. For the invasion assay, parental HT1080 cells or cells transfected with LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA were seeded on top of a type I collagen matrix and incubated with or without LPC and LPA. The results demonstrated that cells transfected with LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA lost the ability to invade deeply into a 3D matrix in response to LPC or LPA (Fig. 6A-B). Also, mice injected with LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA transfected cells developed significantly less lung metastasis compared to those injected with control shRNA (Fig. 6C). These results indicated an essential role for LPA<sub>4</sub> in HT1080 fibrosarcoma invasion both in vitro and in vivo and further strengthen the relevance of invadopodia formation for cancer cell invasion and metastasis.



Figure 5. Rac1 activation downstream of EPAC is required for invadopodia production.

A, B, and C, HT1080 cells were incubated with the Rac-1 inhibitor (NSC23766) for 30 min prior to stimulation with LPC-18:1 (10 $\mu$ M) (A), LPA (10 $\mu$ M) (B), or 8-pCPT (50 $\mu$ M) (C), in invadopodia assays. The control (ctr) represents unstimulated HT1080 cells; n=3-4. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01; \*\*, p<0.001; \*\*\*, p<0.001.



Figure 6. LPA<sub>4</sub> is implicated in cell invasion in vitro and in vivo.

A and B, Parental HT1080 or LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA-transfected cells were incubated on type I collagen in 3D invasion assays in the presence or absence (ctr) of LPA (10 $\mu$ M) or LPC-18:1 (10 $\mu$ M). Relative intensity of cell staining according to depth of invasion is shown (A), graph represents maximal depth of invasion (B); n=3. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01; \*\*, p<0.001. C, CD1 nude mice were injected with HT1080 cells transfected with control shRNA (n=12) or LPA<sub>4</sub> shRNA (n=12). The number of metastases counted on the lung surface for each mouse is shown. Results are from two separate experiments. Means +/- SEM are shown; \*, p=0.0008.

Supplementary figure S1





В

Supplementary figure S2





# Supplementary figure S3



Supplementary Figure S1. Involvement of G<sub>s</sub> and G<sub>i</sub> in ATX-induced invadopodia production.

**A**, For G<sub>s</sub> depletion HT1080 cells over-expressing ATX were incubated overnight with CTX at the indicated concentrations. Cells were then plated on fluorescent gelatin in the presence or absence of CTX for 10h and the percentage of invadopodia-producing cells was calculated. **B**, ATX over-expressing HT1080 cells were incubated overnight with pertussis toxin (PTX) to inhibit G<sub>i</sub>. Cells were plated on fluorescent gelatin in the presence or absence of PTX for 10h and the percentage of invadopodia producing cells was calculated. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01; \*\*\*, p<0.0001.

# Supplementary Figure S2. PKA inhibitors have no effect on ATX-induced invadopodia production.

A and B, ATX over-expressing HT1080 cells were incubated in the presence or absence of PKA inhibitors, PKI (A) or H-89 (B) in invadopodia assays. The percent of invadopodia producing cells was calculated. Columns, mean; bars, SEM.

# Supplementary Figure S3. Rap1 inhibition suppresses EPAC-induced invadopodia production.

HT1080 cells were incubated with the Rap-1 inhibitor (GGTI-298) in the presence of 8pCPT ( $50\mu$ M) in invadopodia assays. The control (ctr) represents unstimulated HT1080 cells. The percentage of invadopodia producing cells was calculated; n=3-4. Columns, mean; bars, SEM; \*, p<0.01; \*\*\*, p<0.0001.

# **Discussion**

In this study, we demonstrated that ATX is implicated in the production of invadopodia and that this effect is dependent on the production of LPA from LPC, both of which can mediate invadopodia production in various cancer cell types expressing ATX and LPA receptors. We further provide the first evidence that LPA<sub>4</sub> signaling regulates invadopodia formation downstream of ATX and LPA in HT1080 cells, a process mediated through the activation of EPAC by cAMP and subsequent Rac-1 activation. RNA interference experiments further support the requirement of LPA<sub>4</sub> for in vitro cell invasion and in vivo metastasis.

ATX and LPA have been shown to be involved in tumor invasion and metastasis (20, 21) and expression of ATX was correlated with increased invasion of many malignant cell lines (2-4). ATX is also known to augment functions associated with tumor progression and metastasis such as proliferation, survival, motility, invasion and angiogenesis. (9, 10, 12). A very recent study indicated that LPA can induce the formation of actin dots that resembles invadopodia (38). Here, we further showed that ATX, through the production of LPA, regulated the formation and function of the invasive structures, invadopodia, in tumor cells. Invadopodia are implicated in the first steps of mesenchymal invasion due to their ability to make cytoskeletal protrusions enriched in matrix degrading proteases (22, 23). The role of ATX in invadopodia production may be part of the mechanism to explain how ATX affects tumor cell invasion and metastasis

LPA receptors have also been implicated in tumorigenesis. LPA has been shown in various studies to stimulate cell motility and to modulate tumor cell invasion, mediated mainly by LPA<sub>1</sub> and  $G_{i/o}$  coupling protein (19, 39). LPA<sub>4</sub>, that we investigated in this

study, has so far been poorly linked to tumorigenesis. LPA<sub>4</sub> is widely expressed in embryonic tissues and its mRNA expression has been shown to be increased at implantation sites in the uterus (33, 40), suggesting a role in matrix degradation and invasion into the uterus wall. Among the few studies of LPA<sub>4</sub> functions in tumor cells, the report of Lee et al. (41) suggests that LPA<sub>4</sub> signaling inhibits cell motility and invasion by over-activation of RhoA and inhibition of PI3K resulting in decreased Rac1 activation. Conversely, LPA<sub>4</sub> has been shown to induce cell transformation and anchorage independent growth in Myc-transformed cells (42). Our finding that LPA<sub>4</sub> is implicated in the formation of invadopodia through  $G_s$  signaling provides a novel role for this LPA receptor and adds an alternative pathway by which ATX and LPA can favor tumor invasion. The discrepancy between our results and those of Lee et al. (41), showing a negative role for LPA<sub>4</sub> in the regulation of motility and invasion, may be due to the fact that these authors used a LPA<sub>4</sub> over-expressing cell type in which the LPA<sub>4</sub> response is coupled to  $G_q$  and  $G_{12/13}$  but does not mediate effects through  $G_s$  as suggested herein with endogenously LPA<sub>4</sub> expressing HT1080 cells.

In addition to the role of LPA<sub>4</sub> in tumor invasion, one important observation of our study is the finding that cAMP and EPAC are involved in invadopodia production. Although the role of cAMP in various cell functions has been studied for decades, information regarding its contribution to cell invasion is scarce. Increases in cAMP have previously been correlated with anti-invasiveness of intestinal cancer cells (43). However, many of the effects of cAMP seem to be contradictory and depend on the cell types studied. For example, depending on cell context, cAMP either stimulates or inhibits cell division. It also causes reversion to a normal phenotype in some transformed cells,

79

while being important for differentiation of many cell types (44). These observations may be related to the independent or opposing functions of the two main effectors of cAMP, PKA and EPAC (35). Here, we clearly showed that cAMP accumulation led to the production of invadopodia structures and that downstream activation of EPAC and Rap1, but not PKA, were involved in this function. EPAC is an established GEF for Rap-1, a small GTPase, which has been implicated in malignancy (36) mainly through the insideout activation of integrins that are associated with cell invasion (45). Invadopodia structures are enriched in integrins that interact with the metalloproteinase MT1-MMP to trigger cancer cell invasion (46). It is therefore possible that one of the mechanisms by which EPAC affects invadopodia formation is through the inside-out activation of integrins by Rap-1.

We also observed that invadopodia formation induced by EPAC was dependent on Rac1 activation. Rap1 is know to activate Rac1 indirectly, through integrin signaling, or more directly, due to the activation of the Rap1 effectors Vav2 and Tiam (45). Recently EPAC and Rap1 have been implicated in translocation of Rac1 to the cell membrane, resulting in the recruitment of the Rac effector cortactin (47). Because Rap1 as well as EPAC activities are spatially regulated in cells (48), it is possible that specific activation of EPAC-Rap1 at sites of invadopodia formation could result in translocation of Rac1 to these sites, leading to the recruitment of cortactin, an essential component of forming invadopodia. Our findings that stimulation of the cAMP-EPAC pathways affects invadopodia production through Rac-1 activation identifies an alternative pathway for the activation of Rac-1 at the sites of invadopodia formation. Whereas Rac1 inhibition abolished EPAC-induced invadopodia production, the effects of LPC and LPA were only reduced by approximately 50%. These observations suggested that LPC and LPA triggered the activation of pathways that were independent of the EPAC-Rac1 axis. In support of this, our results further showed a minor role for the  $G_i$  G-protein in invadopodia formation (S1). It is possible that in addition to  $G_s$ ,  $G_i$  could also couple to LPA<sub>4</sub> due to  $G_s/G_i$  switching, a phenomenon whereby phosphorylation of the receptor causes it to switch coupling specificity from  $G_s$  to  $G_i$  (49). In addition, preliminary results from our laboratory (Harper et al. unpublished) indicate that inhibition of Rock, a downstream effector of RhoA, but not PI3K, causes a partial decrease in invadopodia formation induced by ATX. This would implicate a potential involvement of the Rock pathway as well as other LPA receptors such as LPA<sub>1</sub> or LPA<sub>2</sub> in invadopodia formation, which remains to be further elucidated.

To date studies have indicated that LPA is involved in growth and metastasis of various cancers including ovarian and breast mainly through its action on LPA<sub>1-3</sub> receptors (20, 21, 39). The expression of LPA receptors is cell-specific, and each can elicit different and to some extent overlapping responses upon LPA binding (13, 19). Our work presents evidence that inhibition of the LPA receptor LPA<sub>4</sub> could provide an additional tool to improve the efficacy of treatment of metastasis. Because LPA receptors and ATX are currently being targeted in preclinical trials, (50), the current findings should stimulate studies to evaluate the expression pattern and clinical outcome of LPA<sub>4</sub>, together with other LPA receptors and ATX, in various cancer patients.

### **References**

1. Stracke ML, Krutzsch HC, Unsworth EJ, et al. Identification, purification, and partial sequence analysis of autotaxin, a novel motility-stimulating protein. J Biol Chem 1992;267(4):2524-9.

 2. Kishi Y, Okudaira S, Tanaka M, et al. Autotaxin is overexpressed in glioblastoma multiforme and contributes to cell motility of glioblastoma by converting lysophosphatidylcholine to lysophosphatidic acid. J Biol Chem 2006;281(25):17492-500.
 3. Yang SY, Lee J, Park CG, et al. Expression of autotaxin (NPP-2) is closely linked to invasiveness of breast cancer cells. Clin Exp Metastasis 2002;19(7):603-8.4.

Yang Y, Mou L, Liu N, Tsao MS. Autotaxin expression in non-small-cell lung cancer.
 Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999;21(2):216-22.

5. Tokumura A, Kume T, Fukuzawa K, et al. Peritoneal fluids from patients with certain gynecologic tumor contain elevated levels of bioactive lysophospholipase D activity. Life Sci 2007;80(18):1641-9.

6. Nochi H, Tomura H, Tobo M, et al. Stimulatory role of lysophosphatidic acid in cyclooxygenase-2 induction by synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis in fibroblast-like synovial cells. J Immunol 2008;181(7):5111-9.

7. Sato K, Malchinkhuu E, Muraki T, et al. Identification of autotaxin as a neurite retraction-inducing factor of PC12 cells in cerebrospinal fluid and its possible sources. J Neurochem 2005;92(4):904-14.

 Mazereeuw-Hautier J, Gres S, Fanguin M, et al. Production of lysophosphatidic acid in blister fluid: Involvement of a lysophospholipase D activity. J Invest Dermatol 2005;125(3):421-7.

82

9. Nam SW, Clair T, Campo CK, Lee HY, Liotta LA, Stracke ML. Autotaxin (ATX), a potent tumor motogen, augments invasive and metastatic potential of ras-transformed cells. Oncogene 2000;19(2):241-7.

10. Nam SW, Clair T, Kim YS, et al. Autotaxin (NPP-2), a metastasis-enhancing motogen, is an angiogenic factor. Cancer Res 2001;61(18):6938-44.

11. Umezu-Goto M, Kishi Y, Taira A, et al. Autotaxin has lysophospholipase D activity leading to tumor cell growth and motility by lysophosphatidic acid production. J Cell Biol 2002;158(2):227-33.

12. van Meeteren LA, Ruurs P, Stortelers C, et al. Autotaxin, a secreted lysophospholipaseD, is essential for blood vessel formation during development. Mol Cell Biol2006;26(13):5015-22.

13. Moolenaar WH, van Meeteren LA, Giepmans BN. The ins and outs of lysophosphatidic acid signaling. Bioessays 2004;26(8):870-81.

14. Mills GB, Eder A, Fang X, et al. Critical role of lysophospholipids in the pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management of ovarian cancer. Cancer Treat Res 2002;107:259-83.

15. Brindley DN. Lipid phosphate phosphatases and related proteins: Signaling functions in development, cell division, and cancer. J Cell Biochem 2004;92(5):900-12.

16. Lee CW, Rivera R, Gardell S, Dubin AE, Chun J. GPR92 as a new G12/13- and Gqcoupled lysophosphatidic acid receptor that increases cAMP, LPA5. J Biol Chem 2006;281(33):23589-97. 17. Noguchi K, Ishii S, Shimizu T. Identification of p2y9/GPR23 as a novel G proteincoupled receptor for lysophosphatidic acid, structurally distant from the edg family. J Biol Chem 2003;278(28):25600-6.

18. Tabata K, Baba K, Shiraishi A, Ito M, Fujita N. The orphan GPCR GPR87 was deorphanized and shown to be a lysophosphatidic acid receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007;363(3):861-6.

19. van Leeuwen FN, Giepmans BN, van Meeteren LA, Moolenaar WH.Lysophosphatidic acid: Mitogen and motility factor. Biochem Soc Trans2003;31:1209-12.

20. Liu S, Umezu-Goto M, Murph M, et al. Expression of autotaxin and lysophosphatidic acid receptors increases mammary tumorigenesis, invasion, and metastases. Cancer Cell 2009;15(6):539-50.

21. Zhang H, Xu X, Gajewiak J, et al. Dual activity lysophosphatidic acid receptor panantagonist/autotaxin inhibitor reduces breast cancer cell migration in vitro and causes tumor regression in vivo. Cancer Res 2009;69(13):5441-9.

22. Yamaguchi H, Lorenz M, Kempiak S, et al. Molecular mechanisms of invadopodium formation: The role of the N-WASP-Arp2/3 complex pathway and cofilin. J Cell Biol 2005;168(3):441-52.

23. Condeelis J, Segall JE. Intravital imaging of cell movement in tumours. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3(12):921-30.

24. Buccione R, Orth JD, McNiven MA. Foot and mouth: Podosomes, invadopodia and circular dorsal ruffles. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004;5(8):647-57.

25. Yamaguchi H, Pixley F, Condeelis J. Invadopodia and podosomes in tumor invasion. Eur J Cell Biol 2006;85(3-4):213-8.

26. Muralidharan-Chari V, Hoover H, Clancy J, et al. ADP-ribosylation factor 6 regulates tumorigenic and invasive properties in vivo. Cancer Res 2009;69(6):2201-9.

27. Alexander NR, Branch KM, Parekh A, et al. Extracellular matrix rigidity promotes invadopodia activity. Curr Biol 2008;18(17):1295-9.

28. Artym VV, Zhang Y, Seillier-Moiseiwitsch F, Yamada KM, Mueller SC. Dynamic interactions of cortactin and membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase at invadopodia:
Defining the stages of invadopodia formation and function. Cancer Res 2006;66(6): 3034-43.

29. Chomczynski P. A reagent for the single-step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA

and proteins from cell and tissue samples. BioTechniques 1993;15(3):532,4, 536-7.

30. Blanchette F, Rivard N, Rudd P, Grondin F, Attisano L, Dubois CM. Cross-talk

between the p42/p44 MAP kinase and smad pathways in transforming growth factor beta

1-induced furin gene transactivation. J Biol Chem 2001;276(36):33986-94.

31. Baldassarre M, Ayala I, Beznoussenko G, et al. Actin dynamics at sites of extracellular matrix degradation. Eur J Cell Biol 2006;85(12):1217-31.

32. Carragher, N. O., Walker, S. M., Scott Carragher, L. A., et al. Calpain 2 and Src dependence distinguishes mesenchymal and amoeboid modes of tumour cell invasion: a link to integrin function, Oncogene 2006;25(42):5726-40.

33. Ishii S, Noguchi K, Yanagida K. Non-edg family lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptors. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 2009;89(3-4):57-65.

34. Ganguly NK, Kaur T. Mechanism of action of cholera toxin & other toxins. Indian J Med Res 1996;104:28-37.

35. Cheng X, Ji Z, Tsalkova T, Mei F. Epac and PKA: A tale of two intracellular cAMP receptors. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 2008;40(7):651-62.

36. Hattori M, Minato N. Rap1 GTPase: Functions, regulation, and malignancy. J Biochem 2003;134(4):479-84.

37. Yamazaki D, Kurisu S, Takenawa T. Involvement of rac and rho signaling in cancer cell motility in 3D substrates. Oncogene 2009;28(13):1570-83.

38. Hoshino D, Tomari T, Nagano M, et al. A novel protein associated with membranetype 1 matrix metalloproteinase binds p27(kip1) and regulates RhoA activation, actin remodeling, and matrigel invasion. J Biol Chem 2009; 284(40):27315-26.

39. Hama K, Aoki J, Fukaya M, et al. Lysophosphatidic acid and autotaxin stimulate cell motility of neoplastic and non-neoplastic cells through LPA1. J Biol Chem 2004;279(17): 17634-9.

40. Lee CW, Rivera R, Dubin AE, Chun J. LPA(4)/GPR23 is a lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptor utilizing G(s)-, G(q)/G(i)-mediated calcium signaling and G(12/13)-mediated rho activation. J Biol Chem 2007;282(7):4310-7.

41. Lee Z, Cheng CT, Zhang H, et al. Role of LPA4/p2y9/GPR23 in negative regulation of cell motility. Mol Biol Cell 2008;19(12):5435-45.

42. Taghavi P, Verhoeven E, Jacobs JJ, et al. In vitro genetic screen identifies a cooperative role for LPA signaling and c-myc in cell transformation. Oncogene 2008;27(54):6806-16.

43. Ishihara R, Tatsuta M, Iishi H, et al. Attenuation by cyclic phosphatidic acid of peritoneal metastasis of azoxymethane-induced intestinal cancers in wistar rats. Int J Cancer 2004;110(2):188-93.

44. Willingham MC, Pastan I. Cyclic AMP modulates microvillus formation and agglutinability in transformed and normal mouse fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1975;72(4):1263-7.

45. Bos JL. Linking rap to cell adhesion. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2005;17(2):123-8.

46. Mueller SC, Chen WT. Cellular invasion into matrix beads: Localization of beta 1 integrins and fibronectin to the invadopodia. J Cell Sci 1991;99 (Pt 2):Pt 2):213-25.

47. Baumer Y, Drenckhahn D, Waschke J. cAMP induced rac 1-mediated cytoskeletal reorganization in microvascular endothelium. Histochem Cell Biol 2008;129(6):765-78.
48. Ponsioen B, Gloerich M, Ritsma L, Rehmann H, Bos JL, Jalink K. Direct spatial control of Epac1 by cyclic AMP. Mol Cell Biol 2009;29(10):2521-31.

49. Daaka Y, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ. Switching of the coupling of the beta2adrenergic receptor to different G proteins by protein kinase A. Nature 1997;390(6655): 88-91.

50. Murph M, Mills GB. Targeting the lipids LPA and S1P and their signalling pathways to inhibit tumour progression. Expert Rev Mol Med 2007;9(28):1-18.

## **3 - DISCUSSION**

Metastasis is the leading cause of cancer patient mortality and is a complex process that involves many steps in order for the cells to reach other parts of the body. One important step in the process of metastasis is the degradation of surrounding ECM and basement membranes. This allows the tumor cells to leave the original tumor site and enter blood or lymphatic vessels in order to travel to distant sites in the body where they will again need to degrade surrounding tissues to invade and form a new tumor (WOODHOUSE *et al.*, 1997). Invadopodia are invasive structures that are thought to be responsible for this degradative capacity of cancer cells and are therefore thought to be implicated in an important step of metastasis (BASBAUM and WERB, 1996;CONDEELIS and SEGALL, 2003).

In the manuscript presented herein, we have shown that LPA<sub>4</sub> is implicated in invadopodia production. LPA<sub>4</sub> is also important for invasion into a 3D matrix as well as metastasis formation in a mouse model, further correlating the relationship between invadopodia production and metastasis formation. Furthermore, ATX through the production of LPA and downstream signaling through LPA<sub>4</sub>, was found to be implicated in invadopodia biogenesis by cancer cells. Invadopodia are complex structures that require the coordinated action of many proteins and signaling molecules in a small subcellular space (GIMONA and BUCCIONE, 2006). Therefore the mechanisms that promote the specific localization of the proteins and signaling molecules discussed in this

paper, including ATX, LPA<sub>4</sub> and cAMP-EPAC-Rac1, could potentially explain in part why ATX is able to promote invadopodia production.

The effect of ATX on invadopodia biogenesis may be due in part to increased localized secretion of ATX towards sites of forming invadopodia. In various studies, the Golgi apparatus has been shown to reorient toward and come in close proximity to invadopodia (BALDASSARRE et al., 2003). Because ATX follows the classical secretory pathway for its secretion, this might allow the concentrated delivery of ATX-containing vesicles toward the extracellular space surrounding invadopodia. Another possibility is that secreted ATX could remain near invadopodial structures, by binding to integrins, which were found enriched at invadopodia (CHEN, 1990). ATX has potential RGD and LDV integrin-binding sites (KANDA et al., 2008), and its binding to activated integrins was recently shown to be a mechanism that targets secreted ATX to lymphocytes undergoing recruitment and promotes their entry into secondary lymphoid organs (KANDA et al., 2008). Either of these possibilities or both could lead to an increased local production of LPA by ATX in the vicinity of forming invadopodia that could then signal via GPCRs to promote further invadopodia formation. To determine the implication of integrins on ATX localization and its effect on invadopodia, one possibility is to use integrin-directed antibodies or integrin blocking peptides in the invadopodia assay, similar to those used in the study by Kanda et al. However this approach is non-specific and would likely result in reduced cell attachment, among other effects. To increase the specificity, we could perform mutagenesis experiments to mutate the RGD and/or LDV binding sites in ATX and compare the impact of overexpressed wild type or mutated ATX on invadopodia

production. In order to determine if there is directed secretion or binding of ATX to invadopodia sites we could also perform fluorescence or confocal microscopy to visualize the localization of ATX in cells forming invadopodia in conjunction with secretion/ recycling vesicles or plasma membrane markers. We can further use these microscopy techniques to determine the effect of the above-mentioned integrin binding site mutations on ATX localization.

LPA might also promote invadopodia formation due to a specific relocalization or targeting of LPA receptors to sites of forming invadopodia, resulting in enhanced LPA signaling at invadopodia. GPCRs and G-proteins are known to be localized to specific lipid domains and lipid rafts are thought to regulate their signaling cascades (ALLEN et al., 2007; PATEL and INSEL, 2009). For example, the delta-opioid receptor, when activated, is found concentrated in sphingomyelin enriched bilayers (i.e. lipid rafts) (ALVES et al., 2005). Gs trafficking has also been shown to be regulated by caveolin-1 and lipid microdomains (ALLEN et al., 2009). Lipid rafts are specialized lipid microdomains enriched in cholesterol, saturated lipids (sphingolipids) and raft-associated proteins that include caveolin-1 (BROWN and LONDON, 1998;SIMONS and IKONEN, 1997). They also contain glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol anchored proteins, are associated with the cytoskeleton, and are resistant to detergent extraction (BROWN et al., 2000). Lipid rafts have been implicated in signal integration, membrane trafficking, and protein sorting (JACOBSON et al., 2007; MAYOR and RAO, 2004; SIMONS and TOOMRE, The lipid raft/caveolae domains are thought to compartmentalize proteins 2000). involved in specific signaling tasks. Cholesterol increases rigidity of the membrane

therefore regulating lateral mobility and compartmentalization of proteins. This can affect the probability of receptor interaction with downstream signaling partners and optimize their spatiotemporal interactions to increase signaling efficiency (SIMONS and TOOMRE, 2000). Furthermore, cholesterol may play a role in stabilizing the conformation of some GPCRs (ALBERT and BOESZE-BATTAGLIA, 2005;SCHERTLER and HARGRAVE, 2000).

Invadopodial structures have recently been associated with increases in cholesterol and caveolin. Therefore, invadopodia seem to have specific lipid characteristics similar to lipid rafts. Caveolin-1 has been determined to be a regulator of invadopodia biogenesis by modulating lipid domains through the transport of cholesterol (CALDIERI et al., 2009b), while lipid rafts and caveolin-1 were shown to be required for invadopodia formation and subsequent ECM degradation by human breast cancer cells (YAMAGUCHI et al., 2009). In the study of Yamaguchi et al., lipid rafts were found to be enriched, internalized, and dynamically trafficked at invadopodia sites. Furthermore, various invadopodia-associated components such as cortactin and MT1-MMP were found localized in lipid raft enriched membrane fractions (CALDIERI et al., 2009b; YAMAGUCHI et al., 2009). Therefore, specific GPCRs, for example LPA<sub>4</sub> in the case of this memoire, could potentially be localized to, or trafficked in, lipid rafts at invadopodia leading to enhanced signaling. This could account for localized cytoskeletal rearrangements induced by LPA signaling that are required for invadopodia formation. To verify if LPA<sub>4</sub> is localized to invadopodia and whether this is dependent on lipid rafts we could perform fluorescence microscopy to visualize the localization of LPA<sub>4</sub> along with

invadopodia markers. We could then use techniques to disrupt lipid rafts, such as cholesterol sequestration, and determine the effect on LPA<sub>4</sub> localization.

Spatial regulation of numerous signaling and effector molecules is another important aspect of invadopodia formation as it requires the coordinated action of many different signaling pathways in a specific cellular space (GIMONA and BUCCIONE, 2006). This ties in well with the cAMP-EPAC-Rap1 pathway found to be implicated in our work. It is well known that cAMP and its effectors, EPAC (PONSIOEN et al., 2009) and PKA, undergo tight spatial and temporal regulation (JARNAESS and TASKEN, 2007) to promote different cellular functions. As mentioned in the introduction, the EPAC effector Rap1 influences Rac1 activation by the relocalization of the Rac1 effectors Vav2 and Tiam1 to sites of membrane protrusion actively engaging the ECM, in Hela cells (ARTHUR et al., 2004). Invadopodia can be considered to be membrane protrusions engaging the ECM which leads us to speculate that there could be specific activation of Rac1 by its effectors Vav2 and Tiam1, induced by EPAC-Rap1 signaling, at sites of invadopodia production. Furthermore, EPAC activation has been shown to induce Rac1 translocation to the cell membrane in microvascular endothelium resulting in recruitment of cortactin to the cell membrane, an important component of invadopodia (BAUMER et al., 2008). Therefore, the postulated specific localization of either ATX or LPA4 would lead to activation of the cAMP pathway in the vicinity of invadopodia. Due to the spatial regulation of cAMP and its effectors the signaling induced by the cAMP pathway would then be efficiently confined to the area of invadopodia production, specifically the cell membrane.
In addition to promoting actin rearrangement essential for invadopodia formation, ATX may also stimulate invadopodia functions. ATX has been shown to increase the expression of uPA through a G<sub>i</sub>-PI3K-Akt-NFkB signaling pathway in human melanoma cells (LEE et al., 2006). LPA is also capable of increasing uPA activity in ovarian cancer cells, through Ras-Raf signaling, as well as in endometrial carcinoma cells (LI et al., 2005: WANG et al., 2010). As discussed in the introduction section, uPA is a serine protease that interacts with uPAR to convert plasminogen to plasmin which degrades collagen type IV, fibronectin and laminin as well as activating MMP-2, -3, -9 and uPA (DANO et al., 1985;LIJNEN, 2001;SCHMITT et al., 1992). Complexes containing uPAR and seprase (another serine proteinase) have been localized to invadopodia with this association being dependent on the microtubule cytoskeleton and integrins (ARTYM Interestingly, uPAR is a GPI-linked transmembrane protein and has et al., 2002). therefore been associated with caveolae and lipid rafts, which are enriched at invadopodia (STAHL and MUELLER, 1995). This involvement of uPA in invadopodia function is an interesting avenue to further explore. Whether this would imply LPA<sub>4</sub> or other LPA receptors remains to be elucidated.

Supplementary results of the manuscript presented herein suggest an implication of other receptors in ATX-induced invadopodia production. For example, inhibition of  $G_i$  with PTX was found to partially inhibit ATX-induced invadopodia production. Inhibition of Rock, a downstream effector of  $G_{12/13}$ -RhoA, also partially decreased ATX effects. Because  $G_i$  and  $G_{12/13}$  seem to be partially implicated in invadopodia production, we

believe that in addition to LPA<sub>4</sub>, LPA<sub>1</sub> and LPA<sub>2</sub>, which can signal through both of these G-proteins, could also be involved. In the article by Taghavi et al., in which LPA4 expression was found to induce transformation and anchorage independent growth, LPA receptors 1 and 2, but not 3, were shown to mediate a similar effect (TAGHAVI et al., 2008). LPA1 and LPA2 have also been highly implicated in tumorigenesis, migration and invasion of many cancer cell types. For example, LPA<sub>1</sub> is involved in promoting motility of human pancreatic cancer cells (YAMADA et al., 2004), neoplastic cells (HAMA et al., 2004) and breast cancer cells (HORAK et al., 2007), as well as metastasis of human colon cancer cells (SHIDA et al., 2003) and breast cancer cells (BOUCHARABA et al., 2006). LPA<sub>2</sub> has been implicated in mitogenic signaling of human colon cancer cells (YUN et al., 2005) as well as mediating cell motility of ovarian cancer cells (JEONG et al., 2008). Therefore signaling pathways of multiple LPA receptors might also play a role in the metastatic cascade by promoting migration following invadopodia-mediated ECM degradation. It is important to note that in our study we used HT1080 fibrosarcoma cells that have high expression of LPA<sub>4</sub> and low expression of LPA<sub>1-3</sub>. However, any of the LPA<sub>1-3</sub> receptors could potentially be upregulated by invadopodia signaling events or extracellular cues from the degraded matrix during invadopodia-mediated degradation. Therefore, LPA<sub>4</sub> through G<sub>s</sub>-cAMP signaling and Rap1-Rac1 activation might lead to increased invadopodia formation and subsequent activation of other LPA receptors might then promote migration of the cell through the matrix that has been degraded.

In this memoire, we have added both LPC, the substrate, and LPA, the product of ATX activity, to invadopodia assays to determine their effects. In our first experiments, we

used a natural source of LPC derived from egg yolk, that was prepared by the action of phospholipase A on egg L- $\alpha$ -phosphatidylcholine (LPC-egg), that unexpectedly induced dramatically more invadopodia production than LPA in the same experiments (Fig. 2C). In order to understand these results and to be more rigorous, we changed our source of LPC for a synthetic reagent with the same hydrophobic tail length and degree of unsaturation as the LPA. Using synthetic LPC (18:1) and LPA (18:1), we observed that both LPC and LPA, used at the same concentration, induced similar percentages of cells to produce invadopodia. However, in the literature, LPA has been shown to be much more potent than LPC in inducing cell migration often measured by a wound healing assay. In these publications, LPA was shown to be maximally effective at 0.5  $\mu$ M, while LPC required 5-10 µM concentrations for a similar effect (GAETANO et al., 2009). In order to determine why our results differed from those of other authors, we tested the effects of LPC and LPA in a wound healing assay. Using this assay, we observed that for the same concentration of reagents used, LPA had a stronger impact on cell migration than LPC, as measured by the number of cells that had moved into the scratch area (Harper et al., unpublished results). Therefore, it seems that the observed discrepancy can neither be attributed to the cell type, nor to the source of LPC and LPA, but possibly to the biological assay used. One possibility for the strong response to LPC in the invadopodia assay could be due to the postulated relocalization of ATX and LPA receptors at sites of forming invadopodia (as discussed above). In this scenario, ATX might produce LPA from the added LPC in closer proximity to the responding receptor, thereby requiring less LPC.

In this memoire, we have studied the roles of ATX, LPA and the LPA GPCR LPA<sub>4</sub> in tumor cell invasion and invadopodia production in HT1080 cells. We have discovered a novel role for LPA<sub>4</sub> and cAMP-EPAC-Rac1 signaling in ATX-induced invadopodia production. Each of these proteins and signaling molecules can be spatially regulated by various mechanisms. It will be interesting to determine in future studies whether ATX and molecules involved in the LPA<sub>4</sub> signaling pathway are spatially regulated during invadopodia formation and to define the mechanisms involved.

From a more clinical or physiological point of view, finding a way to target and inhibit the production of invadopodia by cancer cells could be a good way to prevent the metastasis of tumor cells. Without invadopodia the tumor cells should no longer be able to cross high-density matrix such as basement membranes and this should therefore prevent their migration and invasion to distant sites. Furthermore invadopodia are nonessential structures that are not formed by normal cells and therefore targeting them would likely result in fewer side effects than conventional chemotherapies and should not affect non-cancerous cells (WEAVER, 2006).

In this study we have found that blocking LPA<sub>4</sub> or ATX could provide new targets to potentially inhibit the production of invadopodia by cancer cells. LPA<sub>4</sub> is one of the more recently identified LPA receptors and therefore there is little information on the implications of this receptor in physiology and disease. LPA<sub>4</sub> is highly expressed in embryonic tissues while in adults it has low expression in many tissues (LEE *et al.*, 2007;NOGUCHI *et al.*, 2003). Studies so far have found that it has a role in neuronal

development and bone homeostasis and possibly during pregnancy (ISHII *et al.*, 2009;LIU *et al.*, 2010;YANAGIDA *et al.*, 2007). Due to the findings of our current work it will be interesting to further investigate the roles of LPA<sub>4</sub> and determine if this receptor is essential for other biological functions in the adult. It will also be interesting to determine why LPA<sub>4</sub> is over-expressed in many cancer cell lines and if factors in the tumor microenvironment can cause an increase in LPA<sub>4</sub> expression levels. As LPA<sub>4</sub> is highly expressed in a wide range of highly invasive cancers such as ovarian, glioblastoma, colon, fibrosarcoma, lung, prostate and melanoma (KISHI *et al.*, 2006), the results presented herein can be postulated to apply to a variety of cancers. Further studies are needed to determine which cells types are affected by LPA<sub>4</sub> knockdown and if the cAMP-EPAC-Rac1 pathway is used by different cell lines to promote invadopodia production.

LPA receptors (1-3) and ATX are currently being targeting in preclinical trials to treat cancer (MURPH and MILLS, 2007) so the design and utilization of inhibitors that also target LPA<sub>4</sub> could be beneficial as it seems to mediate signaling through a different pathway than the other LPA receptors. ATX and LPA<sub>4</sub> are both highly expressed during embryogenesis but in the adult have a lower and more restricted expression. Their overexpression may therefore be a good determinant for identifying potentially aggressive cancers. Early detection of cancer cells that possess metastatic potential could improve the treatment and prognosis of this disease. Metastasis is a complicated process yet to be fully understood. The results of our study will hopefully help shed some new light on this process.

## **4-ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

First I would like to sincerely thank my research director Dr. Claire Dubois for accepting me into her laboratory to pursue my Master's degree. Dr. Dubois has created in her lab an environment conducive to learning through her constant encouragement and her enthusiasm and passion for science. She has greatly helped me develop the scientific skills and critical eye necessary for success in science. Thanks to her confidence in my scientific abilities I was able to undertake this research project and plan to complete my doctoral studies under her supervision as well. Therefore I would like to thank her for all her guidance and support during my studies and equally important all her time and patience.

I would also like to thank the members of my jury, Dr. Claire Dubois and Dr. Gilles Dupuis, from the immunology program, and Dr. Nathalie Rivard, from the programme de biologie cellulaire, for their time dedicated to correcting this memoire.

I also want to thank all the members of the lab who I have had the pleasure to work with during my master's. Francine Grondin, Martine Charbonneau, Dominique Arsenault, Fabrice Lucien, Annie Lauzier, Karine Brochu-Gaudreau, Marilene Paquette, and Stephanie Boulay-Jean. A special thank-you to Martine who was responsible for my training when I first came to the lab as an honor's student. She always took the time to stop and answer all my questions and and always had a positive attitude that was encouraging in the face of any discouraging results. I want to thank Dr. Stankova for generously supplying various reagents and experimental advice, and Leonid Volkov for his patience and and detailed explanations in regards to all microscopy experiments.

I would like to thank everyone who helped with the in vivo study presented in my manuscript. Dr. Sheela Ramanathan, Dr. Caroline Saucier, Walid Chababi, Simon Gaudreau, Chantal Guindi, and Alexandre Cloutier.

Finally, I want to thank my family and friends who have supported and encouraged me throughout my studies. I particularly want to thank my mother who has spent countless hours correcting my written work and listening to my oral presentations.

## **5- REFERENCES**

Abel, T. and Nguyen, P.V. (2008). Regulation of hippocampus-dependent memory by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. Prog. Brain Res. *169*, 97-115.

Al-Awar, O., Radhakrishna, H., Powell, N.N. and Donaldson, J.G. (2000). Separation of membrane trafficking and actin remodeling functions of ARF6 with an effector domain mutant. Mol. Cell. Biol. *16*, 5998-6007.

Albert, A.D. and Boesze-Battaglia, K. (2005). The role of cholesterol in rod outer segment membranes. Prog. Lipid Res. 2-3, 99-124.

Alexander, N.R., Branch, K.M., Parekh, A., Clark, E.S., Iwueke, I.C., Guelcher, S.A. and Weaver, A.M. (2008). Extracellular matrix rigidity promotes invadopodia activity. Curr. Biol. *18*, 1295-1299.

Allen, J.A., Halverson-Tamboli, R.A. and Rasenick, M.M. (2007). Lipid raft microdomains and neurotransmitter signalling. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2, 128-140.

Allen, J.A., Yu, J.Z., Dave, R.H., Bhatnagar, A., Roth, B.L. and Rasenick, M.M. (2009). Caveolin-1 and lipid microdomains regulate Gs trafficking and attenuate Gs/adenylyl cyclase signaling. Mol. Pharmacol. *5*, 1082-1093.

Alves, I.D., Salamon, Z., Hruby, V.J. and Tollin, G. (2005). Ligand modulation of lateral segregation of a G-protein-coupled receptor into lipid microdomains in sphingomyelin/ phosphatidylcholine solid-supported bilayers. Biochemistry (N. Y.) 25, 9168-9178.

Amisten, S., Braun, O.O., Bengtsson, A. and Erlinge, D. (2008). Gene expression profiling for the identification of G-protein coupled receptors in human platelets. Thromb. Res. 1, 47-57.

Ammer, A.G. and Weed, S.A. (2008). Cortactin branches out: roles in regulating protrusive actin dynamics. Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton 9, 687-707.

An, S., Bleu, T., Hallmark, O.G. and Goetzl, E.J. (1998a). Characterization of a novel subtype of human G protein-coupled receptor for lysophosphatidic acid. J. Biol. Chem. *14*, 7906-7910.

An, S., Bleu, T., Zheng, Y. and Goetzl, E.J. (1998b). Recombinant human G proteincoupled lysophosphatidic acid receptors mediate intracellular calcium mobilization. Mol. Pharmacol. 5, 881-888. An, S., Dickens, M.A., Bleu, T., Hallmark, O.G. and Goetzl, E.J. (1997). Molecular cloning of the human Edg2 protein and its identification as a functional cellular receptor for lysophosphatidic acid. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *3*, 619-622.

Aoki, J. (2004). Mechanisms of lysophosphatidic acid production. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 5, 477-489.

Aoki, J., Inoue, A. and Okudaira, S. (2008). Two pathways for lysophosphatidic acid production. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 9, 513-518.

Arthur, W.T., Quilliam, L.A. and Cooper, J.A. (2004). Rap1 promotes cell spreading by localizing Rac guanine nucleotide exchange factors. J. Cell Biol. *1*, 111-122.

Artym, V.V., Kindzelskii, A.L., Chen, W.T. and Petty, H.R. (2002). Molecular proximity of seprase and the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor on malignant melanoma cell membranes: dependence on beta1 integrins and the cytoskeleton. Carcinogenesis *10*, 1593-1601.

Artym, V.V., Zhang, Y., Seillier-Moiseiwitsch, F., Yamada, K.M. and Mueller, S.C. (2006). Dynamic interactions of cortactin and membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase at invadopodia: defining the stages of invadopodia formation and function. Cancer Res. *6*, 3034-3043.

Ayala, I., Baldassarre, M., Giacchetti, G., Caldieri, G., Tete, S., Luini, A. and Buccione, R. (2008). Multiple regulatory inputs converge on cortactin to control invadopodia biogenesis and extracellular matrix degradation. J. Cell. Sci. 369-378.

Bachner, D., Ahrens, M., Schroder, D., Hoffmann, A., Lauber, J., Betat, N., Steinert, P., Flohe, L. and Gross, G. (1998). Bmp-2 downstream targets in mesenchymal development identified by subtractive cloning from recombinant mesenchymal progenitors (C3H10T1/2). Dev. Dyn. *4*, 398-411.

Bailey, C.L., Kelly, P. and Casey, P.J. (2009). Activation of Rap1 promotes prostate cancer metastasis. Cancer Res. *12*, 4962-4968.

Baker, D.L., Fujiwara, Y., Pigg, K.R., Tsukahara, R., Kobayashi, S., Murofushi, H., Uchiyama, A., Murakami-Murofushi, K., Koh, E., Bandle, R.W. *et al*. (2006). Carba analogs of cyclic phosphatidic acid are selective inhibitors of autotaxin and cancer cell invasion and metastasis. J. Biol. Chem. *32*, 22786-22793.

Baldassarre, M., Ayala, I., Beznoussenko, G., Giacchetti, G., Machesky, L.M., Luini, A. and Buccione, R. (2006). Actin dynamics at sites of extracellular matrix degradation. Eur. J. Cell Biol. *12*, 1217-1231.

Baldassarre, M., Pompeo, A., Beznoussenko, G., Castaldi, C., Cortellino, S., McNiven, M.A., Luini, A. and Buccione, R. (2003). Dynamin participates in focal extracellular matrix degradation by invasive cells. Mol. Biol. Cell *3*, 1074-1084.

Bandoh, K., Aoki, J., Hosono, H., Kobayashi, S., Kobayashi, T., Murakami-Murofushi, K., Tsujimoto, M., Arai, H. and Inoue, K. (1999). Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel human G-protein-coupled receptor, EDG7, for lysophosphatidic acid. J. Biol. Chem. *39*, 27776-27785.

Barr, A.J., Ali, H., Haribabu, B., Snyderman, R. and Smrcka, A.V. (2000). Identification of a region at the N-terminus of phospholipase C-beta 3 that interacts with G protein beta gamma subunits. Biochemistry 7, 1800-1806.

Basbaum, C.B. and Werb, Z. (1996). Focalized proteolysis: spatial and temporal regulation of extracellular matrix degradation at the cell surface. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. *5*, 731-738.

Baumer, Y., Drenckhahn, D. and Waschke, J. (2008). cAMP induced Rac 1-mediated cytoskeletal reorganization in microvascular endothelium. Histochem. Cell Biol. *6*, 765-778.

Baumforth, K.R., Flavell, J.R., Reynolds, G.M., Davies, G., Pettit, T.R., Wei, W., Morgan, S., Stankovic, T., Kishi, Y., Arai, H. *et al* . (2005). Induction of autotaxin by the Epstein-Barr virus promotes the growth and survival of Hodgkin lymphoma cells. Blood *6*, 2138-2146.

Beavo, J.A. and Brunton, L.L. (2002). Cyclic nucleotide research -- still expanding after half a century. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 710-718.

Bishop, A.L. and Hall, A. (2000). Rho GTPases and their effector proteins. Biochem. J. 241-255.

Black, E.J., Clair, T., Delrow, J., Neiman, P. and Gillespie, D.A. (2004). Microarray analysis identifies Autotaxin, a tumour cell motility and angiogenic factor with lysophospholipase D activity, as a specific target of cell transformation by v-Jun. Oncogene *13*, 2357-2366.

Boettner, B., Govek, E.E., Cross, J. and Van Aelst, L. (2000). The junctional multidomain protein AF-6 is a binding partner of the Rap1A GTPase and associates with the actin cytoskeletal regulator profilin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *16*, 9064-9069.

Bollen, M., Gijsbers, R., Ceulemans, H., Stalmans, W. and Stefan, C. (2000). Nucleotide pyrophosphatases/phosphodiesterases on the move. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. *6*, 393-432.

Bos, J.L. (2005). Linking Rap to cell adhesion. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 2, 123-128.

Bos, J.L., de Bruyn, K., Enserink, J., Kuiperij, B., Rangarajan, S., Rehmann, H., Riedl, J., de Rooij, J., van Mansfeld, F. and Zwartkruis, F. (2003). The role of Rap1 in integrinmediated cell adhesion. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 83-86.

Bos, J.L., de Rooij, J. and Reedquist, K.A. (2001). Rap1 signalling: adhering to new models. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5, 369-377.

Boucharaba, A., Serre, C.M., Gres, S., Saulnier-Blache, J.S., Bordet, J.C., Guglielmi, J., Clezardin, P. and Peyruchaud, O. (2004). Platelet-derived lysophosphatidic acid supports the progression of osteolytic bone metastases in breast cancer. J. Clin. Invest. *12*, 1714-1725.

Boucharaba, A., Serre, C.M., Guglielmi, J., Bordet, J.C., Clezardin, P. and Peyruchaud, O. (2006). The type 1 lysophosphatidic acid receptor is a target for therapy in bone metastases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 25, 9643-9648.

Bowden, E.T., Barth, M., Thomas, D., Glazer, R.I. and Mueller, S.C. (1999). An invasion-related complex of cortactin, paxillin and PKCmu associates with invadopodia at sites of extracellular matrix degradation. Oncogene *31*, 4440-4449.

Brandt, D.T., Goerke, A., Heuer, M., Gimona, M., Leitges, M., Kremmer, E., Lammers, R., Haller, H. and Mischak, H. (2003). Protein kinase C delta induces Src kinase activity via activation of the protein tyrosine phosphatase PTP alpha. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 34073-34078.

Brindley, D.N. (2004). Lipid phosphate phosphatases and related proteins: signaling functions in development, cell division, and cancer. J. Cell. Biochem. *5*, 900-912.

Brindley, D.N., English, D., Pilquil, C., Buri, K. and Ling, Z.C. (2002). Lipid phosphate phosphatases regulate signal transduction through glycerolipids and sphingolipids. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1-3, 33-44.

Brown, D.A. and London, E. (1998). Functions of lipid rafts in biological membranes. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 111-136.

Brown, O., Cowen, R.L., Preston, C.M., Castro, M.G. and Lowenstein, P.R. (2000). Subcellular post-transcriptional targeting: delivery of an intracellular protein to the

extracellular leaflet of the plasma membrane using a glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol (GPI) membrane anchor in neurons and polarised epithelial cells. Gene Ther. 22, 1947-1953.

Budnik, L.T. and Mukhopadhyay, A.K. (2002). Lysophosphatidic acid and its role in reproduction. Biol. Reprod. 4, 859-865.

Cabrera, M., Muniz, M., Hidalgo, J., Vega, L., Martin, M.E. and Velasco, A. (2003). The retrieval function of the KDEL receptor requires PKA phosphorylation of its C-terminus. Mol. Biol. Cell *10*, 4114-4125.

Caldieri, G., Ayala, I., Attanasio, F. and Buccione, R. (2009a). Cell and molecular biology of invadopodia. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 1-34.

Caldieri, G., Giacchetti, G., Beznoussenko, G., Attanasio, F., Ayala, I. and Buccione, R. (2009b). Invadopodia biogenesis is regulated by caveolin-mediated modulation of membrane cholesterol levels. J. Cell. Mol. Med. *8*, 1728-1740.

Calipel, A., Mouriaux, F., Glotin, A.L., Malecaze, F., Faussat, A.M. and Mascarelli, F. (2006). Extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent proliferation is mediated through the protein kinase A/B-Raf pathway in human uveal melanoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. *14*, 9238-9250.

Cass, L.A., Summers, S.A., Prendergast, G.V., Backer, J.M., Birnbaum, M.J. and Meinkoth, J.L. (1999). Protein kinase A-dependent and -independent signaling pathways contribute to cyclic AMP-stimulated proliferation. Mol. Cell. Biol. *9*, 5882-5891.

Chen, M. and O'Connor, K.L. (2005). Integrin alpha6beta4 promotes expression of autotaxin/ENPP2 autocrine motility factor in breast carcinoma cells. Oncogene *32*, 5125-5130.

Chen, S.U., Chou, C.H., Lee, H., Ho, C.H., Lin, C.W. and Yang, Y.S. (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid up-regulates expression of interleukin-8 and -6 in granulosa-lutein cells through its receptors and nuclear factor-kappaB dependent pathways: implications for angiogenesis of corpus luteum and ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. *3*, 935-943.

Chen, W.T. (2003). DPPIV and seprase in cancer invasion and angiogenesis. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 197-203.

Chen, W.T. (1990). Transmembrane Interactions at Cell-Adhesion and Invasion Sites. Cell Differ. Dev. 3, 329-335.

Chen, W.T. (1989). Proteolytic activity of specialized surface protrusions formed at rosette contact sites of transformed cells. J. Exp. Zool. 2, 167-185.

Cheng, X., Ji, Z., Tsalkova, T. and Mei, F. (2008). Epac and PKA: a tale of two intracellular cAMP receptors. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai) 7, 651-662.

Choi, J.W., Herr, D.R., Noguchi, K., Yung, Y.C., Lee, C.W., Mutoh, T., Lin, M.E., Teo, S.T., Park, K.E., Mosley, A.N. and Chun, J. (2010). LPA receptors: subtypes and biological actions. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. *50*, 157-186.

Choi, J.W., Lee, C.W. and Chun, J. (2008). Biological roles of lysophospholipid receptors revealed by genetic null mice: an update. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 9, 531-539.

Chun, J. (1999). Lysophospholipid receptors: implications for neural signaling. Crit. Rev. Neurobiol. 2, 151-168.

Chun, J., Contos, J.J. and Munroe, D. (1999). A growing family of receptor genes for lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and other lysophospholipids (LPs). Cell Biochem. Biophys. 2, 213-242.

Chuprun, J.K., Raymond, J.R. and Blackshear, P.J. (1997). The heterotrimeric G protein G alpha i2 mediates lysophosphatidic acid-stimulated induction of the c-fos gene in mouse fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 2, 773-781.

Clark, E.S., Whigham, A.S., Yarbrough, W.G. and Weaver, A.M. (2007). Cortactin is an essential regulator of matrix metalloproteinase secretion and extracellular matrix degradation in invadopodia. Cancer Res. 9, 4227-4235.

Condeelis, J. and Segall, J.E. (2003). Intravital imaging of cell movement in tumours. Nat Rev Cancer 12, 921-930.

Contos, J.J. and Chun, J. (1998). Complete cDNA sequence, genomic structure, and chromosomal localization of the LPA receptor gene, lpA1/vzg-1/Gpcr26. Genomics *3*, 364-378.

Contos, J.J., Fukushima, N., Weiner, J.A., Kaushal, D. and Chun, J. (2000a). Requirement for the lpA1 lysophosphatidic acid receptor gene in normal suckling behavior. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 24, 13384-13389.

Contos, J.J., Ishii, I. and Chun, J. (2000b). Lysophosphatidic acid receptors. Mol. Pharmacol. *6*, 1188-1196.

Contos, J.J., Ishii, I., Fukushima, N., Kingsbury, M.A., Ye, X., Kawamura, S., Brown, J.H. and Chun, J. (2002). Characterization of lpa(2) (Edg4) and lpa(1)/lpa(2) (Edg2/Edg4) lysophosphatidic acid receptor knockout mice: signaling deficits without obvious phenotypic abnormality attributable to lpa(2). Mol. Cell. Biol. *19*, 6921-6929.

Coopman, P.J., Do, M.T., Thompson, E.W. and Mueller, S.C. (1998). Phagocytosis of cross-linked gelatin matrix by human breast carcinoma cells correlates with their invasive capacity. Clin. Cancer Res. 2, 507-515.

Cushman, I. and Casey, P.J. (2009). Role of isoprenylcysteine carboxylmethyltransferasecatalyzed methylation in Rho function and migration. J. Biol. Chem. *41*, 27964-27973.

Daly, R.J. (2004). Cortactin signalling and dynamic actin networks. Biochem. J. 13-25. Daniel, P.B., Walker, W.H. and Habener, J.F. (1998). Cyclic AMP signaling and gene regulation. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 353-383.

Dano, K., Andreasen, P.A., Grondahl-Hansen, J., Kristensen, P., Nielsen, L.S. and Skriver, L. (1985). Plasminogen activators, tissue degradation, and cancer. Adv. Cancer Res. 139-266.

de Rooij, J., Rehmann, H., van Triest, M., Cool, R.H., Wittinghofer, A. and Bos, J.L. (2000). Mechanism of regulation of the Epac family of cAMP-dependent RapGEFs. J. Biol. Chem. 27, 20829-20836.

de Rooij, J., Zwartkruis, F.J., Verheijen, M.H., Cool, R.H., Nijman, S.M., Wittinghofer, A. and Bos, J.L. (1998). Epac is a Rap1 guanine-nucleotide-exchange factor directly activated by cyclic AMP. Nature *396*, 474-477.

Degerman, E., Belfrage, P. and Manganiello, V.C. (1997). Structure, localization, and regulation of cGMP-inhibited phosphodiesterase (PDE3). J. Biol. Chem. 272, 6823-6826.

Dennis, J., Nogaroli, L. and Fuss, B. (2005). Phosphodiesterase-Ialpha/autotaxin (PD-Ialpha/ATX): a multifunctional protein involved in central nervous system development and disease. J. Neurosci. Res. *6*, 737-742.

Dennis, J., White, M.A., Forrest, A.D., Yuelling, L.M., Nogaroli, L., Afshari, F.S., Fox, M.A. and Fuss, B. (2008). Phosphodiesterase-Ialpha/autotaxin's MORFO domain regulates oligodendroglial process network formation and focal adhesion organization. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 2, 412-424.

Dottori, M., Leung, J., Turnley, A.M. and Pebay, A. (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid inhibits neuronal differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells *5*, 1146-1154.

Dufner-Beattie, J., Lemons, R.S. and Thorburn, A. (2001). Retinoic acid-induced expression of autotaxin in N-myc-amplified neuroblastoma cells. Mol. Carcinog. *4*, 181-189.

Duman, R.S. and Nestler, E.J. (1999). Cyclic nucleotides 'In' Siegel, G.J., *et al.* (Eds). Basic Neurochemistry: Molecular, cellular and medical aspects. (6th ed.) Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven.

Ebrahem, Q., Chaurasia, S.S., Vasanji, A., Qi, J.H., Klenotic, P.A., Cutler, A., Asosingh, K., Erzurum, S. and Anand-Apte, B. (2010). Cross-talk between vascular endothelial growth factor and matrix metalloproteinases in the induction of neovascularization in vivo. Am. J. Pathol. *1*, 496-503.

Eden, S., Rohatgi, R., Podtelejnikov, A.V., Mann, M. and Kirschner, M.W. (2002). Mechanism of regulation of WAVE1-induced actin nucleation by Rac1 and Nck. Nature *6899*, 790-793.

Egeblad, M. and Werb, Z. (2002). New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer *3*, 161-174.

Eichholtz, T., Jalink, K., Fahrenfort, I. and Moolenaar, W.H. (1993). The bioactive phospholipid lysophosphatidic acid is released from activated platelets. Biochem. J. 677-680.

Enserink, J.M., Price, L.S., Methi, T., Mahic, M., Sonnenberg, A., Bos, J.L. and Tasken, K. (2004). The cAMP-Epac-Rap1 pathway regulates cell spreading and cell adhesion to laminin-5 through the alpha3beta1 integrin but not the alpha6beta4 integrin. J. Biol. Chem. *43*, 44889-44896.

Erickson, J.R., Hasegawa, Y., Fang, X., Eder, A., Mao, M., Furui, T., Aoki, J., Morris, A. and Mills, G.B. (2001). Lysophosphatidic acid and ovarian cancer: a paradigm for tumorogenesis and patient management. Prostaglandins *1-4*, 63-81.

Fang, X., Gaudette, D., Furui, T., Mao, M., Estrella, V., Eder, A., Pustilnik, T., Sasagawa, T., Lapushin, R., Yu, S. *et al*. (2000). Lysophospholipid growth factors in the initiation, progression, metastases, and management of ovarian cancer. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 188-208.

Ferry, G., Tellier, E., Try, A., Gres, S., Naime, I., Simon, M.F., Rodriguez, M., Boucher, J., Tack, I., Gesta, S. *et al*. (2003). Autotaxin is released from adipocytes, catalyzes

lysophosphatidic acid synthesis, and activates preadipocyte proliferation. Up-regulated expression with adipocyte differentiation and obesity. J. Biol. Chem. 20, 18162-18169.

Fox, M.A., Alexander, J.K., Afshari, F.S., Colello, R.J. and Fuss, B. (2004). Phosphodiesterase-I alpha/autotaxin controls cytoskeletal organization and FAK phosphorylation during myelination. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 2, 140-150.

Fromm, C., Coso, O.A., Montaner, S., Xu, N. and Gutkind, J.S. (1997). The small GTPbinding protein Rho links G protein-coupled receptors and Galpha12 to the serum response element and to cellular transformation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *19*, 10098-10103.

Fujita, R., Kiguchi, N. and Ueda, H. (2007). LPA-mediated demyelination in ex vivo culture of dorsal root. Neurochem. Int. 2, 351-355.

Fujiwara, Y., Sebok, A., Meakin, S., Kobayashi, T., Murakami-Murofushi, K. and Tigyi, G. (2003). Cyclic phosphatidic acid elicits neurotrophin-like actions in embryonic hippocampal neurons. J. Neurochem. 5, 1272-1283.

Fukushima, N. (2004). LPA in neural cell development. J. Cell. Biochem. 5, 993-1003.

Fukushima, N., Kimura, Y. and Chun, J. (1998). A single receptor encoded by vzg-1/lpA1/ edg-2 couples to G proteins and mediates multiple cellular responses to lysophosphatidic acid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *11*, 6151-6156.

Fukushima, N., Weiner, J.A. and Chun, J. (2000). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) is a novel extracellular regulator of cortical neuroblast morphology. Dev. Biol. 1, 6-18.

Furui, T., LaPushin, R., Mao, M., Khan, H., Watt, S.R., Watt, M.A., Lu, Y., Fang, X., Tsutsui, S., Siddik, Z.H., Bast, R.C. and Mills, G.B. (1999). Overexpression of edg-2/vzg-1 induces apoptosis and anoikis in ovarian cancer cells in a lysophosphatidic acid-independent manner. Clin. Cancer Res. *12*, 4308-4318.

Gaetano, C.G., Samadi, N., Tomsig, J.L., Macdonald, T.L., Lynch, K.R. and Brindley, D.N. (2009). Inhibition of autotaxin production or activity blocks lysophosphatidylcholine-induced migration of human breast cancer and melanoma cells. Mol. Carcinog. *9*, 801-809.

Gaits, F., Fourcade, O., Le Balle, F., Gueguen, G., Gaige, B., Gassama-Diagne, A., Fauvel, J., Salles, J.P., Mauco, G., Simon, M.F. and Chap, H. (1997). Lysophosphatidic acid as a phospholipid mediator: pathways of synthesis. FEBS Lett. 1, 54-58.

Gaits, F., Li, R.Y., Bigay, J., Ragab, A., Ragab-Thomas, M.F. and Chap, H. (1996). Gprotein beta gamma subunits mediate specific phosphorylation of the protein-tyrosine phosphatase SH-PTP1 induced by lysophosphatidic acid. J. Biol. Chem. *33*, 20151-20155.

Gao, L., Feng, Y., Bowers, R., Becker-Hapak, M., Gardner, J., Council, L., Linette, G., Zhao, H. and Cornelius, L.A. (2006). Ras-associated protein-1 regulates extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation and migration in melanoma cells: two processes important to melanoma tumorigenesis and metastasis. Cancer Res. *16*, 7880-7888.

Garbi, M., Rubinstein, S., Lax, Y. and Breitbart, H. (2000). Activation of protein kinase calpha in the lysophosphatidic acid-induced bovine sperm acrosome reaction and phospholipase D1 regulation. Biol. Reprod. *5*, 1271-1277.

Gerrard, J.M. and Robinson, P. (1984). Lysophosphatidic acid can activate platelets without increasing 32P-labelling of phosphatidic acid. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *3*, 487-492.

Ghersi, G., Zhao, Q., Salamone, M., Yeh, Y., Zucker, S. and Chen, W.T. (2006). The protease complex consisting of dipeptidyl peptidase IV and seprase plays a role in the migration and invasion of human endothelial cells in collagenous matrices. Cancer Res. 9, 4652-4661.

Ghosh, S., Strum, J.C. and Bell, R.M. (1997). Lipid biochemistry: functions of glycerolipids and sphingolipids in cellular signaling. FASEB J. 1, 45-50.

Giganti, A., Rodriguez, M., Fould, B., Moulharat, N., Coge, F., Chomarat, P., Galizzi, J.P., Valet, P., Saulnier-Blache, J.S., Boutin, J.A. and Ferry, G. (2008). Murine and human autotaxin alpha, beta, and gamma isoforms: gene organization, tissue distribution, and biochemical characterization. J. Biol. Chem. *12*, 7776-7789.

Gijsbers, R., Aoki, J., Arai, H. and Bollen, M. (2003). The hydrolysis of lysophospholipids and nucleotides by autotaxin (NPP2) involves a single catalytic site. FEBS Lett. 1-3, 60-64.

Gimona, M. and Buccione, R. (2006). Adhesions that mediate invasion. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 11, 1875-1892.

Goetzl, E.J. and An, S. (1998). Diversity of cellular receptors and functions for the lysophospholipid growth factors lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine 1-phosphate. FASEB J. 15, 1589-1598.

Goley, E.D., Rodenbusch, S.E., Martin, A.C. and Welch, M.D. (2004). Critical conformational changes in the Arp2/3 complex are induced by nucleotide and nucleation promoting factor. Mol. Cell 2, 269-279.

Goley, E.D. and Welch, M.D. (2006). The ARP2/3 complex: an actin nucleator comes of age. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 713-726.

Guo, R., Kasbohm, E.A., Arora, P., Sample, C.J., Baban, B., Sud, N., Sivashanmugam, P., Moniri, N.H. and Daaka, Y. (2006). Expression and function of lysophosphatidic acid LPA1 receptor in prostate cancer cells. Endocrinology *10*, 4883-4892.

Hall, A. (2005). Rho GTPases and the control of cell behaviour. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 891-895.

Hama, K., Aoki, J., Fukaya, M., Kishi, Y., Sakai, T., Suzuki, R., Ohta, H., Yamori, T., Watanabe, M., Chun, J. and Arai, H. (2004). Lysophosphatidic acid and autotaxin stimulate cell motility of neoplastic and non-neoplastic cells through LPA1. J. Biol. Chem. *17*, 17634-17639.

Hama, K., Aoki, J., Inoue, A., Endo, T., Amano, T., Motoki, R., Kanai, M., Ye, X., Chun, J., Matsuki, N. *et al* . (2007). Embryo spacing and implantation timing are differentially regulated by LPA3-mediated lysophosphatidic acid signaling in mice. Biol. Reprod. *6*, 954-959.

Hama, K., Bandoh, K., Kakehi, Y., Aoki, J. and Arai, H. (2002). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptors are activated differentially by biological fluids: possible role of LPAbinding proteins in activation of LPA receptors. FEBS Lett. *1-3*, 187-192.

Hammack, B.N., Fung, K.Y., Hunsucker, S.W., Duncan, M.W., Burgoon, M.P., Owens, G.P. and Gilden, D.H. (2004). Proteomic analysis of multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid. Mult. Scler. *3*, 245-260.

Hecht, J.H., Weiner, J.A., Post, S.R. and Chun, J. (1996). Ventricular zone gene-1 (vzg-1) encodes a lysophosphatidic acid receptor expressed in neurogenic regions of the developing cerebral cortex. J. Cell Biol. *4*, 1071-1083.

Herzog, H., Darby, K., Hort, Y.J. and Shine, J. (1996). Intron 17 of the human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene encodes an actively transcribed G protein-coupled receptor gene. Genome Res. 9, 858-861.

Hill, C.S. and Treisman, R. (1995). Differential activation of c-fos promoter elements by serum, lysophosphatidic acid, G proteins and polypeptide growth factors. EMBO J. 20, 5037-5047.

Hla, T. and Maciag, T. (1990). An abundant transcript induced in differentiating human endothelial cells encodes a polypeptide with structural similarities to G-protein-coupled receptors. J. Biol. Chem. *16*, 9308-9313.

Holmbeck, K., Bianco, P., Yamada, S. and Birkedal-Hansen, H. (2004). MT1-MMP: a tethered collagenase. J. Cell. Physiol. 1, 11-19.

Hooks, S.B., Santos, W.L., Im, D.S., Heise, C.E., Macdonald, T.L. and Lynch, K.R. (2001). Lysophosphatidic acid-induced mitogenesis is regulated by lipid phosphate phosphatases and is Edg-receptor independent. J. Biol. Chem. 7, 4611-4621.

Hope, J.M., Wang, F.Q., Whyte, J.S., Ariztia, E.V., Abdalla, W., Long, K. and Fishman, D.A. (2009). LPA receptor 2 mediates LPA-induced endometrial cancer invasion. Gynecol. Oncol. 1, 215-223.

Horak, C.E., Lee, J.H., Elkahloun, A.G., Boissan, M., Dumont, S., Maga, T.K., Arnaud-Dabernat, S., Palmieri, D., Stetler-Stevenson, W.G., Lacombe, M.L., Meltzer, P.S. and Steeg, P.S. (2007). Nm23-H1 suppresses tumor cell motility by down-regulating the lysophosphatidic acid receptor EDG2. Cancer Res. *15*, 7238-7246.

Hosogaya, S., Yatomi, Y., Nakamura, K., Ohkawa, R., Okubo, S., Yokota, H., Ohta, M., Yamazaki, H., Koike, T. and Ozaki, Y. (2008). Measurement of plasma lysophosphatidic acid concentration in healthy subjects: strong correlation with lysophospholipase D activity. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 364-368.

Huovila, A.P., Turner, A.J., Pelto-Huikko, M., Karkkainen, I. and Ortiz, R.M. (2005). Shedding light on ADAM metalloproteinases. Trends Biochem. Sci. 7, 413-422.

Im, D.S., Heise, C.E., Harding, M.A., George, S.R., O'Dowd, B.F., Theodorescu, D. and Lynch, K.R. (2000). Molecular cloning and characterization of a lysophosphatidic acid receptor, Edg-7, expressed in prostate. Mol. Pharmacol. *4*, 753-759.

Imamura, F., Horai, T., Mukai, M., Shinkai, K., Sawada, M. and Akedo, H. (1993). Induction of in vitro tumor cell invasion of cellular monolayers by lysophosphatidic acid or phospholipase D. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2, 497-503.

Innocenti, M., Gerboth, S., Rottner, K., Lai, F.P., Hertzog, M., Stradal, T.E., Frittoli, E., Didry, D., Polo, S., Disanza, A. *et al*. (2005). Abi1 regulates the activity of N-WASP and WAVE in distinct actin-based processes. Nat. Cell Biol. *10*, 969-976.

Inoue, M., Ma, L., Aoki, J., Chun, J. and Ueda, H. (2008a). Autotaxin, a synthetic enzyme of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), mediates the induction of nerve-injured neuropathic pain. Mol Pain 4, 6.

Inoue, M., Xie, W., Matsushita, Y., Chun, J., Aoki, J. and Ueda, H. (2008b). Lysophosphatidylcholine induces neuropathic pain through an action of autotaxin to generate lysophosphatidic acid. Neuroscience 2, 296-298.

Ishii, I., Contos, J.J., Fukushima, N. and Chun, J. (2000). Functional comparisons of the lysophosphatidic acid receptors, LP(A1)/VZG-1/EDG-2, LP(A2)/EDG-4, and LP(A3)/EDG-7 in neuronal cell lines using a retrovirus expression system. Mol. Pharmacol. *5*, 895-902.

Ishii, S., Noguchi, K. and Yanagida, K. (2009). Non-Edg family lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptors. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat. *3-4*, 57-65.

Iwasaki, T., Chen, J.D., Kim, J.P., Wynn, K.C. and Woodley, D.T. (1994). Dibutyryl cyclic AMP modulates keratinocyte migration without alteration of integrin expression. J. Invest. Dermatol. *6*, 891-897.

Jacobson, K., Mouritsen, O.G. and Anderson, R.G. (2007). Lipid rafts: at a crossroad between cell biology and physics. Nat. Cell Biol. 1, 7-14.

Jaiswal, B.S. and Conti, M. (2003). Calcium regulation of the soluble adenylyl cyclase expressed in mammalian spermatozoa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 19, 10676-10681.

Jansen, S., Andries, M., Derua, R., Waelkens, E. and Bollen, M. (2009). Domain interplay mediated by an essential disulfide linkage is critical for the activity and secretion of the metastasis-promoting enzyme autotaxin. J. Biol. Chem. 21, 14296-14302.

Jansen, S., Callewaert, N., Dewerte, I., Andries, M., Ceulemans, H. and Bollen, M. (2007). An essential oligomannosidic glycan chain in the catalytic domain of autotaxin, a secreted lysophospholipase-D. J. Biol. Chem. 15, 11084-11091.

Jansen, S., Stefan, C., Creemers, J.W., Waelkens, E., Van Eynde, A., Stalmans, W. and Bollen, M. (2005). Proteolytic maturation and activation of autotaxin (NPP2), a secreted metastasis-enhancing lysophospholipase D. J. Cell. Sci. 3081-3089.

Jarnaess, E. and Tasken, K. (2007). Spatiotemporal control of cAMP signalling processes by anchored signalling complexes. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 931-937.

Jeong, K.J., Park, S.Y., Seo, J.H., Lee, K.B., Choi, W.S., Han, J.W., Kang, J.K., Park, C.G., Kim, Y.K. and Lee, H.Y. (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid receptor 2 and Gi/Src

pathway mediate cell motility through cyclooxygenase 2 expression in CAOV-3 ovarian cancer cells. Exp. Mol. Med. *6*, 607-616.

Jesus, L.D., Stope, M.B., Oude Weernink, P.A., Mahlke, Y., Borgermann, C., Ananaba, V.N., Rimmbach, C., Rosskopf, D., Michel, M.C., Jakobs, K.H. and Schmidt, M. (2006). Cyclic AMP-dependent and Epac-mediated activation of R-Ras by G protein-coupled receptors leads to phospholipase D stimulation. J. Biol. Chem. *31*, 21837-21847.

Kanda, H., Newton, R., Klein, R., Morita, Y., Gunn, M.D. and Rosen, S.D. (2008). Autotaxin, an ectoenzyme that produces lysophosphatidic acid, promotes the entry of lymphocytes into secondary lymphoid organs. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 415-423.

Kawasaki, H., Springett, G.M., Mochizuki, N., Toki, S., Nakaya, M., Matsuda, M., Housman, D.E. and Graybiel, A.M. (1998). A family of cAMP-binding proteins that directly activate Rap1. Science 5397, 2275-2279.

Kehlen, A., Englert, N., Seifert, A., Klonisch, T., Dralle, H., Langner, J. and Hoang-Vu, C. (2004). Expression, regulation and function of autotaxin in thyroid carcinomas. Int. J. Cancer *6*, 833-838.

Kelly, T., Yan, Y., Osborne, R.L., Athota, A.B., Rozpal, T.L., Colclasure, J.C. and Chu, W.S. (1998). Proteolysis of extracellular matrix by invadopodia facilitates human breast cancer cell invasion and is mediated by matrix metalloproteinases. J. Exp. Metastasis *16*, 501-512.

Khurana, S., Tomar, A., George, S.P., Wang, Y., Siddiqui, M.R., Guo, H., Tigyi, G. and Mathew, S. (2008). Autotaxin and lysophosphatidic acid stimulate intestinal cell motility by redistribution of the actin modifying protein villin to the developing lamellipodia. Exp. Cell Res. *3*, 530-542.

Kilpinen, S., Autio, R., Ojala, K., Iljin, K., Bucher, E., Sara, H., Pisto, T., Saarela, M., Skotheim, R.I., Bjorkman, M. *et al*. (2008). Systematic bioinformatic analysis of expression levels of 17,330 human genes across 9,783 samples from 175 types of healthy and pathological tissues. Genome Biol. *9*, R139.

Kim, C., Cheng, C.Y., Saldanha, S.A. and Taylor, S.S. (2007). PKA-I holoenzyme structure reveals a mechanism for cAMP-dependent activation. Cell *6*, 1032-1043.

Kindzelskii, A.L., Amhad, I., Keller, D., Zhou, M.J., Haugland, R.P., Garni-Wagner, B.A., Gyetko, M.R., Todd, R.F., 3rd and Petty, H.R. (2004). Pericellular proteolysis by leukocytes and tumor cells on substrates: focal activation and the role of urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Histochem. Cell Biol. *4*, 299-310.

Kingsbury, M.A., Rehen, S.K., Contos, J.J., Higgins, C.M. and Chun, J. (2003). Non-proliferative effects of lysophosphatidic acid enhance cortical growth and folding. Nat. Neurosci. *12*, 1292-1299.

Kishi, Y., Okudaira, S., Tanaka, M., Hama, K., Shida, D., Kitayama, J., Yamori, T., Aoki, J., Fujimaki, T. and Arai, H. (2006). Autotaxin is overexpressed in glioblastoma multiforme and contributes to cell motility of glioblastoma by converting lysophosphatidylcholine to lysophosphatidic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 25, 17492-17500.

Kishimoto, T., Matsuoka, T., Imamura, S. and Mizuno, K. (2003). A novel colorimetric assay for the determination of lysophosphatidic acid in plasma using an enzymatic cycling method. Clin. Chim. Acta 1, 59-67.

Kitayama, H., Sugimoto, Y., Matsuzaki, T., Ikawa, Y. and Noda, M. (1989). A ras-related gene with transformation suppressor activity. Cell 1, 77-84.

Kitayama, J., Shida, D., Sako, A., Ishikawa, M., Hama, K., Aoki, J., Arai, H. and Nagawa, H. (2004). Over-expression of lysophosphatidic acid receptor-2 in human invasive ductal carcinoma. Breast Cancer Res. *6*, R640-646.

Koike, S., Keino-Masu, K., Ohto, T. and Masu, M. (2006). The N-terminal hydrophobic sequence of autotaxin (ENPP2) functions as a signal peptide. Genes Cells 2, 133-142.

Kometani, K., Ishida, D., Hattori, M. and Minato, N. (2004). Rap1 and SPA-1 in hematologic malignancy. Trends Mol. Med. *8*, 401-408.

Kotarsky, K., Boketoft, A., Bristulf, J., Nilsson, N.E., Norberg, A., Hansson, S., Owman, C., Sillard, R., Leeb-Lundberg, L.M. and Olde, B. (2006). Lysophosphatidic acid binds to and activates GPR92, a G protein-coupled receptor highly expressed in gastrointestinal lymphocytes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. *2*, 619-628.

Kruchten, A.E. and McNiven, M.A. (2006). Dynamin as a mover and pincher during cell migration and invasion. J. Cell. Sci. 1683-1690.

Kurisu, S., Suetsugu, S., Yamazaki, D., Yamaguchi, H. and Takenawa, T. (2005). Rac-WAVE2 signaling is involved in the invasive and metastatic phenotypes of murine melanoma cells. Oncogene *8*, 1309-1319.

Kurosu, H., Maehama, T., Okada, T., Yamamoto, T., Hoshino, S., Fukui, Y., Ui, M., Hazeki, O. and Katada, T. (1997). Heterodimeric phosphoinositide 3-kinase consisting of p85 and p110beta is synergistically activated by the betagamma subunits of G proteins and phosphotyrosyl peptide. J. Biol. Chem. *39*, 24252-24256.

Lee, C., Lee, J., Choi, Y.A., Kang, S.S. and Baek, S.H. (2006). cAMP elevating agents suppress secretory phospholipase A(2)-induced matrix metalloproteinase-2 activation. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *4*, 1278-1283.

Lee, C.W., Rivera, R., Dubin, A.E. and Chun, J. (2007). LPA(4)/GPR23 is a lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptor utilizing G(s)-, G(q)/G(i)-mediated calcium signaling and G(12/13)-mediated Rho activation. J. Biol. Chem. 7, 4310-4317.

Lee, C.W., Rivera, R., Gardell, S., Dubin, A.E. and Chun, J. (2006). GPR92 as a new G12/13- and Gq-coupled lysophosphatidic acid receptor that increases cAMP, LPA5. J. Biol. Chem. *33*, 23589-23597.

Lee, H.Y., Murata, J., Clair, T., Polymeropoulos, M.H., Torres, R., Manrow, R.E., Liotta, L.A. and Stracke, M.L. (1996). Cloning, chromosomal localization, and tissue expression of autotaxin from human teratocarcinoma cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *3*, 714-719.

Lee, J., Duk Jung, I., Gyo Park, C., Han, J.W. and Young Lee, H. (2006). Autotaxin stimulates urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression through phosphoinositide 3-kinase-Akt-nuclear [corrected] factor kappa B signaling cascade in human melanoma cells. Melanoma Res. *5*, 445-452.

Lee, M., Choi, S., Hallden, G., Yo, S.J., Schichnes, D. and Aponte, G.W. (2009). P2Y5 is a G{alpha}i, G{alpha}12/13 G Protein Coupled Receptor Activated by Lysophosphatidic Acid that Reduces Intestinal Cell Adhesion. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 297, 641-654.

Lee, Z., Cheng, C.T., Zhang, H., Subler, M.A., Wu, J., Mukherjee, A., Windle, J.J., Chen, C.K. and Fang, X. (2008). Role of LPA4/p2y9/GPR23 in negative regulation of cell motility. Mol. Biol. Cell *12*, 5435-5445.

Li, H., Ye, X., Mahanivong, C., Bian, D., Chun, J. and Huang, S. (2005). Signaling mechanisms responsible for lysophosphatidic acid-induced urokinase plasminogen activator expression in ovarian cancer cells. J. Biol. Chem. *11*, 10564-10571.

Li, S. and Zhang, J. (2009). Lipopolysaccharide induces autotaxin expression in human monocytic THP-1 cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2, 264-268.

Li, Y., Tondravi, M., Liu, J., Smith, E., Haudenschild, C.C., Kaczmarek, M. and Zhan, X. (2001). Cortactin potentiates bone metastasis of breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. *18*, 6906-6911.

Lijnen, H.R. (2001). Plasmin and matrix metalloproteinases in vascular remodeling. Thromb. Haemost. 1, 324-333.

Liu, S., Umezu-Goto, M., Murph, M., Lu, Y., Liu, W., Zhang, F., Yu, S., Stephens, L.C., Cui, X., Murrow, G. *et al*. (2009). Expression of autotaxin and lysophosphatidic acid receptors increases mammary tumorigenesis, invasion, and metastases. Cancer Cell *6*, 539-550.

Liu, Y.B., Kharode, Y., Bodine, P.V., Yaworsky, P.J., Robinson, J.A. and Billiard, J. (2010). LPA induces osteoblast differentiation through interplay of two receptors: LPA1 and LPA4. J. Cell. Biochem. *4*, 794-800.

Lorenowicz, M.J., Fernandez-Borja, M., Kooistra, M.R., Bos, J.L. and Hordijk, P.L. (2008). PKA and Epac1 regulate endothelial integrity and migration through parallel and independent pathways. Eur. J. Cell Biol. *10*, 779-792.

Lorenzi, R., Brickell, P.M., Katz, D.R., Kinnon, C. and Thrasher, A.J. (2000). Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein is necessary for efficient IgG-mediated phagocytosis. Blood 9, 2943-2946.

Lua, B.L. and Low, B.C. (2005). Cortactin phosphorylation as a switch for actin cytoskeletal network and cell dynamics control. FEBS Lett. *3*, 577-585.

Maier, U., Babich, A. and Nurnberg, B. (1999). Roles of non-catalytic subunits in gbetagamma-induced activation of class I phosphoinositide 3-kinase isoforms beta and gamma. J. Biol. Chem. 41, 29311-29317.

Masana, M.I., Brown, R.C., Pu, H., Gurney, M.E. and Dubocovich, M.L. (1995). Cloning and characterization of a new member of the G-protein coupled receptor EDG family. Recept. Channels *4*, 255-262.

Matozaki, T., Nakanishi, H. and Takai, Y. (2000). Small G-protein networks: their crosstalk and signal cascades. Cell. Signal. 8, 515-524.

Mayor, S. and Rao, M. (2004). Rafts: scale-dependent, active lipid organization at the cell surface. Traffic 4, 231-240.

McCawley, L.J., Li, S., Benavidez, M., Halbleib, J., Wattenberg, E.V. and Hudson, L.G. (2000). Elevation of intracellular cAMP inhibits growth factor-mediated matrix metalloproteinase-9 induction and keratinocyte migration. Mol. Pharmacol. *1*, 145-151.

Meyer zu Heringdorf, D. and Jakobs, K.H. (2007). Lysophospholipid receptors: signalling, pharmacology and regulation by lysophospholipid metabolism. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 4, 923-940.

Miki, H., Sasaki, T., Takai, Y. and Takenawa, T. (1998). Induction of filopodium formation by a WASP-related actin-depolymerizing protein N-WASP. Nature *391*, 93-96.

Millard, T.H., Sharp, S.J. and Machesky, L.M. (2004). Signalling to actin assembly via the WASP (Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein)-family proteins and the Arp2/3 complex. Biochem. J. 1-17.

Mills, G.B. and Moolenaar, W.H. (2003). The emerging role of lysophosphatidic acid in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 8, 582-591.

Monsky, W.L., Lin, C.Y., Aoyama, A., Kelly, T., Akiyama, S.K., Mueller, S.C. and Chen, W.T. (1994). A potential marker protease of invasiveness, seprase, is localized on invadopodia of human malignant melanoma cells. Cancer Res. *21*, 5702-5710.

Moolenaar, W.H. (2002). Lysophospholipids in the limelight: autotaxin takes center stage. J. Cell Biol. 2, 197-199.

Moolenaar, W.H., van Meeteren, L.A. and Giepmans, B.N. (2004). The ins and outs of lysophosphatidic acid signaling. Bioessays *8*, 870-881.

Mori, K., Kitayama, J., Aoki, J., Kishi, Y., Shida, D., Yamashita, H., Arai, H. and Nagawa, H. (2007). Submucosal connective tissue-type mast cells contribute to the production of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) in the gastrointestinal tract through the secretion of autotaxin (ATX)/lysophospholipase D (lysoPLD). Virchows Arch. *1*, 47-56.

Mueller, S.C. and Chen, W.T. (1991). Cellular invasion into matrix beads: localization of beta 1 integrins and fibronectin to the invadopodia. J. Cell. Sci. *Pt 2*, 213-225.

Mueller, S.C., Ghersi, G., Akiyama, S.K., Sang, Q.X., Howard, L., Pineiro-Sanchez, M., Nakahara, H., Yeh, Y. and Chen, W.T. (1999). A novel protease-docking function of integrin at invadopodia. J. Biol. Chem. *35*, 24947-24952.

Mueller, S.C., Yeh, Y. and Chen, W.T. (1992). Tyrosine phosphorylation of membrane proteins mediates cellular invasion by transformed cells. J. Cell Biol. 5, 1309-1325.

Mullins, R.D., Heuser, J.A. and Pollard, T.D. (1998). The interaction of Arp2/3 complex with actin: nucleation, high affinity pointed end capping, and formation of branching networks of filaments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *11*, 6181-6186.

Murata, J., Lee, H.Y., Clair, T., Krutzsch, H.C., Arestad, A.A., Sobel, M.E., Liotta, L.A. and Stracke, M.L. (1994). cDNA cloning of the human tumor motility-stimulating protein, autotaxin, reveals a homology with phosphodiesterases. J. Biol. Chem. *48*, 30479-30484.

Murph, M. and Mills, G.B. (2007). Targeting the lipids LPA and S1P and their signalling pathways to inhibit tumour progression. Expert Rev. Mol. Med. 28, 1-18.

Nabeshima, K., Shimao, Y., Inoue, T. and Koono, M. (2002). Immunohistochemical analysis of IQGAP1 expression in human colorectal carcinomas: its overexpression in carcinomas and association with invasion fronts. Cancer Lett. *1*, 101-109.

Nakahara, H. (1998). [Molecular mechanism of invadopodia formation]. Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso *5*, 669-675.

Nakahara, H., Howard, L., Thompson, E.W., Sato, H., Seiki, M., Yeh, Y. and Chen, W.T. (1997). Transmembrane/cytoplasmic domain-mediated membrane type 1-matrix metalloprotease docking to invadopodia is required for cell invasion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *15*, 7959-7964.

Nakahara, H., Mueller, S.C., Nomizu, M., Yamada, Y., Yeh, Y. and Chen, W.T. (1998). Activation of beta1 integrin signaling stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of p190RhoGAP and membrane-protrusive activities at invadopodia. J. Biol. Chem. 1, 9-12.

Nakahara, H., Nomizu, M., Akiyama, S.K., Yamada, Y., Yeh, Y. and Chen, W.T. (1996). A mechanism for regulation of melanoma invasion. Ligation of alpha6beta1 integrin by laminin G peptides. J. Biol. Chem. 44, 27221-27224.

Nakahara, H., Otani, T., Sasaki, T., Miura, Y., Takai, Y. and Kogo, M. (2003). Involvement of Cdc42 and Rac small G proteins in invadopodia formation of RPMI7951 cells. Genes Cells *12*, 1019-1027.

Nam, S.W., Clair, T., Campo, C.K., Lee, H.Y., Liotta, L.A. and Stracke, M.L. (2000). Autotaxin (ATX), a potent tumor motogen, augments invasive and metastatic potential of ras-transformed cells. Oncogene 2, 241-247.

Nam, S.W., Clair, T., Kim, Y.S., McMarlin, A., Schiffmann, E., Liotta, L.A. and Stracke, M.L. (2001). Autotaxin (NPP-2), a metastasis-enhancing motogen, is an angiogenic factor. Cancer Res. *18*, 6938-6944.

Noguchi, K., Herr, D., Mutoh, T. and Chun, J. (2009). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and its receptors. Curr Opin Pharmacol 1, 15-23.

Noguchi, K., Ishii, S. and Shimizu, T. (2003). Identification of p2y9/GPR23 as a novel G protein-coupled receptor for lysophosphatidic acid, structurally distant from the Edg family. J. Biol. Chem. 28, 25600-25606.

O'Connor, K.M., Shaw, L.M. and Mercurio, A.M. (1998). Release of cAMP gating by the alpha6beta4 integrin stimulates lamellae formation and the chemotactic migration of invasive carcinoma cells. J. Cell Biol. *143*, 1749-1760.

Oh, D.Y., Yoon, J.M., Moon, M.J., Hwang, J.I., Choe, H., Lee, J.Y., Kim, J.I., Kim, S., Rhim, H., O'Dell, D.K. *et al*. (2008). Identification of farnesyl pyrophosphate and N-arachidonylglycine as endogenous ligands for GPR92. J. Biol. Chem. *30*, 21054-21064.

Oikawa, T., Itoh, T. and Takenawa, T. (2008). Sequential signals toward podosome formation in NIH-src cells. J. Cell Biol. 1, 157-169.

Otsubo, T., Iwaya, K., Mukai, Y., Mizokami, Y., Serizawa, H., Matsuoka, T. and Mukai, K. (2004). Involvement of Arp2/3 complex in the process of colorectal carcinogenesis. Mod. Pathol. *4*, 461-467.

Paavilainen, V.O., Bertling, E., Falck, S. and Lappalainen, P. (2004). Regulation of cytoskeletal dynamics by actin-monomer-binding proteins. Trends Cell Biol. 7, 386-394. Pages, C., Simon, M., Valet, P. and Saulnier-Blache, J.S. (2001). Lysophosphatidic acid synthesis and release(1). Prostaglandins *1-4*, 1-10.

Pasternack, S.M., von Kugelgen, I., Aboud, K.A., Lee, Y.A., Ruschendorf, F., Voss, K., Hillmer, A.M., Molderings, G.J., Franz, T., Ramirez, A. *et al*. (2008). G protein-coupled receptor P2Y5 and its ligand LPA are involved in maintenance of human hair growth. Nat. Genet. *3*, 329-334.

Patel, H.H. and Insel, P.A. (2009). Lipid rafts and caveolae and their role in compartmentation of redox signaling. Antioxid. Redox Signal. *6*, 1357-1372.

Pebay, A., Bonder, C.S. and Pitson, S.M. (2007). Stem cell regulation by lysophospholipids. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat. *3-4*, 83-97.

Pollard, T.D. and Borisy, G.G. (2003). Cellular motility driven by assembly and disassembly of actin filaments. Cell 4, 453-465.

Ponsioen, B., Gloerich, M., Ritsma, L., Rehmann, H., Bos, J.L. and Jalink, K. (2009). Direct spatial control of Epac1 by cyclic AMP. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10, 2521-2531.

Redondo-Munoz, J., Escobar-Diaz, E., Samaniego, R., Terol, M.J., Garcia-Marco, J.A. and Garcia-Pardo, A. (2006). MMP-9 in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia is up-

regulated by alpha4beta1 integrin or CXCR4 engagement via distinct signaling pathways, localizes to podosomes, and is involved in cell invasion and migration. Blood 9, 3143-3151.

Rhee, H.J., Nam, J.S., Sun, Y., Kim, M.J., Choi, H.K., Han, D.H., Kim, N.H. and Huh, S.O. (2006). Lysophosphatidic acid stimulates cAMP accumulation and cAMP response element-binding protein phosphorylation in immortalized hippocampal progenitor cells. Neuroreport *5*, 523-526.

Robison, G.A., Butcher, R.W. and Sutherland, E.W. (1968). Cyclic AMP. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 37, 149-174.

Roscioni, S.S., Elzinga, C.R. and Schmidt, M. (2008). Epac: effectors and biological functions. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 4-6, 345-357.

Rossman, K.L., Der, C.J. and Sondek, J. (2005). GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2, 167-180.

Sankaran, B., Osterhout, J., Wu, D. and Smrcka, A.V. (1998). Identification of a structural element in phospholipase C beta2 that interacts with G protein betagamma subunits. J. Biol. Chem. *12*, 7148-7154.

Santos, A.N., Riemann, D., Kehlen, A., Thiele, K. and Langner, J. (1996). Treatment of fibroblast-like synoviocytes with IFN-gamma results in the down-regulation of autotaxin mRNA. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2, 419-424.

Sastry, K.S., Karpova, Y., Prokopovich, S., Smith, A.J., Essau, B., Gersappe, A., Carson, J.P., Weber, M.J., Register, T.C., Chen, Y.Q., Penn, R.B. and Kulik, G. (2007). Epinephrine protects cancer cells from apoptosis via activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase and BAD phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. *19*, 14094-14100.

Sato, K., Malchinkhuu, E., Muraki, T., Ishikawa, K., Hayashi, K., Tosaka, M., Mochiduki, A., Inoue, K., Tomura, H., Mogi, C. *et al*. (2005). Identification of autotaxin as a neurite retraction-inducing factor of PC12 cells in cerebrospinal fluid and its possible sources. J. Neurochem. *4*, 904-914.

Schertler, G.F. and Hargrave, P.A. (2000). Preparation and analysis of two-dimensional crystals of rhodopsin. Meth. Enzymol. 91-107.

Schmitt, M., Janicke, F., Moniwa, N., Chucholowski, N., Pache, L. and Graeff, H. (1992). Tumor-associated urokinase-type plasminogen activator: biological and clinical significance. Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler 7, 611-622. Schuuring, E. (1995). The involvement of the chromosome 11q13 region in human malignancies: cyclin D1 and EMS1 are two new candidate oncogenes--a review. Gene 1, 83-96.

Scott, J.D. and McCartney, S. (1994). Localization of A-kinase through anchoring proteins. Mol. Endocrinol. *1*, 5-11.

Seals, D.F., Azucena, E.F., Jr., Pass, I., Tesfay, L., Gordon, R., Woodrow, M., Resau, J.H. and Courtneidge, S.A. (2005). The adaptor protein Tks5/Fish is required for podosome formation and function, and for the protease-driven invasion of cancer cells. Cancer Cell 2, 155-165.

Seiffert, D., Ciambrone, G., Wagner, N.V., Binder, B.R. and Loskutoff, D.J. (1994). The somatomedin B domain of vitronectin. Structural requirements for the binding and stabilization of active type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor. J. Biol. Chem. *4*, 2659-2666.

Seiffert, D. and Loskutoff, D.J. (1991). Evidence that type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor binds to the somatomedin B domain of vitronectin. J. Biol. Chem. 5, 2824-2830.

Semba, S., Iwaya, K., Matsubayashi, J., Serizawa, H., Kataba, H., Hirano, T., Kato, H., Matsuoka, T. and Mukai, K. (2006). Coexpression of actin-related protein 2 and Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome family verproline-homologous protein 2 in adenocarcinoma of the lung. Clin. Cancer Res. *8*, 2449-2454.

Shi, G.X., Rehmann, H. and Andres, D.A. (2006). A novel cyclic AMP-dependent Epac-Rit signaling pathway contributes to PACAP38-mediated neuronal differentiation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 9136-9147.

Shida, D., Kitayama, J., Yamaguchi, H., Okaji, Y., Tsuno, N.H., Watanabe, T., Takuwa, Y. and Nagawa, H. (2003). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) enhances the metastatic potential of human colon carcinoma DLD1 cells through LPA1. Cancer Res. 7, 1706-1711.

Shimizu, T. (2009). Lipid mediators in health and disease: enzymes and receptors as therapeutic targets for the regulation of immunity and inflammation. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 123-150.

Shiokawa, S., Sakai, K., Akimoto, Y., Suzuki, N., Hanashi, H., Nagamatsu, S., Iwashita, M., Nakamura, Y., Hirano, H. and Yoshimura, Y. (2000). Function of the small guanosine triphosphate-binding protein RhoA in the process of implantation. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. *12*, 4742-4749.

Siess, W., Zangl, K.J., Essler, M., Bauer, M., Brandl, R., Corrinth, C., Bittman, R., Tigyi, G. and Aepfelbacher, M. (1999). Lysophosphatidic acid mediates the rapid activation of platelets and endothelial cells by mildly oxidized low density lipoprotein and accumulates in human atherosclerotic lesions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *12*, 6931-6936.

Simon, M.F., Chap, H. and Douste-Blazy, L. (1984). Platelet aggregating activity of lysophosphatidic acids is not related to their calcium ionophore properties. FEBS Lett. 1, 115-119.

Simon, M.F., Daviaud, D., Pradere, J.P., Gres, S., Guigne, C., Wabitsch, M., Chun, J., Valet, P. and Saulnier-Blache, J.S. (2005). Lysophosphatidic acid inhibits adipocyte differentiation via lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor-dependent down-regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma2. J. Biol. Chem. *15*, 14656-14662.

Simons, K. and Ikonen, E. (1997). Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 387, 569-572.

Simons, K. and Toomre, D. (2000). Lipid rafts and signal transduction. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1, 31-39.

Skiba, N.P. and Hamm, H.E. (1998). How Gsalpha activates adenylyl cyclase. Nat. Struct. Biol. 2, 88-92.

Smyth, S.S., Cheng, H.Y., Miriyala, S., Panchatcharam, M. and Morris, A.J. (2008). Roles of lysophosphatidic acid in cardiovascular physiology and disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 9, 563-570.

Song, J., Jie, C., Polk, P., Shridhar, R., Clair, T., Zhang, J., Yin, L. and Keppler, D. (2006). The candidate tumor suppressor CST6 alters the gene expression profile of human breast carcinoma cells: down-regulation of the potent mitogenic, motogenic, and angiogenic factor autotaxin. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *1*, 175-182.

Spohr, T.C., Choi, J.W., Gardell, S.E., Herr, D.R., Rehen, S.K., Gomes, F.C. and Chun, J. (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid receptor-dependent secondary effects via astrocytes promote neuronal differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. *12*, 7470-7479.

Stahl, A. and Mueller, B.M. (1995). The urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor, a GPI-linked protein, is localized in caveolae. J. Cell Biol. 2, 335-344.

Stam, J.C., Michiels, F., van der Kammen, R. A., Moolenaar, W.H. and Collard, J.G. (1998). Invasion of T-lymphoma cells: cooperation between Rho family GTPases and lysophospholipid receptor signaling. EMBO J. *14*, 4066-4074.

Stefan, C., Jansen, S. and Bollen, M. (2005). NPP-type ectophosphodiesterases: unity in diversity. Trends Biochem. Sci. 10, 542-550.

Stork, P.J. and Schmitt, J.M. (2002). Crosstalk between cAMP and MAP kinase signaling in the regulation of cell proliferation. Trends Cell Biol. *6*, 258-266.

Stoyanov, B., Volinia, S., Hanck, T., Rubio, I., Loubtchenkov, M., Malek, D., Stoyanova, S., Vanhaesebroeck, B., Dhand, R. and Nurnberg, B. (1995). Cloning and characterization of a G protein-activated human phosphoinositide-3 kinase. Science *5224*, 690-693.

Stracke, M.L., Clair, T. and Liotta, L.A. (1997). Autotaxin, tumor motility-stimulating exophosphodiesterase. Adv. Enzyme Regul. 135-144.

Stracke, M.L., Krutzsch, H.C., Unsworth, E.J., Arestad, A., Cioce, V., Schiffmann, E. and Liotta, L.A. (1992). Identification, purification, and partial sequence analysis of autotaxin, a novel motility-stimulating protein. J. Biol. Chem. *4*, 2524-2529.

Sugiura, T., Nakane, S., Kishimoto, S., Waku, K., Yoshioka, Y. and Tokumura, A. (2002). Lysophosphatidic acid, a growth factor-like lipid, in the saliva. J. Lipid Res. *12*, 2049-2055.

Sutphen, R., Xu, Y., Wilbanks, G.D., Fiorica, J., Grendys, E.C., Jr., LaPolla, J.P., Arango, H., Hoffman, M.S., Martino, M., Wakeley, K. *et al*. (2004). Lysophospholipids are potential biomarkers of ovarian cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. *7*, 1185-1191.

Szaszak, M., Christian, F., Rosenthal, W. and Klussmann, E. (2008). Compartmentalized cAMP signalling in regulated exocytic processes in non-neuronal cells. Cell. Signal. *4*, 590-601.

Taghavi, P., Verhoeven, E., Jacobs, J.J., Lambooij, J.P., Stortelers, C., Tanger, E., Moolenaar, W.H. and van Lohuizen, M. (2008). In vitro genetic screen identifies a cooperative role for LPA signaling and c-Myc in cell transformation. Oncogene *54*, 6806-6816.

Tague, S.E., Muralidharan, V. and D'Souza-Schorey, C. (2004). ADP-ribosylation factor 6 regulates tumor cell invasion through the activation of the MEK/ERK signaling pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *26*, 9671-9676.

Takuwa, Y., Takuwa, N. and Sugimoto, N. (2002). The Edg family G protein-coupled receptors for lysophospholipids: their signaling properties and biological activities. J Biochem *6*, 767-771.

Tanji, C., Yamamoto, H., Yorioka, N., Kohno, N., Kikuchi, K. and Kikuchi, A. (2002). Akinase anchoring protein AKAP220 binds to glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK-3beta) and mediates protein kinase A-dependent inhibition of GSK-3beta. J. Biol. Chem. 40, 36955-36961.

Tasken, K. and Aandahl, E.M. (2004). Localized effects of cAMP mediated by distinct routes of protein kinase A. Physiol. Rev. *1*, 137-167.

Thompson, E.W., Paik, S., Brunner, N., Sommers, C.L., Zugmaier, G., Clarke, R., Shima, T.B., Torri, J., Donahue, S. and Lippman, M.E. (1992). Association of increased basement membrane invasiveness with absence of estrogen receptor and expression of vimentin in human breast cancer cell lines. J. Cell. Physiol. *3*, 534-544.

Thomson, F.J., Perkins, L., Ahern, D. and Clark, M. (1994). Identification and characterization of a lysophosphatidic acid receptor. Mol. Pharmacol. 4, 718-723.

Tokumura, A., Fukuzawa, K., Akamatsu, Y., Yamada, S., Suzuki, T. and Tsukatani, H. (1978). Identification of vasopressor phospholipid in crude soybean lecithin. Lipids 7, 468-472.

Tokumura, A., Miyake, M., Nishioka, Y., Yamano, S., Aono, T. and Fukuzawa, K. (1999). Production of lysophosphatidic acids by lysophospholipase D in human follicular fluids of In vitro fertilization patients. Biol. Reprod. *1*, 195-199. Tokumura, A., Miyake, M., Yoshimoto, O., Shimizu, M. and Fukuzawa, K. (1998). Metalion stimulation and inhibition of lysophospholipase D which generates bioactive lysophosphatidic acid in rat plasma. Lipids *10*, 1009-1015.

Tokumura, A., Nishioka, Y., Yoshimoto, O., Shinomiya, J. and Fukuzawa, K. (1999). Substrate specificity of lysophospholipase D which produces bioactive lysophosphatidic acids in rat plasma. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2, 235-245.

Tsuda, S., Okudaira, S., Moriya-Ito, K., Shimamoto, C., Tanaka, M., Aoki, J., Arai, H., Murakami-Murofushi, K. and Kobayashi, T. (2006). Cyclic phosphatidic acid is produced by autotaxin in blood. J. Biol. Chem. *36*, 26081-26088.

Tsukamoto, N., Hattori, M., Yang, H., Bos, J.L. and Minato, N. (1999). Rap1 GTPaseactivating protein SPA-1 negatively regulates cell adhesion. J. Biol. Chem. 26, 18463-18469.

Tsuruda, T., Kato, J., Cao, Y.N., Hatakeyama, K., Masuyama, H., Imamura, T., Kitamura, K., Asada, Y. and Eto, T. (2004). Adrenomedullin induces matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in rat aortic adventitial fibroblasts. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *1*, 80-84.

Umemura, K., Yamashita, N., Yu, X., Arima, K., Asada, T., Makifuchi, T., Murayama, S., Saito, Y., Kanamaru, K., Goto, Y. *et al*. (2006). Autotaxin expression is enhanced in frontal cortex of Alzheimer-type dementia patients. Neurosci. Lett. *1-2*, 97-100.

Umezu-Goto, M., Kishi, Y., Taira, A., Hama, K., Dohmae, N., Takio, K., Yamori, T., Mills, G.B., Inoue, K., Aoki, J. and Arai, H. (2002). Autotaxin has lysophospholipase D activity leading to tumor cell growth and motility by lysophosphatidic acid production. J. Cell Biol. 2, 227-233.

Uruno, T., Liu, J., Zhang, P., Fan, Y., Egile, C., Li, R., Mueller, S.C. and Zhan, X. (2001). Activation of Arp2/3 complex-mediated actin polymerization by cortactin. Nat. Cell Biol. *3*, 259-266.

Valet, P., Pages, C., Jeanneton, O., Daviaud, D., Barbe, P., Record, M., Saulnier-Blache, J.S. and Lafontan, M. (1998). Alpha2-adrenergic receptor-mediated release of lysophosphatidic acid by adipocytes. A paracrine signal for preadipocyte growth. J. Clin. Invest. 7, 1431-1438.

van Corven, E.J., Groenink, A., Jalink, K., Eichholtz, T. and Moolenaar, W.H. (1989). Lysophosphatidate-induced cell proliferation: identification and dissection of signaling pathways mediated by G proteins. Cell 1, 45-54.

van der Bend, R. L., Brunner, J., Jalink, K., van Corven, E.J., Moolenaar, W.H. and van Blitterswijk, W.J. (1992). Identification of a putative membrane receptor for the bioactive phospholipid, lysophosphatidic acid. EMBO J. 7, 2495-2501.

van Hinsbergh, V.W., Engelse, M.A. and Quax, P.H. (2006). Pericellular proteases in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 4, 716-728.

van Meeteren, L.A., Ruurs, P., Christodoulou, E., Goding, J.W., Takakusa, H., Kikuchi, K., Perrakis, A., Nagano, T. and Moolenaar, W.H. (2005). Inhibition of autotaxin by lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine 1-phosphate. J. Biol. Chem. 22, 21155-21161.

van Meeteren, L.A., Ruurs, P., Stortelers, C., Bouwman, P., van Rooijen, M.A., Pradere, J.P., Pettit, T.R., Wakelam, M.J., Saulnier-Blache, J.S., Mummery, C.L., Moolenaar, W.H. and Jonkers, J. (2006). Autotaxin, a secreted lysophospholipase D, is essential for blood vessel formation during development. Mol. Cell. Biol. *13*, 5015-5022.

Vogt, W. (1963). Pharamacologically active acidic phospholipids and glycolipids. Biochem. Pharmacol. 415-420.

Wang, F.Q., Ariztia, E.V., Boyd, L.R., Horton, F.R., Smicun, Y., Hetherington, J.A., Smith, P.J. and Fishman, D.A. (2010). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) effects on

endometrial carcinoma in vitro proliferation, invasion, and matrix metalloproteinase activity. Gynecol. Oncol. 1, 88-95.

Wang, W., Eddy, R. and Condeelis, J. (2007). The cofilin pathway in breast cancer invasion and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer 6, 429-440.

Wang, Y., Okamoto, M., Schmitz, F., Hofmann, K. and Sudhof, T.C. (1997). Rim is a putative Rab3 effector in regulating synaptic-vesicle fusion. Nature *6642*, 593-598.

Watanabe, N., Ikeda, H., Nakamura, K., Ohkawa, R., Kume, Y., Aoki, J., Hama, K., Okudaira, S., Tanaka, M., Tomiya, T. *et al* . (2007). Both plasma lysophosphatidic acid and serum autotaxin levels are increased in chronic hepatitis C. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. *6*, 616-623.

Watterson, K.R., Lanning, D.A., Diegelmann, R.F. and Spiegel, S. (2007). Regulation of fibroblast functions by lysophospholipid mediators: potential roles in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. *5*, 607-616.

Watts, V.J. and Neve, K.A. (2005). Sensitization of adenylate cyclase by Galpha i/o-coupled receptors. Pharmacol. Ther. *3*, 405-421.

Weaver, A.M. (2006). Invadopodia: specialized cell structures for cancer invasion. Clin. Exp. Metastasis 2, 97-105.

Weaver, A.M., Karginov, A.V., Kinley, A.W., Weed, S.A., Li, Y., Parsons, J.T. and Cooper, J.A. (2001). Cortactin promotes and stabilizes Arp2/3-induced actin filament network formation. Curr. Biol. *5*, 370-374.

Wei, Q., St Clair, J.B., Fu, T., Stratton, P. and Nieman, L.K. (2009). Reduced expression of biomarkers associated with the implantation window in women with endometriosis. Fertil. Steril. 5, 1686-1691.

Weiner, J.A. and Chun, J. (1999). Schwann cell survival mediated by the signaling phospholipid lysophosphatidic acid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 9, 5233-5238.

Welch, M.D., Rosenblatt, J., Skoble, J., Portnoy, D.A. and Mitchison, T.J. (1998). Interaction of human Arp2/3 complex and the Listeria monocytogenes ActA protein in actin filament nucleation. Science 5373, 105-108.

Westermann, A.M., Havik, E., Postma, F.R., Beijnen, J.H., Dalesio, O., Moolenaar, W.H. and Rodenhuis, S. (1998). Malignant effusions contain lysophosphatidic acid (LPA)-like activity. Ann. Oncol. 4, 437-442.

Woclawek-Potocka, I., Kondraciuk, K. and Skarzynski, D.J. (2009). Lysophosphatidic acid stimulates prostaglandin E2 production in cultured stromal endometrial cells through LPA1 receptor. Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood) *8*, 986-993.

Wolf, K. and Friedl, P. (2009). Mapping proteolytic cancer cell-extracellular matrix interfaces. Clin. Exp. Metastasis *4*, 289-298.

Wong, W. and Scott, J.D. (2004). AKAP signalling complexes: focal points in space and time. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12, 959-970.

Woodhouse, E.C., Chuaqui, R.F. and Liotta, L.A. (1997). General mechanisms of metastasis. Cancer 8, 1529-1537.

Wu, H., Reynolds, A.B., Kanner, S.B., Vines, R.R. and Parsons, J.T. (1991). Identification and characterization of a novel cytoskeleton-associated pp60src substrate. Mol. Cell. Biol. *10*, 5113-5124.

Xie, Y. and Meier, K.E. (2004). Lysophospholipase D and its role in LPA production. Cell. Signal. 9, 975-981.

Xu, Y., Shen, Z., Wiper, D.W., Wu, M., Morton, R.E., Elson, P., Kennedy, A.W., Belinson, J., Markman, M. and Casey, G. (1998). Lysophosphatidic acid as a potential biomarker for ovarian and other gynecologic cancers. J. Amer. Med. Assoc. *8*, 719-723.

Yajnik, V., Paulding, C., Sordella, R., McClatchey, A.I., Saito, M., Wahrer, D.C., Reynolds, P., Bell, D.W., Lake, R., van den Heuvel, S., Settleman, J. and Haber, D.A. (2003). DOCK4, a GTPase activator, is disrupted during tumorigenesis. Cell 5, 673-684.

Yamada, T., Sato, K., Komachi, M., Malchinkhuu, E., Tobo, M., Kimura, T., Kuwabara, A., Yanagita, Y., Ikeya, T., Tanahashi, Y. *et al*. (2004). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) in malignant ascites stimulates motility of human pancreatic cancer cells through LPA1. J. Biol. Chem. *8*, 6595-6605.

Yamaguchi, H. and Condeelis, J. (2007). Regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in cancer cell migration and invasion. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 5, 642-652.

Yamaguchi, H., Lorenz, M., Kempiak, S., Sarmiento, C., Coniglio, S., Symons, M., Segall, J., Eddy, R., Miki, H., Takenawa, T. and Condeelis, J. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of invadopodium formation: the role of the N-WASP-Arp2/3 complex pathway and cofilin. J. Cell Biol. *3*, 441-452.

Yamaguchi, H., Pixley, F. and Condeelis, J. (2006). Invadopodia and podosomes in tumor invasion. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 3-4, 213-218.

Yamaguchi, H., Takeo, Y., Yoshida, S., Kouchi, Z., Nakamura, Y. and Fukami, K. (2009). Lipid rafts and caveolin-1 are required for invadopodia formation and extracellular matrix degradation by human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. *22*, 8594-8602.

Yamaguchi, H., Wyckoff, J. and Condeelis, J. (2005). Cell migration in tumors. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5, 559-564.

Yamashita, A., Kawagishi, N., Miyashita, T., Nagatsuka, T., Sugiura, T., Kume, K., Shimizu, T. and Waku, K. (2001). ATP-independent fatty acyl-coenzyme A synthesis from phospholipid: coenzyme A-dependent transacylation activity toward lysophosphatidic acid catalyzed by acyl-coenzyme A:lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase. J. Biol. Chem. 29, 26745-26752.

Yamashita, M., Homma, H., Inoue, K. and Nojima, S. (1983). The metabolism of platelet activating factor in platelets and plasma of various animals. J. Toxicol. Sci. *3*, 177-188. Yanagida, K., Ishii, S., Hamano, F., Noguchi, K. and Shimizu, T. (2007). LPA4/p2y9/ GPR23 mediates rho-dependent morphological changes in a rat neuronal cell line. J. Biol. Chem. *8*, 5814-5824.

Yanagida, K., Masago, K., Nakanishi, H., Kihara, Y., Hamano, F., Tajima, Y., Taguchi, R., Shimizu, T. and Ishii, S. (2009). Identification and characterization of a novel lysophosphatidic acid receptor, p2y5/LPA6. J. Biol. Chem. 26, 17731-17741.

Yang, S.Y., Lee, J., Park, C.G., Kim, S., Hong, S., Chung, H.C., Min, S.K., Han, J.W., Lee, H.W. and Lee, H.Y. (2002). Expression of autotaxin (NPP-2) is closely linked to invasiveness of breast cancer cells. Clin. Exp. Metastasis *7*, 603-608.

Yang, Y., Mou, L., Liu, N. and Tsao, M.S. (1999). Autotaxin expression in non-small-cell lung cancer. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 2, 216-222.

Ye, X. (2008). Lysophospholipid signaling in the function and pathology of the reproductive system. Hum. Reprod. Update 5, 519-536.

Ye, X., Hama, K., Contos, J.J., Anliker, B., Inoue, A., Skinner, M.K., Suzuki, H., Amano, T., Kennedy, G., Arai, H., Aoki, J. and Chun, J. (2005). LPA3-mediated lysophosphatidic acid signalling in embryo implantation and spacing. Nature 435, 104-108.

Yoon, M.J., Lee, H.J., Kim, J.H. and Kim, D.K. (2006). Extracellular ATP induces apoptotic signaling in human monocyte leukemic cells, HL-60 and F-36P. Arch. Pharm. Res. *11*, 1032-1041.
Yu, S., Murph, M.M., Lu, Y., Liu, S., Hall, H.S., Liu, J., Stephens, C., Fang, X. and Mills, G.B. (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid receptors determine tumorigenicity and aggressiveness of ovarian cancer cells. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 22, 1630-1642.

Yuelling, L.M. and Fuss, B. (2008). Autotaxin (ATX): a multi-functional and multimodular protein possessing enzymatic lysoPLD activity and matricellular properties. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 9, 525-530.

Yun, C.C., Sun, H., Wang, D., Rusovici, R., Castleberry, A., Hall, R.A. and Shim, H. (2005). LPA2 receptor mediates mitogenic signals in human colon cancer cells. Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 1, C2-11.

Zhang, H., Xu, X., Gajewiak, J., Tsukahara, R., Fujiwara, Y., Liu, J., Fells, J.I., Perygin, D., Parrill, A.L., Tigyi, G. and Prestwich, G.D. (2009). Dual activity lysophosphatidic acid receptor pan-antagonist/autotaxin inhibitor reduces breast cancer cell migration in vitro and causes tumor regression in vivo. Cancer Res. *13*, 5441-5449.

Zhang, L., Chenwei, L., Mahmood, R., van Golen, K., Greenson, J., Li, G., D'Silva, N.J., Li, X., Burant, C.F., Logsdon, C.D. and Simeone, D.M. (2006a). Identification of a putative tumor suppressor gene Rap1GAP in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res. 2, 898-906.

Zhang, L.H., Tian, B., Diao, L.R., Xiong, Y.Y., Tian, S.F., Zhang, B.H., Li, W.M., Ren, H., Li, Y. and Ji, J.F. (2006b). Dominant expression of 85-kDa form of cortactin in colorectal cancer. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 2, 113-120.

Zhao, C., Fernandes, M.J., Prestwich, G.D., Turgeon, M., Di Battista, J., Clair, T., Poubelle, P.E. and Bourgoin, S.G. (2008). Regulation of lysophosphatidic acid receptor expression and function in human synoviocytes: implications for rheumatoid arthritis? Mol. Pharmacol. 2, 587-600.

Ziecik, A.J., Waclawik, A. and Bogacki, M. (2008). Conceptus signals for establishment and maintenance of pregnancy in pigs - lipid signaling system. Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes 7, 443-449.

Zmuda-Trzebiatowska, E., Manganiello, V. and Degerman, E. (2007). Novel mechanisms of the regulation of protein kinase B in adipocytes; implications for protein kinase A, Epac, phosphodiesterases 3 and 4. Cell. Signal. *1*, 81-86.